

Infection Prevention and Control (IPC)

National Clinical Guideline No. 30

Annex A: Clinical and cost-effectiveness of healthcare-associated infection interventions: a systematic review







Clinical and cost-effectiveness of healthcare-associated infection interventions: a systematic review

July 2022













This research was funded by the Health Research Board HRB-CICER-2016-1871.

About HRB-CICER

In 2016, the Department of Health requested that the Health Research Board (HRB) fund an evidence synthesis service called HRB-CICER (Collaboration in Ireland for Clinical Effectiveness Reviews) to support the activities of the Ministerial appointed National Clinical Effectiveness Committee (NCEC). Following a competitive process, the Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA) was awarded the contract for the five-year period from 2017 to 2022. The HRB-CICER team comprises a dedicated multidisciplinary research team supported by staff from the Health Technology Assessment (HTA) team in HIQA and the HRB Centre for Primary Care Research at the Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland (RCSI), as well as national and international clinical and methodological experts.

With regard to clinical guidelines, the role of the HRB-CICER team is to independently review evidence and provide scientific support for the development, by guideline development groups, of National Clinical Guidelines for the NCEC. The HRB-CICER team undertakes systematic reviews of the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of interventions included in the guidelines as well as estimating the budget impact of implementing the guidelines. The HRB-CICER team also works closely with the guideline development groups; provides tailored training sessions; assists in the development of clinical questions and search strategies; performs systematic reviews of international clinical guidelines and supports the assessment of their suitability for adaption to Ireland; and supports the development of evidence-based recommendations informed by the evidence produced by HRB-CICER within the National Clinical Guidelines.

Membership of the evaluation team

Members of the HRB-CICER Evaluation Team were Barrie Tyner, Thomas Plunkett, Michelle O'Neill, Dr Barbara Clyne, Dr Laura Comber, Dr Kieran Walsh, Joan Quigley, Dr Karen Cardwell, Professor Susan M. Smith and Dr Máirín Ryan.

How to cite this report

Tyner B, Plunkett T, O'Neill M, Clyne B, Comber L, Walsh K, Quigley J, Cardwell K, Smith SM, Ryan M. Clinical and cost-effectiveness of healthcare-associated infection interventions: a systematic review. Cork: HRB-CICER, HIQA, 2021

Acknowledgements

The Health Research Board-Collaboration in Ireland for Clinical Effectiveness Reviews (HRB-CICER) would like to thank all of the individuals and organisations who provided their time, advice and information in supporting the development of this report.

Table of Contents

About HRB-CICER		
Acknowledgements		
Table of Contents4		
List of Tables7		
List of Figures		
List of abbreviations that appear in this report		
1 Introduction		
1.1 Description of the condition		
1.2 Description of the intervention		
1.2.1 Interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations 13		
1.2.2 Single patient room accommodation in general acute settings		
1.3 Purpose of this systematic review		
2 Methods		
2.1 Criteria for considering studies for this review		
2.1.1 Review question one- interventions to improve adherence to hand		
hygiene recommendations18		
2.1.2 Review question two- effectiveness of single patient rooms in reducing		
incidence of healthcare-associated infection		
2.1.3 Study design		
2.2 Health economic studies		
2.2.1 Types of studies		
2.2.2 Types of outcomes		
2.3 Exclusion criteria		
2.4 Search methods for identification of studies23		
2.5 Data collection and analysis		
2.5.1 Selection of studies25		
2.5.2 Data extraction and management		

2	.5.3	Assessment of quality (risk of bias) of included studies
2	.5.4	Data synthesis
2.6 As	ssessir	ng the certainty of the body of evidence using the GRADE approach 27
3 Rev	view d	question one: Interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene
recom	nmend	ations among healthcare workers
3.1 Se	earch i	results
3.2 Cl	linical	evidence for review question one: Results
3	.2.1	Characteristics of included studies
3	.2.2	Clinical evidence: Primary outcome – hand hygiene adherence
3	.2.3	Clinical evidence: Secondary outcomes – HCAI and colonisation rates. 46
3	.2.4	Methodological quality of included studies
3	.2.5	Certainty of the evidence
3.3 Ec	conom	ic evidence for review question one: Results
3	.3.1	Characteristics of included studies55
3	.3.2	Economic evidence
3	.3.3	Methodological quality
3	.3.4	Applicability
3.4 Re	eview	question one: Discussion and conclusion67
3	.4.1	Discussion
3	.4.2	Strengths and limitations of this review70
3	.4.3	Future research
3	.4.4	Conclusion71
4 Rev	view d	question two: Effectiveness of single patient rooms in reducing the
incide	nce of	healthcare-associated infection72
4.1 Se	earch i	results
4.2 Cl	linical	evidence for review question two: Results
4	.2.1	Characteristics of included studies74
4	.2.2	Clinical evidence: Primary outcome – reduction in HCAI
4	.2.3	Clinical evidence: Primary outcome – adverse events

	4.2.4	Clinical evidence: Secondary outcome – reduction in AMRO colonisation 84
	4.2.5	Methodological quality of included studies
	4.2.6	Certainty of the evidence
4.3	Econom	ic evidence for review question two: Results
	4.3.1	Characteristics of included studies95
	4.3.2	Economic evidence
	4.3.3	Methodological quality 103
	4.3.4	Applicability
4.4	Discussi	on and conclusion
	4.4.1	Discussion 106
	4.4.2	Strengths and limitations of this review
	4.4.3	Future research 113
	4.4.4	Conclusion 114
Refe	erences	
Appendix 1: Deviations from protocol		
Appendix 2: Example of search terms		
Appendix 3: Excluded studies		
Appendix 4: Clinical results for question one: interventions to improve adherence to		
hand hygiene recommendations156		
Appendix 5: Subgroup and trend analysis for review question one		
Appendix 6: Economic evidence for review question one: summary of characteristics,		
methods and results		

List of Tables

Table 2-1 Methods: PICOS for review question one – interventions to improveadherence to hand hygiene recommendations19
Table 2-2 Methods: PICOS for review question two – effectiveness of single patientrooms in reducing HCAI infection rates
Table 2-3 Methods: Databases searched by review question 24
Table 2-4 Methods: Critical appraisal instruments 26
Table 3-1 Clinical evidence for question one: Included Hand Hygiene interventioncomponents and comparator by study
Table 3-2 Clinical evidence for question one: Characteristics of included studies -interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations
Table 3-3 Clinical evidence for review question one: Summary of findings table formultimodal interventions compared with alternative or usual care52
Table 3-4 Clinical evidence for review question one: Summary of findings table forunimodal interventions compared with alternative or usual care
Table 3-5 Economic evidence for review question one: Interventions and comparatorsincluded in economic studies56
Table 3-6 Economic evidence for review question one: CHEC-list quality assessment
Table 3-7 Economic evidence for review question one: ISPOR applicability assessment
Table 4-1 Clinical evidence for question two: Characteristics of included studies 76
Table 4-2 Clinical evidence for question two: Primary outcome results relating toreduction in HCAI rates78
Table 4-3 Clinical evidence for question two: Primary outcome - adverse events82
Table 4-4 Clinical evidence for question two: Secondary outcomes - HCAI colonisation

Clinical and cost-effectiveness of healthcare-associated infection interventions: a systematic review Health Research Board – Collaboration in Ireland for Clinical Effectiveness Reviews

Table 4-5 Clinical evidence for review question two: Summary of the Newcastle-
Ottawa Scale risk of bias scores for cohort and before-after studies
Table 4-6 Clinical evidence for review question two: Grade summary of findings table
for reduction of HCAI in single patient rooms compared with multi-bed rooms92
Table 4-7 Clinical evidence for review question two: Grade summary of findings table
for reduction of adverse events for single patient rooms compared with multi-bed
rooms
Table 4-8 Economic evidence for review question two: Interventions and comparators
included in economic studies
Table 4-9 Economic evidence for review question two: Results relating to capital costs,
operational costs and cost savings 100
Table 4-10 Economic evidence for review question two: CHEC-list quality assessment
Table 4-11 Applicability of included health economic studies assessed using ISPOR
questionnaire
Table A1-1 Deviations from protocol 149
Table A2-1 Example of a search string for question one 150
Table A3-1 Excluded interrupted time series studies and non-RCTs for question one
Table A3-2 Excluded economic studies for question one 155
Table A3-3 Excluded clinical studies for question one 155
Table A4-1 Clinical results for question one: interventions to improve adherence to
hand hygiene recommendations156
Table A6-1 Economic evidence for review question one: summary of characteristics,
methods and results of economic evaluation studies

List of Figures

Figure 1 WHO 5 Moments for Hand Hygiene15
Figure 2 Median percentage of single patient rooms among the total number of hospital beds, data collected between 2011 and 2012
Figure 3 Review question one: PRISMA flowchart - Interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations
Figure 4 Clinical evidence for review question one: Risk ratios for interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations by study
Figure 5 Clinical evidence for review question one: Results of meta-analysis for WHO Compliant strategies versus usual care
Figure 6 Clinical evidence for review question one: Cochrane EPOC risk of bias graph
Figure 7 Clinical evidence for review question one: Cochrane EPOC Risk of bias summary
Figure 8 Review question two: PRISMA flowchart – Effectiveness of single patient rooms in reducing incidence of HCAIs
Figure 9 Clinical evidence for review question two: Cochrane EPOC risk of bias summary graph for Interrupted time series studies
Figure 10 Clinical evidence for review question two: Cochrane EPOC risk of bias study specific graph for Interrupted time series studies
Figure A5-11 Subgroup analysis grouped by risk of contamination bias 165
Figure A5-12 Trend analysis ordered by ascending baseline adherence rate 165
Figure A5-13 Trend analysis ordered by ascending number of components in strategy

List of abbreviations that appear in this report

ABHR	Alcohol-based hand rub
ACE	Acute care for the elderly
AMRO	Antimicrobial resistant organisms
B-A	Before-after study
BSI	Blood stream infection
C. difficile	Clostridioides difficile
CA\$	Canadian dollars
СВА	Cost-benefit analysis
CEA	Cost-effectiveness analysis
C-RCT	Cluster randomised control trial
ED	Emergency department
HAI	Hospital-acquired infection
HCAI	Healthcare-associated infections
НСѠ	Healthcare worker
HDU	High dependency unit
НН	Hand hygiene
HIQA	Health Information and Quality Authority
HR	Hazard ratio
ICC	Intracluster correlation coefficient
ICER	Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio
ICU	Intensive care unit
IRR	Incidence rate ratio
ITS	Interrupted time series
LTCF	Long-term care facility
MBR	Multi-bed rooms
MDRO	Multi-drug resistant organism
MM	Multimodal
MRSA	Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus
NCEC	National Clinical Effectiveness Committee
nRCT	Non-randomised control trial

OR	Odds ratio
PICOS	Population, intervention, comparator, outcome, study design framework
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses
QALY	Quality-adjusted life year
RCT	Randomised control trial
RR	Risk ratio (also known as relative risk)
SPR	Single patient room
VRE	Vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus
WHO	World Health Organization
WHO Compliant	WHO multimodal strategy including three or more key components
WHO Plus	WHO multimodal strategy including additional components
WTP	Willingness-to-pay

1 Introduction

1.1 Description of the condition

A healthcare-associated infection (HCAI) is any infection that is acquired after contact with healthcare services.⁽¹⁾ It neither present nor incubating at the time of initial contact. HCAI is best described during treatment in a hospital, but can also occur in outpatient clinics, long-term residential care facilities and other healthcare settings. HCAIs that are picked up in hospitals are also known as hospital-acquired infections or nosocomial infections. The prevention and control of HCAI also encompasses the control of acquisition of colonisation with antimicrobial-resistant organisms with the potential to cause serious infection at a later date.

According to a European-wide survey, conducted in May 2017, of HCAI and antimicrobial use in European acute care facilities, that included 60 acute Irish hospitals (46 public and 14 private), the overall prevalence of HCAI in Irish hospitals was estimated to be 6.1% in 2017⁽²⁾ and 5.2% in the 2012 survey.⁽³⁾ Overall prevalence of HCAI in 2017 was highest in tertiary hospitals (8.7%) when compared to primary (7.6%), secondary (4.2%), specialist (3.4%) and private hospitals (5.9%).⁽²⁾ This is likely to be related to the differences in the nature of healthcare services. According to a national survey conducted in 2012 and including 69 longterm care facilities, the estimated prevalence of HCAI in Irish long-term care facilities was 3.7%.⁽⁴⁾ Data on the prevalence of HCAI in primary care or outpatient settings in Ireland is unavailable. In 2008 it was estimated the total annual healthcare costs of HCAI in hospitals for the EU 27 was €7 billion per year.⁽⁵⁾ The annual healthcare costs associated with HCAI in hospitals in Ireland were estimated in 2011 to be €118 million.⁽⁶⁾

1.2 Description of the intervention

Better control of the transmission of pathogens which can lead to infections is an important part of infection, prevention and control. This requires a broad range of practices that aim to reduce or eliminate the likelihood of the transmission of infection from one person to another, such as directly from a healthcare worker (HCW) to a patient or vice versa, or indirectly by way of a medical device or surface contact. Other measures to prevent HCAI include timing and preparation of procedures, appropriate use of medical devices, appropriate use of antimicrobial agents and attention to nutrition, hydration and overall care of the person.

A number of standards have been produced to support the prevention and control of HCAI across the Irish healthcare system. These include the 2017 *National Standards for the Prevention and Control of Healthcare-associated Infections in Acute Healthcare Services*,⁽⁷⁾ and the 2018 *National Standards for infection prevention and control in community services*,⁽⁸⁾ which outline standards specific to community health and social care services, including ambulance services, care delivered in the home, general practices, dental practices, residential services for older people and people with a disability, day care services, and pharmacies.

Two separate interventions for the prevention and control of HCAIs (interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations, and the use of all single patient room accommodation in general acute settings) are the focus of this systematic review and are outlined in Section 1.2.1 and Section 1.2.2.

1.2.1 Interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations

Hand hygiene (HH) is regarded as one of the most effective means of preventing transmission of organisms in the healthcare setting, as the hands of healthcare workers can be a common source of infection transmission.⁽⁹⁾ Hands may become contaminated following contact with intact skin, wounds, mucous membranes or secretions of a patient, and subsequently transmit organisms to other patients they come in contact with. Improving HH removes these contaminants and has been associated with a decrease in the transmission of pathogens.⁽¹⁰⁾

Interventions aimed at improving HH adherence in healthcare settings fall mainly under the heading of *Implementation Strategies*, as they are designed to change or modify behaviour.⁽¹¹⁾ The complexity of implementation strategies can vary from single component strategies to five-or-more-component strategies.

One widely used strategy is the World Health Organization (WHO) *Multimodal Hand Hygiene Improvement Strategy (WHO MM)*,⁽¹²⁾ which consists of five key components:

- System change ensuring necessary infrastructure is available, including access to water, soap and towels and alcohol-based hand rub (ABHR) at the point of care.
- Education and training providing training or educational programmes on the importance

of hand hygiene and the correct procedures for hand rubbing and hand washing for healthcare workers.

- Evaluation and feedback monitoring hand hygiene practices and infrastructure, along with related perceptions and knowledge among healthcare workers, while providing performance and results feedback to staff.
- Reminders prompting or reminding healthcare workers (through printed material, verbal reminders, electronic communications or other methods) about the importance of hand hygiene and appropriate indications and procedures for performing it.
- Institutional safety climate active participation at both institutional and individual levels, creating an environment and perceptions which facilitate awareness-raising about patient safety issues and guarantee the prioritisation of hand hygiene.

The WHO recommend at least three of these components be included in implementation strategies to improve hand hygiene (HH).⁽¹³⁾ *My 5 Moments for Hand Hygiene (WHO 5M)* outlines the appropriate situations which require handwashing. The five moments, or indications, of HH are: before touching a patient; before clean or aseptic procedures; after body fluid exposure or risk; after touching a patient; and after touching patient surroundings (see Figure 1). This model is also integrated in various tools included in the WHO MM and is used to train, monitor and report hand hygiene.⁽¹⁴⁾

The 2015 Irish guideline for hand hygiene in Irish healthcare settings by the Royal College of Physicians of Ireland Clinical Advisory Group recommends that a multimodal hand hygiene improvement strategy, such as that developed by the WHO should be used in all health services.⁽¹⁵⁾ They also recommended hands should be cleaned according the WHO '5 moments of hand hygiene' (Figure 1).

Figure 1 WHO 5 Moments for Hand Hygiene



(Reproduced with permission from "WHO Patient Safety 2009, A guide to the implementation of the WHO multimodal hand hygiene improvement strategy, Page 7, Copyright (2009)."⁽¹²⁾)

1.2.2 Single patient room accommodation in general acute settings

Single patient room (SPR) accommodation has been suggested as an approach to reducing transmission of HCAIs, based on the principles of isolation and ventilation.⁽¹⁶⁾ By isolating patients in separate rooms (with separate bathrooms), it eliminates the contact between patients who are colonised or infected with infectious organisms and other patients. This reduces opportunities for spreading infectious organisms. With this in mind, the 2008 Infection Prevention and Control Building Guideline for Acute Hospitals in Ireland recommended all newly built hospitals and major renovations should be 100% SPRs with an en suite shower and toilet facility.⁽¹⁷⁾ In 2017 it was estimated that in Irish hospitals, the average proportion of SPRs was 15% in general, 20% in regional, 29% in tertiary-, 23% in specialist- and 52% in private-hospitals.⁽²⁾ Under construction in 2021, the new national children's hospital at St James's will include 100% SPRs, all with en suite bathrooms.

The systematic review was carried out between 2019 and early 2020. This included agreeing the protocol, conducting searches, assessing the including studies, as well as conducting the analysis and drafting the results section. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic work on the review was paused. In 2022 searches were updated on 13 February and 30 May 2022. Two articles eligible for inclusion were identified from the searches in February, each describing additional analyses of a dataset previously identified in the original search and included in the draft report.^(18, 19) The findings of these additional analyses have been included in the discussion.





*PPS data representativeness was poor in Austria, Croatia, Czech Republic, Estonia and Romania and very poor in Denmark and Sweden.

(Source of figure: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Point prevalence survey of healthcare-associated infections and antimicrobial use in European acute care hospitals 2011–2012. Stockholm: 2013)

1.3 Purpose of this systematic review

The purpose of this systematic review is to identify and evaluate the clinical and economic evidence relating to the use of interventions to improve hand hygiene and the use of SPRs in the prevention and control of HCAIs, to help inform the recommendations of the NCEC National Clinical Guideline on Healthcare-Associated Infection in Ireland. This systematic review includes two review questions. The first focuses on the effectiveness of strategies to improve adherence to recommendations on hand hygiene. The second focuses on the effectiveness of all single room accommodation at reducing the incidence of HCAI in acute settings. Both review questions aimed to identify and evaluate clinical and cost-effectiveness studies.

2 Methods

The reporting of this systematic review adheres to the *Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses* (PRISMA) criteria.⁽²⁰⁾ The identification and synthesis of economic evidence follows national guidelines for the retrieval and interpretation of economic literature.⁽²¹⁾ The proposed methodology for the systematic reviews was outlined in a protocol that was agreed by the Healthcare-Associated Infection (HCAI) Guideline Development Group in July 2019. Each review question was subsequently registered on the PROSPERO database of systematic reviews and meta-analyses.⁽²²⁾

Link: <u>www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero</u>

- Review question one: CRD42019142761
- Review question two: CRD42020151883.

2.1 Criteria for considering studies for this review

Review questions were formulated in line with the PICOS (population, intervention, comparator, outcome, study design) framework.⁽²³⁾ These details are provided in Sections 2.1.1 and 2.1.2. Review question one updated the search strategy of the 2017 Cochrane review by Gould et al.⁽²⁴⁾ with the addition of a new search strategy for economic evidence and a restriction of included study designs to RCTs only (see Table 2.1). Whereas, review question two is a newly developed question.

2.1.1 Review question one- interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations

In relation to healthcare workers in hospitals, nursing homes, long-term care facilities or community healthcare settings, are there specific interventions to promote hand hygiene compared with other interventions to promote hand hygiene that improve hand hygiene adherence among healthcare workers?

The specific objectives were to:

- assess the improvement in hand hygiene adherence in patient care
- determine whether there was a reduction in rates of HCAI
- identify relevant economic evaluations.

Population	Included:
	 Healthcare workers (for example, nurses, doctors and other healthcare workers) in any hospital, nursing home, long-term care facility or community healthcare setting, in any country.
	Excluded:
	Studies focused on non-healthcare workers (for example, hospital visitors, homecare assistants, catering or cleaning staff).
Intervention	Included:
	Any intervention intended to improve adherence with hand hygiene using soap and water or alcohol-based products (for example, education, audit with performance feedback, health promotion, or variations in availability and type of products used for hand hygiene).
	Bundles (multimodal management strategies) as long as the data relating to hand hygiene adherence was presented separately.
	Excluded:
	 studies based outside clinical settings (for example, simulation or artificial settings)
	studies looking at surgical hand disinfection in theatre settings and surgical scrubbing.
Comparator	No intervention or another intervention.
Outcome	Primary:
	Hand hygiene adherence, measured through direct observation (for example use of soap or alcohol-based products, or adherence with hand hygiene measured by an automated monitoring device) or a proxy indicator (for example, increased use of hand hygiene products).
	Secondary:
	reduction in HCAI rates (see section 1.1 for definition)
	reduction in colonisation rates by clinically significant nosocomial pathogens. As per the Cochrane review ⁽²⁴⁾ data on all reported pathogens was included.
	Any relevant measures of costs and benefits which are applicable to the Irish setting.
	Excluded:
	Studies that assessed adherence using self-reported measurements.
Study design	Included:
	RCTs
	economic evaluations and systematic reviews (see Section 2.2).
	Excluded:
	nRCTs, ITS, before-after studies, cohort studies
	observational studies.

Table 2-1 Methods: PICOS for review question one – interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations

Search period	For clinical effectiveness studies: 19.10.16 – 08.07.19
	For cost-effectiveness studies 01.07.09 – 08.07.19 (see Table 2-3).

Key: HCAI – healthcare-associated infection; ITS – interrupted time series; nRCT – non randomised control trial; RCT – randomised control trial.

2.1.2 Review question two- effectiveness of single patient rooms in reducing incidence of healthcare-associated infection

In acute hospital inpatients, does the use of all single patient room accommodation compared with use of multi-bed rooms or mixed single rooms and multi-bed room accommodation result in reduced incidence of healthcareassociated infection?

The specific objectives are to:

- evaluate whether single patient room (SPR) accommodation is effective in reducing HCAI rates compared with accommodation consisting of multi-bed rooms or mixed single rooms and multi-bed rooms
- assess whether the use of SPR accommodation leads to adverse events including physical and or psychological harm compared with accommodation consisting of multi-bed rooms or mixed single rooms and multi-bed rooms
- evaluate whether SPR accommodation is effective in reducing incidence of colonisation rates by antimicrobial resistant organisms with accommodation consisting of multi-bed rooms or mixed single rooms and multi-bed rooms
- identify relevant economic evaluations.

Table 2-2 Methods: PICOS for review question two – effectiveness of single patient rooms in reducing HCAI infection rates

Population	Included: Adult patients based in inpatient wards in acute settings.
	 Exclude: Studies that only included high acuity settings for example ICU, HDU or critical care wards.
Intervention	Included: SPR accommodation with en suite facilities (for example sink, toilet and shower).

	Excluded:
	Studies that did not explicitly state the SPRs have en suite facilities
	Studies that examined the effects of transferring patients who were initially admitted to multi-bed rooms to a SPR after infection or colonization. For example, interventions relating to patients identified as acquiring a HCAI or colonised with an AMRO while in a medical or surgical ward and subsequently transferred to a SPR as part of an infection control measure
	Studies where it was not possible to identify the effect of SPR alone on the reported outcome(s). For example, bundled interventions that included additional patient decolonization strategies or healthcare worker education programs.
Comparison	Multi-bed room accommodation (for example, shared rooms or bays that included patient rooms of two or more)
	 or a mix of multi and SPR accommodation (for example, a ward featuring SPRs and multi-bed rooms).
Outcome(s)	Primary:
	Reduction in HCAI rates (see section 1.1 for definition)
	Adverse events (including both physical and psychological harms).
	Secondary:
	Reduction in colonisation rates by antimicrobial resistant organisms.
	Any relevant measures of costs and benefits.
Study design	RCTs, nRCTs studies
	Interrupted time series analysis
	Controlled and uncontrolled before-after studies
	Prospective and retrospective cohort studies
	Health economic studies (see Section 2.2.1).
Search period	For clinical studies 01.07.04 –30.05.22*
	For cost-effectiveness studies 01.07.09 – 30.05.22 (see Section Table 2-3).*

Key: AMRO – antimicrobial resistant organisms; HCAI – healthcare-associated infection; HDU – high dependency unit; ICU – intensive care unit; nRCT – non randomised control trial; RCT – randomised control trial; SPR – single patient room.

*See section 2.4 for further details on the search dates.

2.1.3 Study design

Review question one included RCTs, nRCTs studies, multi-centre controlled before-and-after studies and ITS studies. However, as per protocol, following the identification of a high number of RCT studies it was decided to restrict the review to RCT studies only.

For review question two, a wide range of study designs were included (Table 2-2) where the

unit of analysis was at ward level or higher. While randomised control trials (RCTs) are considered the gold standard when evaluating causal effects of healthcare interventions, quasi-experimental designs such as interrupted time series (ITS) can provide accurate estimates for health service interventions when conducted appropriately, which is especially relevant when randomisation is not practical.⁽²⁵⁾ This can be achieved when multiple point estimates are recorded at regular intervals pre- and post-intervention. Data from ITS can be analysed to account for any existing underlying trends, such as ongoing infection prevention and control (IPC) effects or community prevalence. Before-after studies compare only one point estimate pre-intervention with one estimate post-intervention, and so cannot account for underlying trends.

2.2 Health economic studies

2.2.1 Types of studies

This systematic review aimed to identify health economic studies including economic evaluations (cost-effectiveness analyses, cost-utility analyses, cost-minimisation analyses and cost-benefit analyses), costing studies, comparative resource use studies and systematic reviews.

Where sufficient full economic evaluations (cost-effectiveness analyses or cost-utility analyses) were identified, other (lower quality) costing studies were not considered during critical appraisal, data extraction and synthesis of the literature.

Where an existing high-quality systematic review was identified, this was used and updated as appropriate. This reflects a pragmatic approach to support guideline development, consistent with the hierarchy of evidence, wherein duplication of effort is minimised.

2.2.2 Types of outcomes

The following is a non-exhaustive list of economic outcome measures considered applicable to this review.

Economic evaluations

Cost-utility and or cost-effectiveness analysis:

Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER).

- Cost per unit of effect (such as cost per life year gained) or effects per unit cost (for example, life years gained per Euro spent).
- Quality-adjusted life years (QALYs), disability-adjusted life years, or health/life years equivalent.
- Incremental net monetary benefit.

Cost-benefit and or cost-minimisation analysis:

- Net monetary benefit
- Incremental costs.

Other economic outcome measures

Costs and resource use:

- direct (for example, cost of staffing and equipment) and indirect (for example, prescription costs) costs, offsets and savings
- length of hospital stay
- implementation costs (for example, training and education)
- service utilisation costs.

2.3 Exclusion criteria

The following exclusion criteria was applied across both review questions:

- children and young people (aged < 16 years)
- editorials/commentaries/opinion pieces
- abstracts only
- animal studies
- non-English language studies.

2.4 Search methods for identification of studies

For review question one, the database searches for clinical effectiveness literature were conducted consistent with the search strategy developed by Gould et al.⁽²⁴⁾ and focused on studies published between 19 October 2016 and 8 July 2019 (databases listed in Table 2-3).

In addition to database searches, the original review⁽²⁴⁾ conducted an extensive grey literature search. According to their presented PRISMA flow chart,⁽²⁴⁾ no studies were identified through these sources. Consequently, for this review, only the grey literature database Opengrey.eu was searched.

For review question two, the searches for clinical evidence were limited to studies published since 2004. This was due to the influential recommendations made in the 2006 guidelines from the Facilities Guidelines Institute and American Institute of Architects Academy of Architecture for Health,⁽²⁶⁾ informed by a 2004 systematic review, which recommended SPRs. In addition to the databases listed in Table 2-3, the following specific architectural and design publications and organisations were searched:

- Center for Health Design
- Health Environments Research & Design Journal
- American Institute of Architects Academy of Architecture for Health
- Royal Institute of British Architects.

The search for economic evidence for question one and two was conducted in conjunction with the clinical literature search strategies through the addition of an economic filter to each database search string.⁽²⁷⁾ See Appendix 2 for examples of search strings. A ten year time limit was applied to searches for economic evidence to ensure identified economic literature was applicable to current practice.

For both questions, reference lists of included papers for both reviews were hand searched and forward citations searched via Scopus and Google Scholar to identify additional relevant references.

Review	Databases searched and search dates	
question	Clinical effectiveness	Cost-effectiveness
Interventions that improve hand hygiene adherence	Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, MEDLINE (via OVID), Embase, CINAHL (via EBSCO), ClinicalTrials.gov, WHO International Clinical Trials Registry Platform.	Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, MEDLINE (via OVID), Embase, CINAHL (via EBSCO), ClinicalTrials.gov, WHO International Clinical Trials Registry Platform, HTA & NHS EED on CRD. Search dates: 01/07/09 to 08/07/19

Table 2-5 Methods. Databases searched by review question
--

Single patient	Cochrane Central Register of Controlled	Cochrane Central Register of Controlled
rooms in acute	Trials, MEDLINE (via OVID), Embase,	Trials, MEDLINE (via OVID), Embase,
settings	CINAHL (via EBSCO), ClinicalTrials.gov,	CINAHL (via EBSCO), ClinicalTrials.gov,
	WHO International Clinical Trials Registry	WHO International Clinical Trials Registry
	Platform, PsycINFO.	Platform, PsycINFO, HTA & NHS EED on
		CRD.
	Search dates: 01/07/04 to 30/5/2022	
		Search dates: 01/07/09 to 30/5/2022

Key: CINAHL – Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature; CRD – Centre for Reviews and Dissemination – University of York; EBSCO – EBSCO information services; MEDLINE - Medical Literature Analysis and Retrieval System Online; HTA and NHS EED – Health Technology Assessment and National Health Service Economic Evaluation Database; OVID – Ovid Technologies; WHO – World Health Organization.

2.5 Data collection and analysis

2.5.1 Selection of studies

For both questions, potentially eligible papers identified in the search strategy were exported to Endnote (Version X7), where duplicates were identified and removed. Two reviewers independently reviewed the titles and abstracts of the remaining citations, as per the inclusion and exclusion criteria, to determine whether the papers merited a full text review, using Covidence[©] software. The full texts were obtained and independently evaluated by two members of the team. Any disagreements were resolved by discussion, or when necessary, a third reviewer. Study flow diagrams mapping out the number of records identified, included and excluded in the reviews were maintained.

2.5.2 Data extraction and management

For research question one, data extraction for studies included in the previous review⁽²⁴⁾ was performed by one reviewer and checked by a second reviewer against the reported data in the previous review. For all newly identified studies, data extraction was performed independently by two reviewers. For both approaches, disagreements were resolved through discussion.

For research question two, data extraction was performed independently by two reviewers, with disagreements resolved through discussion and where necessary a third reviewer.

2.5.3 Assessment of quality (risk of bias) of included studies

Two reviewers independently assessed the methodological quality or risk of bias of included studies, using standardised critical appraisal instruments, with any disagreements resolved through discussion. As different study designs warrant different tools to assess methodological quality and risk of bias, a number of critical appraisal instruments were used, as appropriate (see Table 2-4).

Study design	Critical appraisal instrument			
RCTs, nRCTs, controlled	Cochrane EPOC risk of bias criteria ⁽²⁸⁾			
before-after studies, ITS				
studies				
Cohort studies, uncontrolled	Newcastle-Ottawa Scale ⁽²⁹⁾			
before-after studies				
Economic evaluations	CHEC-list ⁽³⁰⁾			
	ISPOR questionnaire – to assess transferability. ⁽³¹⁾			

Table 2-4 Methods: Critica	I appraisal instruments
----------------------------	-------------------------

Key: CASP – Critical Appraisal Skills Programme; CHEC-list – The Consensus Health Economic Criteria list; EPOC – Effective Practice and Organisation of Care; ISPOR – International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research; ITS – Interrupted time series; nRCT – non- randomised control trial; RCT – randomised control trial.

2.5.4 Data synthesis

For both review questions, the HIQA *Guidelines for Evaluating the Clinical Effectiveness of Health Technologies in Ireland* were adhered to with regard to data synthesis.⁽³²⁾

In accordance with national HIQA guidelines,⁽²¹⁾ the costs from identified economic evaluations were adjusted and presented in 2018 Irish euro in parentheses alongside the original figures.⁽³³⁾ Cost calculations were undertaken by one reviewer and checked by a second reviewer. Where the cost year was either not clearly reported or was inconsistent in the original publication, the unit cost year was based on the average time difference between publication year and cost year reported in the other relevant studies included within the review.

2.5.4.1 Data synthesis for review question one: interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations

Where not reported, risk ratios (RR) and the associated variance in the intervention and control group, were calculated from reported odds ratios (OR) or the number of performed HH opportunities and the total number of observed HH opportunities. Following Cochrane guidance (section <u>10.3</u>),⁽³⁴⁾ the generic inverse variance method with a random effects model was used to calculate pooled effect estimates, assess heterogeneity and produce forest plots. A random effects model, which allows for between-study variation when study populations vary considerably, was chosen due to observed heterogeneity between studies. Where a cluster randomised control trial (C-RCT) was not appropriately analysed and reported, an effective sample size (that is, a reduced sample size which takes into account clustering) was

calculated using reported intracluster correlation coefficients (ICC) as follows:

Design effect =
$$1 + (M - 1) \times ICC$$

Where M is the mean cluster size. Where an ICC was not reported, the average of the reported ICCs from the C-RCTs included in this review was used.⁽³⁵⁾ For the two C-RCTs that adopted a stepped wedge design, the reported adjusted OR⁽³⁶⁾ and the adjusted HH adherence rate,⁽³⁷⁾ which took into account the cluster and temporal effects, was used.

Three of the studies⁽³⁸⁻⁴⁰⁾ compared more than one intervention with a control group. As per the Cochrane guidance,⁽⁴¹⁾ these interventions were assessed for similarities. Where appropriate, similar interventions were pooled,⁽³⁸⁾ where the interventions were not similar,^(39, 40) the control group was split evenly between the intervention groups. Meta-analysis was conducted in Cochrane Review Manager (RevMan; version 5.3).

For the economic literature review, the evidence was compiled and condensed using a narrative synthesis supported by evidence tables. The HIQA guidelines on retrieval and interpretation of economic evaluations of health technologies were adhered to.⁽⁴²⁾

2.5.4.2 Data synthesis for review question two: effectiveness of single patient rooms in reducing healthcare-associated infection

A meta-analysis was not possible due to differences in how outcomes were measured (heterogeneity). A narrative synthesis, which takes methodological differences between primary studies into account, was completed and an overall picture of the evidence is presented. For the economic literature review, the evidence was compiled and condensed using a narrative synthesis as per question one.

2.6 Assessing the certainty of the body of evidence using the GRADE approach

The certainty of the clinical effectiveness evidence for each primary outcome was assessed using the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) approach as outlined in the GRADE handbook.⁽⁴³⁾ Evidence was downgraded by one level for serious (or by two levels for very serious) limitations, depending on the assessments of the risk of bias, indirectness of evidence, serious inconsistency, imprecision of effect estimates, or potential publication bias. Where applicable, evidence was upgraded depending on the

assessment of the magnitude of an effect, dose-response gradient and effect of plausible residual confounding. Evidence was graded as high, moderate, low or very low, indicating the confidence in the effect.

3 Review question one: Interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations among healthcare workers

The aim of this chapter is to summarise the available evidence on the clinical and costeffectiveness of interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene (HH) recommendations. The following research question was addressed:

In relation to healthcare workers in hospitals, nursing homes, long-term care facilities or community healthcare settings, are there specific interventions to promote hand hygiene compared with other interventions to promote hand hygiene that improve hand hygiene adherence among healthcare workers?

3.1 Search results

The search strategy identified 2,729 potentially relevant records. After removing duplicates, 2,487 records were screened, with 2,288 references excluded based on titles and abstracts. A total of 225 full-text articles were assessed for eligibility, including 26 studies^(36, 38, 40, 44-66) from the previous Cochrane review.⁽²⁴⁾ Of these, 184 articles were excluded according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria, as outlined in Section 2.1.1. A list of excluded studies is available in Appendix 3.

Of the remaining 41 manuscripts, two analysed the same dataset and were considered to be one study.^(67, 68) This resulted in 40 unique eligible studies. As per protocol, following the identification of a large number of eligible RCTs of clinical effectiveness (n=17) and costeffectiveness (n=7), the analysis was restricted to RCTs, as observational studies provide weaker evidence due to the greater risk of bias inherent in these study designs (see Appendix 1: Deviations from protocol). As a result, 16 studies (13 interrupted time series (ITS) analyses and three non-RCTs) were excluded (listed in Appendix 3: Excluded studies). Thus a total of 24 studies were included: 12 from the previous Cochrane review^(36, 38, 40, 47-49, 51, 52, 55, 56, 62, 66) and 12 newly identified studies.^(37, 39, 67-77)

The PRISMA flow chart outlining this process is depicted in Figure 3.

Figure 3 Review question one: PRISMA flowchart - Interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations



* von Lengerke et al. (2017)⁽⁵⁸⁾ and von Lengerke et al. (2019)⁽⁵⁹⁾ analysed the same dataset and was considered to be one study

3.2 Clinical evidence for review question one: Results

3.2.1 Characteristics of included studies

3.2.1.1 Study country

Of the 17 clinical effectiveness studies eligible for inclusion, three were conducted in the US,^(49, 62, 70) two in Hong Kong,^(38, 66) and one each in Argentina,⁽³⁶⁾ Canada,⁽⁵⁶⁾ China,⁽⁵¹⁾ England,⁽⁶⁹⁾ England and Wales,⁽⁴⁸⁾ Germany,^(67, 68) Indonesia,⁽³⁹⁾ the Netherlands,⁽⁵²⁾ Singapore,⁽⁴⁷⁾ Spain,⁽⁵⁵⁾ and Switzerland.⁽⁴⁰⁾ One study was conducted across 11 European countries, including two study sites in Ireland.⁽³⁷⁾

3.2.1.2 Study design

All 17 included studies were RCTs. There were two single centre RCTs^(51, 70) one multicentre RCT,⁽⁴⁷⁾ and 14 cluster-randomised control trials (C-RCTs),^(36-40, 48, 49, 52, 55, 56, 62, 66-69) of which 9 were multicentre ^(36-38, 48, 52, 55, 56, 62, 66) and five were single centre.^(39, 40, 49, 67-69) Three of the included C-RCTs were stepped wedge design,^(36, 37, 48) one was pair-matched (where randomisation was preceded by pair-matching to ensure the clusters were comparable)⁽⁴⁹⁾ and another used a crossover design.⁽⁶⁹⁾ Three studies were reported to be pilot studies.^(39, 62, 70)

Overall trial duration of the included studies varied from two weeks^(69, 70) to 63 months.⁽⁴⁰⁾ Post-implementation periods, varied from six months or less in nine studies,^(38, 39, 47, 49, 51, 55, 62, 69, 70) six to 12 months in three studies,^(36, 56, 66) and longer than 12 months in five studies (see Table 3-2).^(37, 40, 48, 52, 67, 68)

Sixteen studies employed direct observation as their primary method of observing HH adherence, ^(36-40, 48, 49, 51, 52, 55, 56, 62, 66-70) while the remaining study, by Fisher et al., ⁽⁴⁷⁾ used an electronic monitoring system. Observation periods and time of day varied in all of the studies employing direct observation.

3.2.1.3 Setting

Fourteen of the included studies were set in hospitals,^(36, 37, 39, 40, 47-49, 51, 52, 56, 62, 67-70) two in long-term care facilities for the elderly^(38, 66) and one in primary healthcare centres.⁽⁵⁵⁾ The number of wards included ranged from 3⁽⁴⁷⁾ to 67.^(40, 52) While the types of wards included intensive care units (ICUs) only,^(36, 37) medical and surgical wards,⁽⁶⁹⁾ ICUs and acute care of

the elderly wards,⁽⁴⁸⁾ ICUs and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation units,^(67, 68) a selection of wards,^(39, 40, 47, 49, 52, 56) or all wards.^(51, 62) One study recruited four internal medicine physician teams from a single hospital with no details reported on ward types.⁽⁷⁰⁾ Studies focusing on long-term care facilities included all areas,^(38, 66) as did the study set in primary care centres.⁽⁵⁵⁾

3.2.1.4 Study population

Fifteen studies included multiple professions of healthcare workers (HCWs),^(36-40, 47-49, 55, 56, 62, 66-70) while two studies included nurses only.^(51, 52) A wide variety of HCWs were represented, with the 14 studies based in a hospital setting including: doctors (n=9),^(36, 37, 39, 40, 47, 49, 62, 67, 68, 70) nurses (n=9),^(36, 37, 39, 40, 47, 49, 51, 52, 56, 62, 67, 68) certified nursing assistants (n=1),⁽⁶²⁾ medical students (n=2),^(39, 70) nursing students (n=2),^(39, 40) physical therapists (n=1),⁽⁶²⁾ respiratory therapists (n=2),^(36, 62) healthcare assistants (n=1),⁽⁵⁶⁾ pharmacists (n=2),^(36, 49) technicians (such as radiology or laboratory) (n=3),^(36, 49, 62) environmental services (n=1),⁽⁶²⁾ allied health workers (with no further description) (n=2),^(47, 56) others (n=3),^(37, 40, 62) or simply HCWs (with no details provided) (n=2).^(48, 69) One study also included nutritionists, social workers and transporters.⁽⁴⁹⁾

In the two studies set in long-term care facilities for the elderly, the first study listed doctors, registered or enrolled nurses, physical therapists, occupational therapists and healthcare assistants.⁽³⁸⁾ While the second listed nurses and nursing assistants, and physiotherapists.⁽⁶⁶⁾ In the study set in primary care centres, general practitioners, nurses, paediatricians, auxiliary nurses, midwives, dentists and dental hygienists were reported to be included.⁽⁵⁵⁾

3.2.1.5 Interventions aimed at improving hand hygiene adherence to recommendations

Hand Hygiene guidelines

Twelve studies^(36-40, 47, 48, 52, 55, 66-69) referred to the WHO guidelines on HH in healthcare.⁽⁷⁸⁾ Of the remaining five studies, two ^(56, 62) referred to guidelines authored by Boyce et al.,⁽⁷⁹⁾ one⁽⁵¹⁾ reported the use of guidelines from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)⁽⁸⁰⁻⁸²⁾ and two studies^(49, 70) did not reference any guidelines.

Description of interventions identified in the included studies.

Within the 17 included studies, 25 interventions aimed at improving HH adherence were

implemented. Eleven studies considered one intervention,^(36, 37, 47, 48, 51, 55, 56, 62, 66, 69, 70) four studies^(38, 49, 52, 67, 68) assessed two interventions and two studies^(39, 40) assessed three interventions.

Seventeen of the 25 interventions were multiple component interventions (multimodal strategies) and eight were single component interventions (unimodal strategies).

Multimodal strategies

Eight of the 12 studies^(36-38, 40, 52, 55, 56, 67, 68) that assessed multimodal strategies cited the WHO multimodal HH improvement strategy.⁽¹²⁾ This strategy outlines an evidence-based framework consisting of five key components and recommends that interventions should include at least three of the five key components.⁽¹³⁾ It is also recommended that these components be tailored to the specific requirements of the local settings,⁽¹²⁾ and consequently can include distinct elements. Four of the included studies^(48, 52, 56, 67, 68) tailored the components based on behavioural change theories. One of which^(67, 68) used a framework known as the Health Action Process Approach (HAPA)⁽⁸³⁾ to facilitate the tailoring of their interventions to each type of HCW. This led to the application of 28 different behaviour change techniques for improving adherence.

Three additional components, distinct from the five key components of the WHO multimodal HH improvement strategy,⁽¹²⁾ were identified within the included studies. These were incentives, accountability and patient involvement. The eight components and their various elements were:

System change (n=12):

- ABHR available at point of care or at the entry to patient areas (n=7)
- supplied pocket-size ABHR bottles to HCWs (n=3)
- ensured adequate sinks were available (n=1)⁽⁵⁶⁾
- piloted an end-of-bed table (which incorporated a writing surface, patient charts, alcohol-based hand rub, aprons, gloves, medications locker, and waste bin) (n=1)⁽⁶⁹⁾
- installed a wireless monitoring system (n=1)⁽⁴⁷⁾
- introduced gloves (lightly powdered gloves compared with powderless) (n=1).⁽³⁸⁾

Education and Training (n=13):

- videos (n=5)^(38, 55, 62, 67, 68, 70)
- interactive demonstrations (n=5)^(38, 40, 51, 55, 62)
- small group tutorials and workshops (n=4)^(37, 51, 67, 68, 70)
- providing seminars (n=3)^(38, 51, 56)
- online material (n=3)^(40, 52, 67, 68)
- printed material $(n=2)^{(36, 52)}$
- active presentations (n=1)⁽³⁹⁾
- role modelling (n=1).⁽³⁹⁾

Evaluation and feedback (n=11):

- group or unit level feedback (n=6)^(36, 37, 40, 48, 52, 56)
- individual level feedback (n=5)^(37, 38, 47, 48, 62)
- comparison between units (n=3).^(36, 52, 56)
- Reminders (n=12):
 - posters (n=11)^(36-38, 40, 49, 52, 55, 56, 62, 66-68)
 - a wireless monitoring system including real-time audible reminders (n=1).⁽⁴⁷⁾
- Institutional safety climate (n=8):
 - support from administrative and executive bodies (n=5)^(36, 37, 40, 62, 67, 68)
 - collaborative design input from HCWs and or unit managers (n=4)^(52, 56, 62, 67, 68)
 - inclusion of HH adherence rates as a quality indicator $(n=2)^{(40, 67, 68)}$
 - performing executive 'walk-rounds' (n=1).⁽³⁶⁾
- Incentives (n=2):
 - recognition and rewards programme (n=1)⁽⁶²⁾
 - praise and certificates for excellent HH adherence (n=1).⁽⁴⁸⁾
- Accountability (n=2):
 - encouraged nurses to address each other's undesirable HH behaviour (n=1)⁽⁵²⁾
 - formulated action plans, for those with poor HH adherence, to improve behaviour (n=1).⁽⁴⁸⁾
- Patient involvement (n=1):
 - patients supplied with welcome packs (brochure on the importance of HH and a pocket-sized bottle of ABHR) and encouraged to remind HCWs to wash their

hands before touching them, if they had not already visibly done so.⁽⁴⁰⁾

There were 13 interventions that conformed to the WHO recommendations (referred to as WHO Compliant strategies)^(36-38, 40, 47, 52, 55, 56, 66-68) and three interventions which were WHO Compliant plus additional components (referred to as WHO Plus strategies).^(40, 52, 62) For nine studies^(36-38, 47, 48, 55, 56, 62, 66) the comparator was usual care and for three studies^(40, 52, 67, 68) it was an alternative WHO Compliant strategy (See Table 3-1).

Unimodal strategies

Five studies examined the effectiveness of seven unimodal strategies.^(39, 49, 51, 69, 70) For four studies the comparator was usual care, with one study⁽⁶⁹⁾ conducting a pilot study that introduced a system change and three^(39, 51, 70) considering educational strategies. One study, by Grant et el.,⁽⁴⁹⁾ compared two unimodal strategies based on reminders (Table 3-1).
Author (year)	k	(ey compone	nts of the WHC	MM strategy	1	Incentives	Accountability	Involvement	Comparator	
	System change	Education & training	Evaluation & feedback	Reminders	Institutional safety climate			of patients		
WHO Compliant (3 or more	components)									
Fisher (2013) ⁽⁴⁷⁾	\checkmark		✓	√					Usual care	
Ho (2012) ⁽³⁸⁾	✓	✓	✓	√					Usual care	
	✓	✓	✓	✓					Usual care	
Martín-Madrazo (2012) ⁽⁵⁵⁾	\checkmark	✓		\checkmark					Usual care	
Mertz (2010) ⁽⁵⁶⁾	✓	✓	✓	✓	~				Usual care	
Rodriguez (2015) ⁽³⁶⁾	\checkmark	✓	✓	✓	~				Usual care	
Stewardson (2016) ⁽⁴⁰⁾	\checkmark	✓	✓	✓	~				Compared three strategies	
Stewardson (2016) ⁽⁴⁰⁾	\checkmark	✓	✓	✓	~				(see WHO Plus)	
van der Kooi (2018) ⁽³⁷⁾	\checkmark	✓	✓	√	✓				Usual care	
Von Lengerke (2017) ^(67, 68)	\checkmark	✓	✓	√	✓				Compared two strategies	
Von Lengerke (2017) ^(67, 68)	\checkmark	✓	✓	\checkmark	✓				compared two strategies	
Yeung (2011) ⁽⁶⁶⁾	\checkmark	~		\checkmark					Usual care	
WHO Plus (5 key componer	nts plus additional	components)							
Huis (2013) ⁽⁵²⁾	\checkmark	✓	✓	√	✓		✓			
Huis (2013) ⁽⁵²⁾	✓	✓	✓	√	✓				Compared two strategies	
Stevenson (2014) ⁽⁶²⁾	\checkmark	✓	✓	√	✓	✓			Usual care	
Stewardson (2016) ⁽⁴⁰⁾	✓	~	~	~	~			~	Compared three strategies (see WHO Compliant)	
Multimodal (not WHO Com	pliant)									
Fuller (2012) ⁽⁴⁸⁾			✓			✓	✓		Usual care	
Unimodal			•		•		•	•		
Anderson (2016)(69)	\checkmark								Usual care	
Gilmartin (2018) ⁽⁷⁰⁾		✓							Usual care	
Grant (2011) ⁽⁴⁹⁾				✓						
Grant (2011) ⁽⁴⁹⁾				√					Compared two strategies	
Huang (2002) ⁽⁵¹⁾		✓							Usual care	
Santosaningsih (2019) ⁽³⁹⁾	I	✓							Usual care	
		✓							Usual care	
		✓							Usual care	

Table 3-1 Clinical evidence for question one: Included Hand Hygiene intervention components and comparator by study

Key: WHO – World Health Organization

Author (year) Country Study design	Study period and duration	Setting	Participants (n) and type of wards	Number of observations and method used	Indication for HH	Outcome(s)
Anderson (2016) ⁽⁶⁹⁾ England crossover C-RCT	2 weeks (2011 to 2012) Intervention: 1 week Control: 1 week	Single centre teaching hospital	HCWs (NR) from 9 acute adult medical and surgical wards at a NHS Trust in London.	996 observations (intervention=412, control=584) Directly by researcher	WHO 5M	 HH adherenc e
Fisher (2013) ⁽⁴⁷⁾ Singapore RCT	24 weeks (2012s) Phase 1 (baseline): 14 weeks Phase 2: 6 weeks Phase 3: 4 weeks	Multicentre 2 hospitals (1 teaching, 1 general)	HCWs (221) from 3 wards (cardiology, orthopaedic and surgical ICU), including doctors, nurses and allied health staff.	1,017,600 observations (No further details reported) Electronic monitoring system	Entry or exit to patient zone	 HH adherenc e
Fuller (2012) ⁽⁴⁸⁾ England and Wales stepped-wedge C-RCT	38 months (Oct 2006 to Dec 2009) Different units were added to the intervention at different periods	Multicentre 16 hospitals	HCWs (NR) in 60 wards; 33 wards in intervention arm (11 ICUs and 22 acute care of the elderly wards).	Number of observations not reported. Covertly and directly by ward coordinators	Before and afterpatient contact	 HH adherenc e
Gilmartin (2018) ⁽⁷⁰⁾ US pilot RCT	2 weeks (Feb to Mar 2016) Baseline: 5 days (excluding weekends) Post intervention: 5 days (excluding weekends)	Single centre teaching hospital	4 physician teaching teams (2 in the intervention group and 2 in the control group) These included physicians (4), residents (4), interns (10) and medical students (14).	1,299 observations (intervention=625, control=674) Covertly and directly by trained researchers and students	Entry and exit of patient room	 HH adherenc e
Grant (2011) ⁽⁴⁹⁾ US pair-matched C-RCT	4 weeks Baseline: 2 weeks Post intervention: 2 weeks	Single centre hospital	HCWs (NR) from 8 units (paediatric and neonatal ICUs, cardiac and neurological ICUs, cardiology and chest-pain units and general observation and medical teaching units) including nurses, physicians and ancillary staff (technicians, nutritionists, social workers, pharmacists and transporters) (intervention 4 units, control 4 units).	567 observations (intervention=189, control=378) Covertly and directly by independent infection prevention control staff	Before or after patient contact	 HH adherenc e

Table 3-2 Clinical evidence for question one: Characteristics of included studies - interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations

Author (year)	Study period and duration	Setting	Participants (n) and type of wards Number of observations and method used		Indication	Outcome(s)
Study design				and method used		
Ho (2012) ⁽³⁸⁾ Hong Kong C-RCT	9 months (Nov 2009 to Jul 2010) Baseline: NR Intervention: NR Post intervention: 4 months	Multicentre 18 long-term care facilities for the elderly	HCWs (810) including doctors, registered/enrolled nurses, physical therapists, occupational therapists and healthcare assistants (intervention 2= 6 facilities, control =6 facilities).	11,669 observations (intervention 1 = 3,478, intervention 2 = 3,619, control = 4,572) Directly by trained infection control nurses	WHO 5M	 HH adherenc e Respirato ry infection outbreaks MRSA infection requiring hospitalis ation
Huang (2002) ⁽⁵¹⁾	4 months (Sept 2000 to	Single centre	Nurses (100) randomly selected from all	Each nurse observed	Before and	• HH
China	Jan 2001)	general	hospital departments.	once at baseline and at 4	after patient	adherenc
DOT		teaching		months post	contact	е
RCI	Intervention: baseline	nospital		Intervention		
	months			Directly by researchers		
Huis (2013) ⁽⁵²⁾	14 months (Sept 2008 to	Multicentre	Nurses (2,733) from 67 wards	10,786 observation	WHO 5M	 HH
The Netherlands	Nov 2009)	3 hospitals	(intervention=30 wards, control=37	(intervention=4787,	and after	adherenc
		(1 teaching,	wards).	control=5,999)	use of gloves	е
C-RCT	Baseline: NR	2 general)				
	Intervention: 6 months			Directly by trained		
	Post intervention: 6 months			nursing students		
Martín-Madrazo	12 months (Jan to Dec	Multicentre	HCWs (170) including general	2,077	WHO 5M	■ HH
(2012) ⁽⁵⁵⁾	2009)	11 primary	practitioners, nurses, paediatricians,	(intervention=1,115,		adherenc
Spain		healthcare	auxiliary nurses, midwives, dentists and	control=962)		е
	Baseline: 3 months	centres	dental hygienists (intervention = 5			
C-RCT	Post intervention: 6		centres, control = 6 centres).	Directly by trained		
NA	months			independent staff		- 101
iviertz (2010) ⁽³⁰⁾	15 months (UCt 2006 to		HUW (NK) from 30 wards (9 Intensive	15,427 observations	WHU SM	 HH adhorona
Callaua	iviay 2000j	bosnitals	or hematologic 3 cardiac and or	(11101) = 7,901,	and alter	aunerenc
	Baseline: 3 months	nospitals	vascular 3 orthonaedic 2 rehabilitation	(0100-7,520)	use of gloves	e ■ MRSA
C-RCT	Intervention: 12 months		2 general surgery, 1 neurologic, 1	Directly by trained		colonisati

Author (year) Country Study design	Study period and duration	Setting	Participants (n) and type of wards	Number of observations and method used	Indication for HH	Outcome(s)
			surgery and or trauma and 1 spinal injury unit) including nurses, healthcare assistants and allied health workers (intervention=15 wards, control=15 wards).	research assistants		on
Rodriguez (2015) ⁽³⁶⁾ Argentina	9 months (Aug 2011 to May 2012) Baseline: 11 clusters range (1 to 4 months)	Multicentre 11 general hospitals	HCWs (705) from 11 ICUs including nurses, physicians, respiratory therapists, pharmacists, residents and radiology technicians.	10,429 observations (intervention=6,864, control=3,565)	WHO 5M	 HH adherenc e
C-RCT	Intervention: 11 clusters range (4 to 8 months)			observer		
Santosaningsih (2017) ⁽³⁹⁾ Indonesia pilot C-RCT	24 weeks (May to Oct 2014) Baseline: 8 weeks Intervention: 8 weeks Post intervention: 8 weeks	Single centre teaching hospital	HCWs (NR) including doctors, nurses and students (medical and nursing) from 4 departments (internal medicine, surgery, obstetrics-gynaecology and paediatrics) (1 department in each intervention and control arm).	2,766 observations (intervention 1=733, intervention 2=577, intervention 3=763, control=693) Directly by trained	WHO 5M	 HH adherenc e
Stevenson (2014) ⁽⁶²⁾ US C-RCT feasibility study	9 months (Mar 2003 to Feb 2004) Baseline: 4 months Intervention: 5 months	Multicentre 10 rural hospitals	HCWs (NR) from all wards including doctors, nurses, nurse assistants, respiratory therapists, physical therapists, radiation technicians, lab technicians, environmental services and others (intervention=5 hospitals, control=5 hospitals).	A,527 observations (intervention=2,654, control=1,873) Directly by trained personnel	Before or after patient/ environment al contact	 HH adherenc e
Stewardson (2016) ⁽⁴⁰⁾ Switzerland C-RCT	63 months (April 2009 to Dec 2014) Baseline: 15 months Intervention: 24 months Post intervention: 24 months	Single centre teaching hospital	HCWs from 67 wards, including nurses, doctors, nursing students and others (intervention 1=24, intervention 2=22, control=21).	12,579 observations (intervention 1=4,549, intervention 2=4,361, control=3,669) Directly by infection prevention control nurses usually assigned to that ward	WHO 5M	 HH adherenc e HCAI infection Primary bloodstre am infection

Author (year) Country Study design	Study period and duration	Setting	Participants (n) and type of wards	Number of observations and method used	Indication for HH	Outcome(s)
						 MRSA colonisati on
van der Kooi (2018) ⁽³⁷⁾ 11 European countries (including 2 sites in Ireland – Galway University and St Vincent's University Hospitals*)	30 months (Jan 2011 to Jun 2013) Baseline: 4 clusters range (6 to 15 months) Intervention: 4 clusters range(15 to 24 months)	Multicentre 4 hospitals	HCWs (NR) including nurse, doctors, auxiliaries and other healthcare professionals from adult ICUs.	16,008 ** observations Direct by trained nurses	WHO 5M	 HH adherenc e
stepped-wedge C-RCT						
Von Lengerke (2017, 2019) ^(67, 68) Germany C-RCT	Jun 2013 to Feb 2015 Baseline: 6 months, 2013 Observation: 24 months, 2014 to 2015	Single centre teaching hospital	HCWs (1,087 at the beginning of the study, NR for the remaining study period) including doctors (515) and nurs- es (572) from 10 ICUs and 2 hematopoietic stem cell transplantation units (intervention=6 wards, control=6 wards).	8,552 observations Direct by internally trained observers	WHO 5M	 HH adherenc e MDRO infection
Yeung (2011) ⁽⁶⁶⁾ Hong Kong C-RCT	10.5 months (Jan to Oct 2007) Baseline: 3 months Intervention: 2 weeks Post intervention: 7 months	Multicentre 6 long-term care facilities for the elderly	HCWs (180) including nurses (26), and nursing assistants (150) and physiotherapists (4) (intervention=3 facilities, control=3 facilities).	3,300 observations Directly by trained independent nurses	WHO 5M	 HH adherenc e Infection requiring hospitalis ation Outbreak s of influenza and norovirus infoctions

Key: ABHR – alcohol-base hand rub; C-RCT – cluster randomised control trial; HCAI – healthcare-associated infection; HCW – healthcare worker; HH – hand hygiene; ICU – intensive care unit; MDRO – multidrug resistant organisms; MRSA - methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*; NR – not reported; RCT – randomised control trial; WHO 5M – World Health Organization Five Moments of Hand Washing;

*The study included three arms, however only one arm was considered relevant to review, as the number of countries in the relevant arm was not reported, this figure represents all three arms. The study duration, setting and number of observations reflects only the relevant arm. **Data provided by study authors

3.2.2 Clinical evidence: Primary outcome – hand hygiene adherence

All included studies (n=17) reported HH adherence (see Appendix 4 for all results). Eleven studies^(36-40, 52, 55, 56, 66-69) used the WHO 5M⁽⁷⁸⁾ as the indication of when to perform HH, with two of these studies also including the indication of 'after the use of gloves'.^(52, 56) Of the remaining six studies; three measured adherence before and after patient contact,^(48, 49, 51) with one of these studies also including the indication of after contact with the patient's environment;⁽⁴⁸⁾ two studies focused on entry and exit of patient rooms or zones;^(47, 70) while the remaining study reported "complete" adherence as performing HH before *and* after patient or environmental contact, and "any" adherence as HH before *or* after patient or environmental contact.⁽⁶²⁾

A graphical display of $12^{(36-40, 49, 52, 56, 66-69)}$ of the 17 studies, where HH adherence could be expressed as a risk ratio between the study comparators, is presented in Figure 4.





Key: CI – confidence interval

3.2.2.1 *Clinical evidence profile – primary outcome: WHO Compliant*

WHO Compliant compared with usual care

Seven studies^(36-38, 47, 55, 56, 66) implemented eight WHO Compliant strategies and assessed the effectiveness compared with usual care. For one study, the control group included a 2-hour general health talk with a small focus on HH, however, this was still considered to be usual care.⁽³⁸⁾ Six out of the seven studies reported sufficient data to be included in a meta-analysis.^(36-38, 55, 56, 66) Overall, a statistically significant improvement in HH adherence was demonstrated following WHO Compliant strategies compared with usual care in the pooled analysis (RR 1.44, 95% CI: 1.12 to 1.85; p=0.004). However, it must be noted that there was a considerable level of heterogeneity (I²=98%) among the included studies and thus the pooled estimate must be interpreted with caution. Possible explanations for this heterogeneity include the variation in baseline HH adherence rates (ranging from 8%⁽⁵⁵⁾ to 66%⁽³⁶⁾), risk of bias concerns relating to contamination in three studies^(36, 56, 66) (where the control group adopted some or all elements of the intervention see Section 3.2.4) and variation in the strategies (such as the number and types of components implemented).

Figure 5 Clinical evidence for review question one: Results of meta-analysis for WHO Compliant strategies versus usual care

		Risk Ratio				Ris	sk Ratio			
Study or Subgroup	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI				IV, Ran	dom, 95% (CI		
Ho 2012	16.4%	2.55 [1.87, 3.46]								
Martin-Madrazo 2012	7.5%	2.96 [1.42, 6.16]					-			
Mertz 2010	20.2%	1.13 [0.96, 1.32]					+			
Rodriguez 2015	21.9%	1.03 [1.00, 1.06]					+			
van der Kooi 2018	21.8%	1.50 [1.44, 1.57]					•			
Yeung 2011	12.2%	1.11 [0.69, 1.78]								
Total (95% CI)	100.0%	1.44 [1.12, 1.85]					-			
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0	.07; Chi ² =	= 234.75, df = 5 (P < 0.0)0001); I ² = 98%				<u> </u>	1	<u> </u>	
Test for overall effect: Z	= 2.89 (P	= 0.004)		0.1	0.2 Favou	u.c Irs usual cai	re Favours	s WHO Co	omp strate	egy

Key: CI – confidence interval; IV – inverse variance; Random - random effects model

Subgroup analysis, was conducted to explore these characteristics further (See Appendix 5). An association with the risk of contamination bias was evident with studies at low risk of contamination bias (n=3) showing a higher estimated pooled RR 2.10 (95% CI: 1.31 to 3.34; p=0.002, I²=86%) compared to those at unclear or high risk of contamination bias (n=3), where there was little improvement seen in the WHO compliant compared with usual care RR 1.03 (95% CI: 1.00 to 1.06; p=0.04, I²=0%). A visual inspection was conducted looking at the differences in baseline adherence levels between control and intervention, and number of components included in each strategy, with no trends evident.

The study⁽⁴⁷⁾ not included in the meta-analysis performed an adjusted analysis taking into account ward, HCW type and level of HH opportunities (stratified as high, medium and low). The authors reported a statistically significant improvement in HH adherence of 6.4% (95% CI: 2.7–10.0; p<0.005) when entering the patient zone and 8.7% (95% CI: 3.2–14.1; p<0.005) when exiting the patient zone, compared to usual care.

WHO Compliant compared with another WHO compliant

Two studies^(40, 67, 68) compared two WHO compliant strategies. The first^(67, 68) used behavioural change theories to tailor components specific to HCWs in one arm. This tailored arm demonstrated a 6% (95% CI: 2.4 to 9.5%; p=0.001) increase in improvement compared to the untailored arm at year two but a decrease at year one (-4%, 95% CI:-7.5 to -1.3%; p=0.006). The second study⁽⁴⁰⁾ compared two WHO Compliant strategies, with one arm emphasising enhanced feedback. Although enhanced feedback showed an improvement this was not statistically significant (3%, 95% CI: 0 to 7 %; p=0.19).

3.2.2.2 Clinical evidence profile – primary outcome: WHO Plus

WHO Plus compared with usual care

One study⁽⁶²⁾ compared a WHO Plus strategy that included incentives to usual care. The authors demonstrated a statistically significant increase in HH adherence for both before *and* after patient/environment contact (p=0.001) and before *or* after patient/environment contact (p=0.001), compared to usual care.

WHO Plus compared with WHO compliant

Two studies^(40, 52) compared WHO Plus to WHO Compliant strategies. The first⁽⁵²⁾ included accountability as the additional component and reported a mean difference of 8.91% (95% CI: 0.75 to 17.06%) favouring the WHO Plus strategy. The second study⁽⁴⁰⁾ compared a WHO Plus strategy featuring patient involvement and reported an absolute increase in HH adherence of 4% (95% CI: 1 to 8%, p=0.048) compared to a WHO Compliant strategy.

3.2.2.3 Clinical evidence profile – primary outcome: other multimodal strategies

One study⁽⁴⁸⁾ implemented a MM strategy not based on the WHO strategy (see Table 3-1). The authors reported results by ward type (acute care of the elderly (ACE) and ICU), with both demonstrating a statistically significant increase in HH adherence (ACE: OR 1.67, 95% CI: 1.08 to 1.80; p=0.01; ICU: OR 2.09, 95% CI: 1.55 to 2.81; p<0.001), compared with usual care. The authors also reported the increase in HH adherence by baseline ward levels. When baseline adherence was 50%, a 13% increase for the ACE and 18% increase for ICU wards were reported. However, when the baseline adherence was 70% the increase was 10% and 13%, respectively.

3.2.2.4 Clinical evidence profile – primary outcome: unimodal strategy

Unimodal strategy compared with usual care

Four of the included studies compared unimodal strategies to usual care.^(39, 51, 69, 70) Three studies examined the effectiveness of education and training based interventions,^(39, 51, 70) while the other study examined the effectiveness of a system change intervention.⁽⁶⁹⁾

The three studies that implemented education and training-based interventions all demonstrated improved HH adherence compared with usual care.^(39, 51, 70) The first⁽⁷⁰⁾ reported an improvement in HH adherence following the intervention by four physician types (ranging from a 4.7% to 24.7% absolute increase). This was statistically significant compared to the control group for three of the four physician types (attending physicians (p=0.035); interns (p=0.007); medical students (p=0.003); and senior residents (p=0.064)). The second study⁽⁵¹⁾ reported improvements that were statistically significant for the intervention group when performing HH before patient contact (RR 1.62 95% CI (1.21 to 2.15, p=0.01)) and after patient contact (RR 1.29 95% CI (1.06 to 1.56, p=0.01)) compared to the control group. The third study⁽³⁹⁾ examined the effectiveness of three different educational interventions compared with usual care. Baseline adherence rates varied considerably between study arms (interventions: 5.2%, 18.9% and 24.1%, control: 10.1%). The authors reported a statistically significant improvement for the intervention that included role model training (OR 4.08, 95% CI: 1.51 to 11.0; p=0.005) and for the intervention that included active presentations (OR 1.96, 95% CI: 1.18 to 3.27; p=0.01), but not for the intervention that combined role modelling and active presentations.

One study⁽⁶⁹⁾ assessed a system change intervention in a C-RCT and reported a statistically significant absolute difference of 26% (p< 0.001) in adherence rate favouring the intervention.

Unimodal strategy compared with unimodal strategy

One study⁽⁴⁹⁾ compared two unimodal strategies based on a reminder component: one using a poster based on the consequences of poor HH from a patient perspective and the other using posters with consequences from a HCW's perspective. Baseline adherence rates were similar between study arms (patient perspective: 80.7%, HCW perspective: 80.0%). The authors found that HH adherence was significantly greater with the patient-consequences poster than with the HCW-consequences poster (p=0.05).

3.2.3 Clinical evidence: Secondary outcomes – HCAI and colonisation rates

Five studies reported secondary outcomes.^(38, 40, 56, 66-68) Four studies examined the change in HCAI rates,^(38, 40, 66-68) with one⁽⁶⁶⁾ also looking at the number of outbreaks. Two studies examined colonisation rates for MRSA.^(40, 56)

Of the four studies that reported on HCAI rates, two^(40, 67, 68) were based in hospital settings and two in long term care facilities (LTCF) for the elderly. The first hospital⁽⁴⁰⁾ based study compared a WHO Plus strategy with enhanced feedback, with a WHO compliant strategy. The authors reported statistically significant differences between the strategies for two out of eight HCAIs (bloodstream infections (BSIs) (p=0.02) and clinical isolates of Clostridioides difficile (p=0.01)) (see Appendix 4). The authors speculated this was due to low observed infection and colonisation rates at baseline and throughout the study duration. The second hospital-based study^(67, 68) compared two different WHO Compliant strategies and reported no statistically significant difference in infection rates for multi-drug resistant organisms (MDRO) after one (p=0.96) or two years (p=0.50) following implementation. As noted by the study authors, this may be due to the small number of observed cases. The two studies^(38, 66) based in LTCFs both implemented a WHO Compliant strategy and reported statistically significant decreases in the incidence rates of HCAIs. The first study⁽³⁸⁾ used historical data from the three years pre-intervention as baseline data (May to September only) and reported a reduction in the risk of respiratory outbreaks (IRR 0.12, 95% CI: 0.01 to 0.93; p=0.04) and MRSA infections requiring hospitalisation (IRR 0.61, 95% CI: 0.38 to 0.97; p=0.04) for the WHO Compliant strategy versus usual care. The second study⁽⁶⁶⁾ reported a statistically significant reduction in infections requiring hospitalisation in favour of the WHO Compliant strategy compared to usual care (p=0.004). Data on the number of outbreaks was also collected,

however, no influenza A or norovirus infection outbreaks occurred during the study period.

Two hospital-based studies^(40, 56) reported changes in colonisation rates of MRSA. The first compared WHO compliant to usual care,⁽⁵⁶⁾ and the second⁽⁴⁰⁾ compared two strategies (WHO Compliant strategy with enhanced feedback and a WHO Plus strategy) to a WHO Compliant strategy. Neither study demonstrated a statistically significant difference in colonisation rates.

3.2.4 Methodological quality of included studies

The Cochrane EPOC risk of bias tool⁽²⁵⁾ was used to appraise the methodological quality of the included RCTs. The results are displayed in Figure 6 and

Figure 7.



Figure 6 Clinical evidence for review question one: Cochrane EPOC risk of bias graph

3.2.4.1 Random sequence generation

Thirteen of the studies^(36-40, 47, 48, 52, 55, 56, 67-70) described the method of random sequence generation and had low risk of bias. Four studies^(49, 51, 62, 66) were unclear for risk of bias as they reported randomisation was performed but did not describe the method used.

3.2.4.2 Allocation concealment

Sixteen studies^(36-40, 47-49, 52, 55, 56, 62, 66-70) were at a low risk of bias as allocation was performed

by either team, ward, unit or facility. Huang et al.⁽⁵¹⁾ had an unclear risk of bias as the method of allocation was not reported for all participants from one hospital.



Figure 7 Clinical evidence for review question one: Cochrane EPOC Risk of bias summary

3.2.4.3 Blinding participants and personnel (performance bias)

Fifteen studies^(36-40, 47-49, 51, 52, 56, 62, 66, 69, 70) were at a high risk of bias due to participants being aware or very likely to be aware of the intervention. Martín-Madrazo et al.⁽⁵⁵⁾ had an unclear risk of bias as participants were said to be unaware of the study's aims, outcome and intervention, although posters and ABHR were provided and observers were present. Von

Lengerke et al.^(67, 68) was at a low risk of bias as wards were blinded to allocations.

3.2.4.4 Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias)

Four studies^(48, 49, 55, 70) were assessed as having a low risk of detection bias, as the observers were reportedly unaware of the study arm allocation. Three studies were at an unclear risk of bias, two^(36, 56) as they did not report any information, and for one,⁽⁶²⁾ although the observers were blinded, they were recruited from the hospital they were assessing. Ten studies^(37-40, 47, 51, 52, 66-69) had a high risk for detection bias due to the visible nature of the interventions or due to observers providing feedback to the participants.

3.2.4.5 Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)

Fifteen studies were considered at low risk of attrition bias. Eight of these studies^(37-39, 49, 51, 56, 67-69) reported no missing outcome data, three^(47, 52, 55) reported missing data and performed intention to treat analysis, two^(66, 70) reported the loss to follow up was experienced before randomisation and allocation occurred, one⁽⁴⁰⁾ reported dropout rates of less than 5% with no observed differences in baseline outcome measures, and one study⁽³⁶⁾ reported the withdrawal of a hospital unit following randomisation but due to stepped-wedge design was unlikely to bias results. Two studies were at an unclear risk of bias, the first⁽⁶²⁾ with a 20% dropout in the control arm and baseline outcome measures not reported. The second⁽⁴⁸⁾ reported a large dropout rate (45%) following randomisation, with insufficient details on dropouts per group.

3.2.4.6 Selective reporting (reporting bias)

All 17 studies were assessed as at low risk of reporting bias. All reported on all outcomes discussed in their studies. Five studies registered a protocol, two prospectively^(40, 52) and three^(37, 48, 67, 68) retrospectively.

3.2.4.7 Other bias

Ten studies^(36-38, 40, 47, 49, 51, 62, 67, 68, 70) had no other identified risk of bias. Two studies^(48, 69) had an unclear risk of bias; the study by Anderson et al.⁽⁶⁹⁾ had an unclear risk of funding bias as the university that hosted the study had royalties from the intervention being assessed although the investigators did not; Fuller et al.⁽⁴⁸⁾ reported that the intervention finished in some of the study sites before the end of the study. Five studies were considered at a high risk of other biases, three studies^(52, 55, 56) had increased awareness or additional measures (such as the installation of ABHR dispensers) hospital-wide, due to outbreaks occurring during the study period, one study⁽³⁹⁾ reported preparations for national accreditation took place during the study period which impacted all groups and another study⁽⁶⁶⁾ reported high staff turnover where new staff might not have had exposure to the intervention.

3.2.4.8 Similar baseline outcome measures

Eleven studies were at a low risk of bias, nine studies^(40, 47, 49, 51, 52, 55, 56, 66-68) reported similar baseline adherence rates, while two studies^(36, 48) used a step wedge design resulting in all study units act as both control and intervention group. There was an unclear risk of bias for two studies as baseline adherence rates were not reported.^(62, 69) Whereas for four studies,^(37-39, 70) there was a high risk of bias due to significant differences in HH adherence at baseline.

3.2.4.9 Similar baseline characteristics

Two studies^(37, 55) were assessed as having a low risk of bias. Seven studies were at an unclear risk of bias: four^(36, 38, 51, 69) reported characteristics at baseline that demonstrated differences between groups, but it is unclear what effect this had; one study⁽⁴⁰⁾ reported the types of units in each group only but stratified units according to similar patient characteristics before randomisation; one study⁽⁶²⁾ reported that the mean number of beds per hospital included in each group were balanced, with no further details; one study⁽⁴⁹⁾ only reported which units were allocated to each group and the ratios of signs to patient beds, but no further details. Eight studies were at a high risk of bias, five studies^(47, 48, 52, 56, 70) did not report the characteristics in text or tables and in accordance with the EPOC criteria are at high risk of bias. For three studies^(39, 66-68) there were substantial differences between control and intervention groups.

3.2.4.10 Adequate protection against contamination

Seven studies^(37, 38, 48, 52, 55, 62, 69) were at low risk of contamination, as the allocation occurred at unit or facility level, with low risk of participants leaving groups. Seven studies were at an unclear risk of contamination bias. One⁽³⁶⁾ due to every site coordinator knowing that HH had to be improved, another study⁽⁶⁶⁾ provided a performance feedback session halfway through the trial on HH adherence to both groups with staff encouraged to increase adherence when monthly infection rates increased, and the remaining five studies^(39, 49, 51, 67, 68, 70) due to single

facility settings and reported free movement of staff. Three studies had a high risk of contamination bias. For one study⁽⁴⁷⁾ this was due to the intervention having an audible cue which could be heard by the control group. The other two were due to the authors reporting that knowledge of the trial had spread to the control units,⁽⁵⁶⁾ with one of the control wards creating and implementing their own HH campaign.⁽⁴⁰⁾

3.2.5 Certainty of the evidence

We assessed the overall certainty of the evidence using the GRADE methodology. Separate narrative summary of findings table were created for the primary outcome (HH adherence rates) for multimodal strategies (Table 3-3) and unimodal strategies (

Table 3-4).

Overall the certainty of the evidence for multimodal strategies was very low to low. This was due to concerns over the risk of bias (including a lack of blinding for participants, lack of blinding for outcome assessment, high risk of contamination bias in which the control groups became aware of the intervention and large dropout rates following randomisation), concerns relating to imprecision and concerns relating to indirectness.

The totality of the evidence suggests that WHO Compliant strategies may improve HH adherence in hospital, long-term care facilities and primary healthcare settings compared to usual care (low certainty of evidence). There was very low certainty of evidence that WHO Plus strategies, that include extra components (incentives, accountability, and patient involvement) in addition to the five key components recommended by the WHO, would result in further improvement in hospital settings. One study assessed a non WHO multimodal strategy, consisting of one recommended key component (evaluation and feedback) and two additional components (incentives and accountability). There was very low certainty evidence suggesting that this strategy would improve HH adherence in hospital settings.

For unimodal strategies there was a very low certainty of evidence due to serious concerns relating to the risk of bias and indirectness as a result of the limited generalizability of study settings.

Table 3-3 Clinical evidence for review question one: Summary of findings table for multimodal interventions compared with alternative or usual care

Patient or population Setting: hospital, nurs facility or community h Intervention: strategy with hand hygiene	 thealthcare workers ing home, long-term care ealthcare setting intended to improve adherence Comparison: no intervention or an Outcome: hand hygiene adherence 	other intervention	
Types of intervention	Impact	№ of observations (studies) Setting	Certainty of the evidence (GRADE)
WHO compliant strategies (3 or more	 WHO Compliant versus usual care 6 C-RCTs included in a meta-analysis RR 1.44 (95% CI: 1.12 to 1.85; p=0.004) in favour of the WHO Compliant strategy compared to usual care. 1 RCT not included in meta-analysis: reported improvement in HH adherence of 6.4% (95% CI: 2.7–10.0; p<0.005) for entering and 8.7% (95% CI: 3.2–14.1; p<0.005) for exiting patient zones, compared to usual care. 	1,076,510 6 C-RCTs, 1 RCT 20 hospitals, 24 LTCFs, 11 PHCs	⊕⊕⊖⊖ LOW a
(3 or more components)	WHO Compliant versus WHO Compliant 2 C-RCTs: Improvement of 6% (95% CI 2.4 to 9.5%; p=0.001) was demonstrated in favour of WHO Compliant (tailored arm) compared to WHO Compliant (untailored arm) strategy. No statistically significant improvement was demonstrated when comparing a WHO Compliant (enhance feedback) to the standard WHO Compliant strategy.	14,935 2 C-RCT 2 hospitals	⊕⊖⊖⊖ VERY LOW a, b
WHO compliant strategies with an additional component	WHO Plus versus usual care 1 C-RCT: Statistically significant improvement was demonstrated in favour of a WHO Plus (incentives) strategy compared to usual care (p=0.001).	4,527 1 C-RCT 10 hospitals	⊕⊖⊖⊖ VERY LOW a, b
(all 5 components plus at least one additional component)	WHO Plus versus WHO Compliant 2 C-RCTs: Mean difference of 8.91% (95% CI: 0.75 to 17.06%) in favour of WHO Plus (accountability) in one study, and 4% absolute difference (95% CI: 1 to 8%, p=0.048) in favour of a WHO Plus (patient involvement), both studies compared to WHO Compliant.	16,982 2 C-RCTs 4 hospitals	⊕⊖⊖⊖ VERY LOW b, c, d
Multimodal strategies (non-WHO components)	1 C-RCT reported ORs for different ward types of 1.67 (95% CI: 1.08 to 1.80; p=0.01) and 2.09 (95% CI: 1.55 to 2.81; p<0.001) favouring multimodal strategy compared to usual care.	Not available 1 C-RCT 16 hospitals	⊕⊖⊖⊖ VERY LOW b, d

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High certainty: We are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect

Moderate certainty: We are moderately confident in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different

Low certainty: Our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: The true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect

Very low certainty: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect

a. Downgraded twice for serious risk of bias: lack of blinding for participants and or outcome assessment, and contamination due to control group being exposed to the intervention, b. Downgraded once due once for indirectness due to limited generalizability of

setting, c. Downgraded once for imprecision, d. Downgraded twice for serious risk of bias: lack of blinding for participants and or outcome assessment, and large dropout rate following randomisation.

Key: CI – confidence interval; C-RCT – cluster randomised control trial; HH – hand hygiene; LTCF – long term care facility; OR – odds ratio; PHC - primary healthcare centre; RCT – randomised control trial; RR – risk ratio; WHO – World Health Organisation.

Table 3-4 Clinical evidence for review question one: Summary of findings table for unimodal interventions compared with alternative or usual care

Patient or population: hea Setting: hospital setting Intervention: strategy inter hygiene	or another interve	ntion	
Types of intervention	Impact	№ of observations (studies) Setting	Certainty of the evidence (GRADE)
Unimodal strategies (education and training)	 1 RCT reported statistically significant improvement in HH adherence following a talk and video on mindfulness and HH adherence, compared to usual care. 1 RCT reported statistically significant increases in HH adherence of 16.3 and 34.7 percentage points in the intervention group before and after patient contact, respectively, with no change or a decrease of 4.1 percentage points in the group that received usual care 1 RCT reported improvement in HH adherence compared to usual care 1 RCT reported improvement in HH adherence compared to usual care for 2 of 3 interventions, adjusted ORs of 1.96 (95% CI: 1.18 to 3.27; p=0.01) and 4.08 (95% CI: 1.51 to 11.0; p=0.05), while the third intervention was reported as statistically non-significant (with no further details). 	4,065* 3 RCTs 3 hospitals	⊕ VERY LOW a, b
Unimodal strategies (reminders)	1 RCT compared two signs and reported an increase in HH adherence for the patient-consequences sign compared to the personal-consequences sign (p=0.05).	567 1 RCT 1 hospital	⊕○○○ VERY LOW b, c, d
Unimodal strategies (system change)	1 RCT reported an absolute difference of 26% in HH adherence following the introduction of a bed-side-table with ABHR and gloves when compared to usual care (p<0.001).	996 1 RCT 1 hospital	⊕⊖⊖⊖ VERY LOW b, c

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High certainty: We are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect

Moderate certainty: We are moderately confident in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different

Low certainty: Our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: The true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect

Very low certainty: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect

a. Downgraded twice for serious risk of bias: lack of blinding for participants and or outcome assessment; baseline characteristics and or outcomes not reported; and concurrent external campaigns in progress, b. Downgraded once for indirectness due to limited generalizability of setting, c. Downgraded twice for serious risk of bias: lack of blinding for participants and or outcome assessment; baseline characteristics and or outcomes not reported, d. Downgraded once for imprecision due to low number of observations and small effect size.

Key: ABHR – alcohol-based hand rub; RCT – randomised control trial; HH – hand hygiene; LTCF – long term care facility; PHC - primary healthcare centre; OR - odds ratio

* data on observations was not reported in one study

3.3 Economic evidence for review question one: Results

The following section summarises the available evidence on the cost-effectiveness of interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations.

3.3.1 Characteristics of included studies

Seven economic evaluations were identified, two from Taiwan,^(71, 72) and one each from Australia,⁽⁷⁴⁾ the Netherlands,⁽⁷⁵⁾ the Republic of Korea,⁽⁷³⁾ Thailand,⁽⁷⁶⁾ and Vietnam.⁽⁷⁷⁾ The studies were published between 2011 and 2018. One study conducted a cost-utility analysis (CUA) and a cost-effectiveness analysis (CEA),⁽⁷⁶⁾ three studies conducted CEAs,^(74, 75, 77) one study conducted a CEA and a cost-benefit analysis (CBA)⁽⁷²⁾ and two studies conducted CBAs.^(71, 73) One study was conducted alongside an RCT (n=2,733),⁽⁷⁵⁾ three studies were based on before-after studies,^(71-74, 77) and three were modelling studies.⁽⁷⁶⁾ Two costing studies and one cost-analysis study were also identified. However, these studies were excluded as per protocol, as more informative studies were identified.

All seven studies included interventions based on the WHO MM⁽¹²⁾ (see Section 1.2.1). Four studies included interventions with three or more of the five key components (WHO Compliant),^(71, 74, 76, 77) while three included interventions with an additional component (WHO Plus).^(72, 73, 75) A summary of the characteristics of the interventions and comparators of the included studies is presented in Table 3.5.

Study (year),	Intervention	Comparator
country, design		
WHO Compliant		
Chen (2016),	System change – availability of ABHR at point of care	Pre intervention period included provision of ABHR
Taiwan ⁽⁷¹⁾	Education – workshops and training video	outside patient rooms and, a hospital wide HH promotion
	Reminders – posters and leaflets	campaign 2 years before the study (no further details
Alongside B-A	Feedback – monthly feedback provided to units	reported).
study	Institutional safety climate – director, deputy director and ward level ambassador badges	
	encouraging patients and family to remind HCW of HH. Surveys conducted aimed at HCW and the	
	public on the concept of HH and patient-family empowerment.	
Graves (2016),	Australian National Hand Hygiene Initiative, based on WHO MM. Varied across sites but at a	Pre intervention period included existing local efforts to
Australia ⁽⁷⁴⁾	minimum included: ⁽⁸⁴⁾	improve HH compliance which ranged from state wide to
	System change - appropriate access to HH facilities;	individual hospitals including a variety of interventions
Alongside B-A	Education - training and education	(such as education, monitoring, feedback); 3 of the 8
study	Reminders – promotion	States/Territories did not have existing campaigns.
	Feedback - auditing and feedback of results.	
Le (2015),	System change - new sinks, ABHR dispensers at the point of care and pocket versions and	Pre intervention period where no other interventions or
Vietnam ⁽⁷⁷⁾	disposable towel dispensers	changes to infection control was reported.
	Education - seminars including quiz, in-service workshops on correct technique	
Alongside B-A	Reminders – posters and flyers	
study	Feedback – specifics not reported	
	Institutional safety climate - HH education provided to patients and their families	
Luangasanatip	Theoretical intervention based on Australian National Hand Hygiene Initiative (WHO MM based	Not defined; However, based on findings of another
(2018)	strategy) ⁽⁸⁵⁾ – detailed in Graves et al. ⁽⁷⁴⁾	study, ⁽⁸⁵⁾ reported by Graves et al. ⁽⁷⁴⁾ as varying between
Thailand ⁽⁷⁶⁾		hospitals.
Model based		
WHO Plus		
Chen (2011),	System change - ABHR at point of care and affixed to trolleys	Pre intervention period included an existing annual HH
Taiwan ⁽⁷²⁾	Education - lectures and/or web-based self-learning with exam	programme (no further details reported) and hands-free
	Reminders – posters and verbal reminders by infection control nurses	washing facilities with non-medicated liquid soap (not

Table 3-5 Economic evidence for review question one: Interventions and comparators included in economic studies

Study (year),	Intervention	Comparator
country, design		
Alongside B-A	Feedback - periodic audits and performance feedback provided to units and departments	refilled) and paper towels located in every room of the
study	Institutional safety climate - use of HH compliance as a quality indicator.	wards and by every ICU bed. ABHR was not available.
	Plus Accountability - Fine of US\$3 for compliance failures for individuals not modifying their	
	behaviour after face-to-face communication;	
	Incentives- Reward of US\$160 for an outstanding performance (unit and department level).	
Chun (2016),	System change - disposable ABHR at point of care and entry to each room in every ward;	Pre intervention period included multiple infection
Republic of	Education – annual web-based learning program. Additional training for new employees and those	control measures (contact precautions, antibiotic
Korea ⁽⁷³⁾	with low adherence	stewardship and environmental cleaning).
	Feedback - immediate individual and monthly for each department	
Alongside B-A	Reminders - posters, flags and screensavers	
study	Institutional safety climate - encouraged patients to evaluate the HH performance of HCW using	
	feedback cards.	
	Plus <i>Incentives</i> - incentives and certificates awarded quarterly for HCW who complied.	
	Additionally, a central line-associated bloodstream infection intervention was implemented	
	midway through the study intervention period, which included a HH component. However, this	
	was not associated with the study.	
Huis (2013),	Same strategy as comparator, with additional emphasis on team and leader-directed strategies	System change – adequate product availability
The Netherlands ⁽⁷⁵⁾	based on social theories.	Education – leaflet on HH importance, website
		Reminders – posters, newsletters articles
Alongside C-RCT	Plus Accountability - nurses addressing each other in cases of undesirable HH behaviour	Feedback – HH rates provided to ward managers including
		ward and hospital performance comparisons
		Institutional safety climate – management support.

Key: ABHR – alcohol-based hand rub; B-A – Before-after study; C-RCT – Cluster randomised control trial; HCW – healthcare worker; HH – hand hygiene; ICU – intensive care unit; WHO Compliant – World Health Organization multimodal strategy (three or more key components); WHO Plus – World Health Organization multimodal strategy plus additional components

3.3.2 Economic evidence

In accordance with the methods outlined in Section 2.5.4, all costs are presented as they were in the original studies with the adjusted 2018 Irish euro equivalent presented in parentheses. Where the study's authors did not report the cost year, it was assumed that the unit costs were from four years prior to study publication (based on the average cost year reported in the studies included within this review question). A summary of the characteristics, methods and results of the included studies is presented in Appendix 6.

3.3.2.1 Economic evidence: WHO Compliant compared with usual care

Four studies incorporated interventions based on WHO compliant strategies.^(71, 74, 76, 77) One of these studies included both a CUA and CEA,⁽⁷⁶⁾ two included CEAs^(74, 77) and one included a CBA.⁽⁷¹⁾ In all studies the comparator was the pre-intervention period. One study reported existing infection control programmes were in place but provided no details;⁽⁷¹⁾ one study⁽⁷⁴⁾ reported varying interventions in five out of eight States/Territories and no existing campaigns in the remaining three States/Territories; and the remaining studies provided no details.^(76, 77) All four studies were conducted from the healthcare payer's perspective, with three studies considering a hospital payer's perspective,^(71, 76, 77) and one considering a wider healthcare system (Australian State Government) perspective.⁽⁷⁴⁾

Time horizons ranged from 10 months⁽⁷⁷⁾ to lifetime.^(74, 76) Discounting was not applicable for two studies (time horizons were one year or less)^(71, 77) and applied at a rate of 3% to the future outcomes for the remaining two studies (costs were only modelled for one year in these studies, so discounting was not applicable for costs).^(74, 76) All studies considered all HCWs in a hospital setting. Two studies included data from high acuity settings only^(76, 77) and two studies^(71, 74) included data from all wards.

The annual cost of the interventions varied considerably between studies, ranging from \$1,395 $(€3,093)^{(76)}$ for a two ICU programme in Vietnam to \$250,000 (€455,372) for a hospital-wide programme in Taiwan.⁽⁷¹⁾ Three studies provided a description of costs, with two^(74, 77) including all material costs (such as posters, brochures and ABHR) and one⁽⁷⁶⁾ including ABHR only (other material costs assumed to be negligible); two including staff time;^(74, 76) one including information and technology, and travel costs;⁽⁷⁴⁾ and one including new sinks, handwashing

solution, new dispensers, and staff incentive costs.⁽⁷⁷⁾ The fourth study did not provide a breakdown of intervention costs.⁽⁷¹⁾

The costs saved from avoiding an HCAI varied considerably between studies, ranging from \$155 (€343) in Thailand ⁽⁷⁶⁾ to AU\$14,273 (€11,068)⁽⁷⁴⁾ per episode avoided. All four studies investigated different types of HCAIs, with one including all recorded HCAIs,⁽⁷⁷⁾ one including urinary tract infections, bloodstream infections (BSI) and respiratory tract infections,⁽⁷¹⁾ one including only *Staphylococcus aureus* BSIs,⁽⁷⁴⁾ and the remaining study including only MRSA BSIs.⁽⁷⁶⁾ The breakdown of costs included in the savings also varied between studies, with one study including only the cost of a hospital bed day (ward and ICU),⁽⁷⁴⁾ one including this plus the cost of treatment,⁽⁷⁶⁾ one including a total cost of different HCAI types,⁽⁷¹⁾ and the final study providing a detailed breakdown (including accommodation, diet, medicine, materials, and services costs).⁽⁷⁷⁾

Improvements in HH adherence rates were observed or modelled in all studies, ranging from an absolute increase of $11\%^{(71)}$ to $32\%^{(77)}$ with baseline adherence rates ranging from $10\%^{(76)}$ to $62\%.^{(71, 74)}$ Reductions in HCAI rates were observed based on before and after studies, ranging from a reduction of 0.6 per 1,000 admission days⁽⁷¹⁾ to an absolute reduction of 36%.⁽⁷⁷⁾

Two studies determined cost-effectiveness against a willingness to pay (WTP) threshold, both finding the intervention to be cost-effective,^(74, 76) with the other two studies finding the intervention to be cost-saving.

The study by Graves et al.⁽⁷⁴⁾ reported an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) of AU\$29,700 (€23,032) per life year gained, which was cost-effective at a WTP threshold of AU\$42,000 per life year gained. They also reported specific ICERs for each Australian State/Territory included in their study, these ranged from AU\$1,030 (€799) to AU\$63 million (€49 million) per life year gained with three out of the six States/Territories cost-effective and three not cost-effective. Luangasanatip et al.⁽⁷⁶⁾ reported their intervention to be cost-effective (at a WTP threshold of \$4,840 per QALY gained in Thailand) with an estimated ICER of \$471 (€1,043) per QALY gained. They also conducted scenario analysis with different baselines and improvements in HH adherence (the base case analysis considered an improvement from 10% to 40%). The scenarios involving a baseline rate of 10% and improvement to either 20% or 60% adherence were cost-effective. However, the scenario involving a baseline adherence of 40%

with an increase to 60% was not cost-effective (ICER of \$6,431 (€14,257) per QALY gained; WTP threshold of \$4,840 per QALY gained).

Le et al.⁽⁷⁷⁾ reported an ICER of \$1,074 (\in 8,664) saved per HCAI prevented in Vietnam. However, as their analysis excluded fixed costs this may be considered an overestimate. Including the fixed costs, the ICER decreases to approximately \$1,001 (\in 8,076) saved per HCAI prevented. Chen at al.,⁽⁷¹⁾ reported a cost-saving of \$950,000 (\in 1,730,413) compared to a total intervention cost of \$250,000 (\in 455,372) in Taiwan, giving a net saving of \$700,000 (\in 1,275,041) over an 18 month period.

3.3.2.2 Economic evidence: WHO Plus compared with usual care

Two studies evaluated WHO Plus strategies compared with usual care.^(72, 73) For Chun et al.⁽⁷³⁾ the additional component was incentives, for Chen et al.⁽⁷²⁾ it was accountability and incentives. Both studies were conducted alongside before–after studies and both reported that existing infection prevention programmes were in place prior to the introduction of the interventions. However no details on the HH component of these existing programmes were reported.^(72, 73) Chen et al.⁽⁷²⁾ reported the SARS epidemic occurred towards the end of the pre-intervention period (which was accounted for in their analysis) but provided no details on what infection prevention policies were implemented in response. Chun et al.⁽⁷³⁾ reported that a central line-associated BSI intervention that included a HH component was implemented midway through the intervention period, but they reported that this had no significant effect on infection prevalence.

Chen et al.⁽⁷²⁾ conducted a CEA and CBA from a hospital payer's perspective and Chun et al.⁽⁷³⁾ conducted a CBA from a societal perspective. Both were based on a four-year time horizon with a 3% and 5% discount rate, respectively. Both studies were set in a single hospital and included all HCWs.

The annual cost of the interventions were approximately \$39,411 (€43,284) in the Republic of Korea and \$62,145 (€130,686) per year in Taiwan for Chun et al.⁽⁷³⁾ and Chen et al.⁽⁷²⁾ respectively. Both studies included materials costs for the intervention (such as posters, website, leaflets, and ABHR). Chun et al.⁽⁷³⁾ also included additional staff salaries, the cost of caregiving, and productivity losses due to extended hospitalisation and premature death. Chen et al.⁽⁷²⁾ included incentive costs and, in a sensitivity analysis, a staff time opportunity cost.

The costs saved due to avoiding one episode of an HCAI were \$3,877 (\in 8,153) in Taiwan for Chen et al.⁽⁷²⁾ and included the cost of accommodation, materials, and services for MRSA, *Acinetobacter spp.*, and extensively drug-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii* (XDRAB) infections, and \$13,101 (\in 14,389) in the Republic of Korea for Chun et al.⁽⁷³⁾ and included direct medical costs for MRSA infections only.

Hand hygiene adherence rates increased in both studies, from a baseline of 43% to 96% for Chen et al.⁽⁷²⁾ and from 33% to 92% for Chun et al..⁽⁷³⁾ These were accompanied by decreases of 8.9%⁽⁷²⁾ and a 33%⁽⁷³⁾ in HCAI rates, based upon the difference between predicted and observed values.

Both studies reported the intervention to be cost-saving. Chen et al.⁽⁷²⁾ reported an extra cost of \$164 (€344) per HCAI episode prevented, with a resulting saving of \$3,877 (€8,153), this resulted in a total net saving of \$5,289,364 (€11,123,135) over a 45 month period. Chun et al.⁽⁷³⁾ reported a total cost of \$167,495 (€183,957) and a cost-saving of \$851,565 (€935,259), resulting in a net saving of \$684,070 (€751,302) over 18 months.

3.3.2.3 Economic evidence: WHO Plus compared with WHO Compliant

One study in the Netherlands conducted a CEA of a WHO Plus strategy compared with a WHO Compliant strategy.⁽⁷⁵⁾ It was conducted alongside a C-RCT (n=2,733) and included accountability as the additional component. A clinical effectiveness analysis was reported in a separate paper, which is included in the clinical evidence review (see Section 3.2). The study was conducted from a hospital payer's perspective over a one-year time horizon. The study population included nurses only from 67 wards across three hospitals.

Costs relating to both interventions included materials costs and additional staff time (to conduct observations, feedback and to perform additional HH). The WHO Plus intervention had additional personnel costs relating to the salary for a coach and extra time required of managers and role models.

The study reported both the WHO Plus and WHO Compliant strategies improved HH adherence from baseline (19% increased to 52% and 22% increased to 46%, respectively), with a 8.91% mean difference (95% CI: 0.75 to 17.06%) in favour of the WHO Plus. As no HCAI data was collected during the study, estimates of the expected cost saving from the prevention of an

HCAI and the expected reduction in HCAI rates, attributable to each intervention were based on another study.⁽⁸⁶⁾ Two scenarios were used – a 15% and a 30% reduction in HCAI rates.

The cost per ward was $\leq 12,156$ ($\leq 12,727$) for the WHO plus and $\leq 6,659$ ($\leq 6,972$) for the WHO compliant. This resulted in an incremental cost per ward of $\leq 5,497$ ($\leq 5,755$) and an ICER of ≤ 622 (≤ 651) per extra percentage of HH adherence gained. Also reported were ICERs of $\leq 2,074$ ($\leq 2,171$) and $\leq 4,125$ ($\leq 4,319$) per extra percentage reduction in HCAI, based on a 30% and 15% reduction in HCAI, respectively. Based on a WTP of $\leq 5,000$ per percentage reduction in HCAI, the probability that these were cost-effective was estimated at 70% and 90%, respectively.

3.3.3 Methodological quality

A quality assessment of each study included in the systematic review was undertaken using the CHEC list.⁽⁸⁷⁾ The outcomes of these assessments are presented in Table 3-6. Based on the evaluation of the methodology quality, one study from Australia was deemed high quality,⁽⁷⁴⁾ three were of moderate quality^(72, 75, 76) and three were of low quality.^(71, 73, 77)

Common methodological limitations included:

- Inadequate details on the comparators were provided in five studies.^(71, 73, 74, 76, 77)
- Three studies^(71, 75, 77) had insufficient time horizons (one year or less) to account for all relevant costs and outcomes relating to implementing a HH improvement strategy.
- Four studies^(71, 72, 76, 77) did not include all relevant costs for each alternative identified (such as campaign costs or staff costs). In one study, it was unclear if all relevant costs were included as a total cost was reported for the campaign with no details on individual items.⁽⁷³⁾
- Two studies did not report how all costs were measured or provide detailed costs.^(71, 72) In another two studies, it was unclear whether the costs were valued appropriately (one study used data published more than 10 years before their study⁽⁷⁵⁾ and the other⁽⁷³⁾ did not report details on campaign costs).
- Four studies^(71, 75-77) did not value outcomes appropriately, making large assumptions to inform HCAI rates or using QALY data originally valued for a high income setting in a low income setting.
- Two studies^(71, 73) did not conduct incremental analyses.
- Five studies^(71-73, 75, 77) did not subject all important variables to sensitivity analysis.
- Two studies^(72, 73) lacked any discussion relating to the generalizability of the results.

• Six studies⁽⁷¹⁻⁷⁶⁾ lacked any discussion regarding ethical and distributional issues.

Other limitations which were applicable to individual papers included:

- Discounting not applied to all relevant costs.⁽⁷³⁾
- It was unclear if the assumed reduction in HCAI was appropriate for the study setting, given the baseline HH adherence and HCAI rates.⁽⁷⁵⁾

Item	Chen 2011 ⁽⁷²⁾	Chen 2016 ⁽⁷¹⁾	Chun 2016 ⁽⁷³⁾	Graves 2016 ⁽⁷⁴⁾	Huis 2013 ⁽⁷⁵⁾	Le 2015 ⁽⁷⁷⁾	Luangasabatip 2018 ⁽⁷⁶⁾
Is the study population clearly described?	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+
Are competing alternatives clearly described?	+	•	•	•	+	•	-
Is a well-defined research question posed in answerable form?	+	÷	÷	+	+	+	+
Is the economic study design appropriate to the stated objective?	+	÷	•	+	+	+	+
Is the chosen time horizon appropriate to include relevant costs and consequences?	+	•	+	+	-	-	•
Is the actual perspective chosen appropriate?	+	•	•	+	+	+	+
Are all important and relevant costs for each alternative identified?	•	•	Unclear	+	+	•	•
Are all costs measured appropriately in physical units?	•	•	•	•	+	+	•
Are costs valued appropriately?	-	-	Unclear	+	Unclear	+	+
Are all important and relevant outcomes for each alternative identified?	+	•	•	+	+	+	•
Are all outcomes measured appropriately?	+	+	+	+	Unclear	+	+
Are outcomes valued appropriately?	+	-	+	+	-	-	-
Is an incremental analysis of costs and outcomes of alternatives performed?	÷	•	•	÷	÷	÷	+
Are all future costs and outcomes discounted appropriately?	+	•		+	NA	NA	•
Are all important variables, whose values are uncertain, appropriately subjected to sensitivity analysis?	•	•	•	+	•	•	•
Do the conclusions follow from the data reported?	+	÷	÷	+	÷	+	+
Does the study discuss the generalizability of the results to other settings and patient/ client groups?	•	+	•	+	+	+	+
Does the article indicate that there is no potential conflict of interest of study researcher(s) and funder(s)?	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+
Are ethical and distributional issues discussed appropriately?	-	•	•	•	•	+	•

Table 3-6 Economic evidence for review question one: CHEC-list quality assessment



3.3.4 Applicability

Applicability (based on relevance and credibility) was assessed using the ISPOR questionnaire.⁽⁸⁸⁾ The outcomes of these assessments are presented in Table 3-7. No Irish studies were identified. Of the seven identified studies, four were deemed partially applicable.⁽⁷²⁻⁷⁵⁾ The remaining three^(71, 76, 77) were deemed not applicable due to major applicability limitations, such as inappropriate context (low or middle-income country setting and much lower baseline adherence rates), inadequate analysis and reporting, lack of critical data or use of unsuitable data, and inadequate assessment of uncertainty.

The four studies deemed partially applicable contained the following minor limitations:

- All relevant outcomes were not included in two studies.^(73, 74)
- None of the four studies reported evidence to suggest sufficient external model validation was conducted,⁽⁷²⁻⁷⁵⁾ and only one study reported on internal verification.⁽⁷⁴⁾
- Two studies used historical data (from 1994-1995⁽⁷⁵⁾ and 2005⁽⁷²⁾) to inform the cost of HCAI episodes.
- Three studies did not adequately assess the uncertainty of model assumptions (for example, not assessing key parameters).^(72, 73, 75)
- An sufficient level of detail regarding the programme cost (for example, only providing a total cost of the campaign) was provide by two studies.^(72, 73)
- Two studies reported receiving study funding,^(73, 74) with one study providing a statement that the funders had no input into the study.⁽⁷⁴⁾ However, given the intervention and possible motivations, this was unlikely to effect the validity of the studies or their applicability to the Irish context.

Table 5 7 Leonomic evidence for review question one. Is on applicability assessment							
Item	Chen 2011 ⁽⁷²⁾	Chen 2016 ⁽⁷¹⁾	Chun 2016 ⁽⁷³⁾	Graves 2016 ⁽⁷⁴⁾	Huis 2013 ⁽⁷⁵⁾	Le 2015 ⁽⁷⁷⁾	Luangasabatip 2018 ⁽⁷⁶⁾
Is the population relevant?	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Are any critical interventions missing?	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Are any relevant outcomes missing?	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	No
Is the context applicable?	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No
Is external validation of the model sufficient?	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Is internal verification of the model sufficient?	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	No
Does the model have sufficient face validity?	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Is the design of the model adequate?	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Are the data used in populating the model suitable?	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes
Were the analyses adequate?	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Was there adequate assessment of uncertainty?	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes
Was the reporting adequate?	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Was interpretation fair and balanced?	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Were there any potential conflicts of interest?	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Were steps taken to address conflicts?	N/A	N/A	No	Yes	N/A	No	No

Table 3-7 Economic evidence for review c	uestion one: ISPOR applicability assessment
--	---

3.4 Review question one: Discussion and conclusion

3.4.1 Discussion

We identified 24 studies relevant for inclusion in this systematic review of interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene (HH) recommendations. Seventeen relate to clinical effectiveness and seven relate to economic evidence.

Of the 17 clinical studies, five assessed unimodal interventions and 12 assessed multimodal (MM) interventions. Of the 12 assessing multimodal interventions, eight studies referenced the WHO multimodal hand hygiene improvement strategy.⁽¹²⁾

According to the certainty of the evidence, using the GRADE approach, there is low certainty of evidence that implementing a WHO Compliant strategy (that is, three or more of the five key components) compared to usual care will improve hand hygiene adherence. For WHO Plus strategies (all five components plus at least one additional component) there is very low certainty of evidence that adding additional components can lead to additional improvement. This is due to the limited number of studies examining these strategies and the lack of imprecision around the level of improvement in HH adherence. Our results are in line with those of earlier reviews⁽⁸⁹⁻⁹¹⁾ including the review by Gould et al.⁽²⁴⁾ which was used to inform our search strategy. Compared with this review,⁽²⁴⁾ restricting inclusion to RCTs only and the identification of five additional studies did not change the overall conclusions but resulted in an increase in the certainty of evidence, from very low to low, for improvement in HH adherence for WHO Compliant strategies compared with usual care.

Five studies assessed unimodal interventions and reported some improvements in HH adherence rates compared with usual care, but due to serious risk of bias and the limited settings included, there was a very low certainty of evidence. A C-RCT,⁽⁹²⁾ published in October 2019 after our search, of a single-component intervention reported that changing reminder signs weekly or monthly had no effect on HH adherence rates overall compared with hospital units that did not change HH signs throughout the six month intervention period.

The evidence to support the link between an intervention designed to improve HH

adherence and a decrease in HCAI was limited and with mixed results. Four studies examined the effect of interventions on HCAI rates. Two were set in long-term care facilities (LTCFs) and found statistically significant decreases in HCAI rates after implementing a WHO Compliant strategy compared to usual care. Two were set in hospitals, one comparing two different WHO Compliant strategies, finding no statistically significant difference in MDRO infection rates, and one comparing a WHO Plus to a WHO Compliant strategy, finding a statistically significant reduction for primary bloodstream infections and clinical isolates of *Clostridioides difficile*, but not for six other HCAIs assessed. Two studies reported on colonisation rates of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA), one set in a hospital (WHO Plus versus WHO Compliant) and one in a group of LTCFs (WHO Compliant versus usual care), with neither study demonstrating any significant difference in rates. However, the lack of any observed differences may be due to low observed infection and colonisation events in the included studies. These findings are in line with a recent overview of systematic reviews⁽⁹⁰⁾ which reported that six out of 11 systematic reviews that assessed the effectiveness of HH strategies at reducing HCAI reported either mixed or non-significant effects.

This review identified evidence from a range of countries, settings and healthcare workers, suggesting the findings are generalisable. In Ireland, HIQA reported that a multifaceted approach in line with the WHO MM strategy to improving hand hygiene compliance was seen in all hospitals inspected in 2015.⁽⁹³⁾ However, they noted that some hospitals were more advanced than others in achieving and sustaining a culture of good HH practices. When considering the results of the review in the Irish context, it is worth considering the impact of baseline HH adherence rates. One of the included studies⁽⁴⁸⁾ highlighted that a higher baseline rate is associated with smaller effects, which was further explored in a process evaluation study⁽⁹⁴⁾ conducted alongside one of the other studies.⁽⁵²⁾ This was also explored in our analysis, however no trend was evident, which may be due to the low number of included studies (n=6). Existing high baseline levels as reported in some studies are most likely the result of an on-going strong focus on HH improvement in general. Nevertheless, this is important when understanding the potential impact interventions might have in the Irish context. As Irish hospitals are estimated to have a high adherence rate of 92% (95% CI: 91.2 to 92.3%),⁽⁹⁵⁾ these baseline rates are higher than any of the

studies included in this review and are also higher than most of the post-intervention rates in the included studies. Although estimates for Irish LTCFs and primary care centres are not available, they may indeed be lower and thus may derive a greater benefit from the implementation of HH improvement strategies.

Of the seven economic studies, four were partially applicable to the Irish context, three were moderate to high quality. For these three studies, a net economic benefit was demonstrated when implementing a WHO Compliant strategy compared with usual care,⁽⁷⁴⁾ a WHO Plus strategy compared with usual care⁽⁷²⁾ and for a WHO Plus strategy versus a WHO Compliant strategy.⁽⁷⁵⁾

For the first study, an incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) of €23,032 per life-year gained (cost-effective in the Australian context) was reported in relation to implementing a WHO Compliant strategy compared to usual care.⁽⁷⁴⁾ In Ireland there is no official willingness to pay (WTP) threshold for non-pharmaceutical products, however, a WTP threshold of €45,000 per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) is generally employed. Although the Australian study⁽⁷⁴⁾ did not add utility weights to convert life years into QALYs, their result would likely be considered cost-effective in the Irish context. However, this result must be interpreted in the context of several factors. It is based on a before-after study design where baseline adherence rates of the included hospitals are unknown. It is sensitivity to the assumption on the reduction in HCAI rates, with a probability of costeffectiveness of 1% for the two states which saw no improvement in HCAI rates. The second study from Taiwan implemented a WHO Compliant strategy and compared it to usual care,⁽⁷²⁾ with a net benefit saving of €11 million over four years reported. The final study from the Netherlands⁽⁷⁵⁾ compared a WHO Plus to WHO Compliant strategy and reported ICERs of €2,171 and €4,319 per extra percentage reduction in HCAI rate (based on the assumption of a 0.3% or 0.15% reduction in HCAI rate per 1% increase in HH adherence, respectively) and €651 per extra percentage of HH adherence gained. Whether this is cost-effective is unclear, as the results are not directly comparable to interventions for other diseases and therefore cannot be applied to commonly employed WTP thresholds.

Although the results of the economic studies included in this review suggest that strategies

based on WHO compliant and WHO plus strategies are cost-effective, they assume that an increased HH adherence will lead to a decrease in HCAIs rates. The evidence of increased HH adherence rates leading to decreased rates of HCAIs has not been clearly shown in the clinical review and if not realised, may impact of the cost-effectiveness of these strategies in the Irish setting, particularly in a context of high baseline adherence. However as previously noted, to sustain high levels of adherence ongoing HH improvement interventions are likely to be needed.

Studies were conducted in a variety of settings including; hospitals, LTCFs and primary healthcare centres, and included a wide range of healthcare workers. Furthermore, the majority of studies were multicentre studies and included data collected from several European hospitals including Irish hospitals. This suggests the findings of this review are generalisable to the context of the NCEC National Clinical Guideline for HCAI in all healthcare settings. However, heterogeneity in strategies and variations in baseline adherence rates suggests the extent of the effect may be reduced in certain Irish contexts.

3.4.2 Strengths and limitations of this review

Strengths of this systematic review include the comprehensive search strategy based on an earlier review, the addition of economic evidence and the inclusion of meta-analyses.

A limitation of this systematic review would be the restriction to RCTs and therefore, the exclusion of available data. However, limiting the analysis to RCTs removes the inherent biases present in other study designs and has led to a greater certainty in the evidence. In addition, a 2019 systematic review⁽⁹¹⁾ which included 25 non-RCT design studies aligns with the findings of this review, that a WHO Compliant strategy, when implemented correctly, is effective at improving HH adherence.

3.4.3 Future research

Further research should focus on large long term studies with robust designs to investigate whether the improvement in HH adherence rates leads to improvements in HCAI and colonisation rates and whether these effects are prolonged over greater time periods. Additionally, future research could investigate which interventions are more cost-effective in situations of high baseline adherence rates.
3.4.4 Conclusion

The findings from the 17 included clinical studies which looked at interventions to improve hand hygiene adherence in healthcare workers is of very low to low certainty overall. The findings show a consistent trend suggesting that implementation of any intervention will result in some improvement in hand hygiene adherence. Implementing a multimodal approach, especially one informed by the WHO framework, will likely result in improvements compared with usual care. The evidence is less clear on whether including additional components beyond those in the WHO will lead to additional improvements. From the review of economic studies included, implementing the WHO framework is likely to be cost-effective or cost-saving, if improvements in HCAIs can be realised.

4 Review question two: Effectiveness of single patient rooms in reducing the incidence of healthcare-associated infection

This chapter summarises the available evidence on the clinical- and cost-effectiveness of single patient rooms (SPRs) accommodation compared with multi-bed rooms (MBRs) accommodation at reducing the incidence of healthcare-associated infections (HCAIs). The following research question was addressed:

In acute hospital inpatients, does the use of all SPR accommodation compared with the use of MBRs or mixed SPRs and MBRs accommodation result in reduced incidence of HCAIs?

4.1 Search results

The search strategy identified 3,155 potentially relevant records. After removing duplicates, 2,314 records were screened, with 2,271 references excluded based on titles and abstracts. Of the 43 full-text articles assessed for eligibility, 33 articles were excluded according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria, as outlined in Sections 2.1. A list of excluded studies is available in Appendix 3: Excluded studies.

This resulted in 10 articles identified for inclusion in this review.⁽⁹⁶⁻¹⁰⁵⁾ Three articles^(100, 101, 103) reported findings relating to the same dataset and are considered as one study in this review. This study is, from here forth, referred to by the earliest publication.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ Thus, there are eight unique studies in this systematic review. Seven studies investigated clinical-effectiveness,^(96, 98, 99, 102, 104, 105) with one of these also investigating the economic impact⁽¹⁰¹⁾ while one additional study conducted an economic cost-benefit analysis only.⁽⁹⁷⁾ The PRISMA flow chart outlining the search process is depicted in Figure 8.

Figure 8 Review question two: PRISMA flowchart – Effectiveness of single patient rooms in reducing incidence of HCAIs



* Three articles reported on a single study which investigated both clinical and economic outcomes. See section 4.1 for details.

4.2 Clinical evidence for review question two: Results

4.2.1 Characteristics of included studies

4.2.1.1 Study country

Of the seven clinical effectiveness studies, four were conducted in the UK, ^(99, 101, 104, 105) and one each in Australia, ⁽⁹⁸⁾ Canada⁽¹⁰²⁾ and Denmark. ⁽⁹⁶⁾ Three of the UK studies ^(99, 104, 105) were conducted at different periods in hospitals all within the same health board in Wales. See Table 4-1 for details on the characteristics of the included studies.

4.2.1.2 Study design

Two studies were interrupted time series (ITS) design, accounting for existing temporal trends (see section **Error! Reference source not found.**). One ITS study included two control hospitals and hospital group-level data,⁽¹⁰¹⁾ while the other did not include a control hospital but included regional level data as a comparison.⁽¹⁰²⁾ Three studies were uncontrolled before-after studies.^(96, 98, 104) The two remaining studies were cohort studies.^(99, 105) The data was prospectively gathered for four of the studies^(96, 99, 101, 105) with the remaining three studies^(98, 102, 104) using retrospective data gathering methods.

4.2.1.3 Intervention and comparison groups

Five of the studies^(96, 98, 101, 102, 104) took place during a hospital move where the old hospital site was used as the control group. Two studies^(99, 105) compared a newly built hospital to an existing hospital in the same health board. All intervention settings consisted of 100% SPRs and control settings ranged from 0% to 65% SPR, depending on study and or ward. Four studies were conducted in single centres;^(96, 98, 102, 104) two compared two hospitals,^(99, 105) and one study compared three hospitals.⁽¹⁰¹⁾

4.2.1.4 Study population

The included study populations varied across the studies. Four studies restricted inclusion to target populations at a higher risk of adverse events which resulted in inclusion of patients with dementia,^(99, 105) patients 75 years or older⁽⁹⁶⁾ and patients from orthopaedic wards only.⁽⁹⁸⁾ While three studies included patients from more general and mixed settings, which included all wards;⁽¹⁰²⁾ the acute assessment unit, older persons, and surgery

wards;⁽¹⁰¹⁾ and general medical and care of the elderly wards.⁽¹⁰⁴⁾

Author (year)	Reported aim of study	Study period and	Intervention and comparison Participants and type of wards		Outcome(s)		
Country		duration	groups				
Study design							
Interrupted time series analysis studies							
Maben (2015)(101)	To identify the impact	36 months (Jan	Move to a new hospital	All patients (n=67,258) from 3	HCAIs incidence:		
UK	of the move to a newly	2010 to Dec 2012)		matched wards from each hospital:	C. difficile		
Ducanastina	built acute NHS	2C manthly times	Intervention: New 100% SPR	acute admissions unit, older			
Prospective	with 100% SPRs on	36 monthly time	nospital	persons ward, and surgical wards.	Adverse events:		
	nationt safety and	and 15 after	Control: Old 100% MBB bosnital		 Medication errors 		
	costs		as well as 1 steady state hospital				
	0303.		(90% MBR) 1 hospital undergoing				
			renovations (increased proportion				
			of SPRs from 14% to 38%).				
			national level data from the NHS,				
			and trust level data from local				
			NHS Trust.				
McDonald	To examine the	63 months (2013 to	Move to a new hospital	General and specialised patients	HCAIs incidence:		
(2019) ⁽¹⁰²⁾	outcome of changing	2019)		from all wards (n=49,944). Number	C. difficile		
Canada	from a hospital design		Intervention: New 100% SPR	of wards not reported.	MRSA		
	of multiple occupancy	63 monthly time	hospital		■ VRE		
Retrospective	rooms to 100% SPR on	points, 27 before			HCAI Colonisations:		
	the incidence of HCAI	and 36 after.	Control: Old 35 to 80% MBR		MRSA		
	incidence.		hospital (depending on ward)		VRE		
Uncontrolled Before-	-after studies						
Blandford (2019)	To investigate the risk	15 months (Sep	Move to a new hospital	Patients ≥75 years old from 2	Adverse events:		
(96)	of delirium among	2016 to Dec 2017)		geriatrics wards before (n=461) and	Risk of delirium		
Denmark	patients \geq 75 years		Intervention: New 100% SPR	2 after (n=553).	Time to recovery		
	admitted to a geriatric	Before: 6 months	hospital		from a patient's		
Prospective	department in relation	After: 9 months			first delirium		
D (2212) ⁽⁰⁸⁾	to SPR versus MBR.		Control: Old 89% MBR hospital.		episode		
Davis (2019) ⁽⁹⁰⁾	To evaluate the impact	15 months (date	Hospital move	All patients from orthopaedic ward	HCAIs Incidence:		
Australia	of a new inpatient	not reported)		(819 patients before and 750	■ MRSA		
	single-room		Intervention: New 100% SPR	patients across 28 SPRs after).	Adverse events:		

Table 4-1 Clinical evidence for question two: Characteristics of included studies

Author (year) Country	Reported aim of study	Study period and duration	Intervention and comparison groups	Participants and type of wards	Outcome(s)
Study design					
Retrospective	orthopaedic ward on patient outcomes.	Before: 6 months Washout: 3 months	hospital	Number of wards before move not reported.	Pressure ulcerFalls
		After: 6 months	Control: Old 100% MBR hospital.		 Unwitnessed falls Medical calls
Singh (2015) ⁽¹⁰⁴⁾	To compare the	36 months (May	Move to a new hospital	Patients from 2 wards from before	Adverse events:
UK	outcome of inpatient	2010 to Apr 2013)		(123 beds and 61,330 bed days)	Falls
	falls occurring in units		Intervention: New 100% SPR	and after move (144 beds and	 Mortality
Retrospective	with 100% SPR and	Before: 18 months	hospital	59,340 bed days): general medical	 Hip fractures
	MBR wards.	After: 18 months		and care of the elderly wards.	
			Control: Old mostly MBR hospital		
			building (% not reported).		
Cohort studies					
Knight (2016) ⁽⁹⁹⁾	To investigate the	2 months (May and	Hospital comparison	50 consecutive patients per	Adverse events:
UK	incidence and outcome	June 2015)		hospital with known dementia	Falls
	of inpatient falls		Intervention: New 100% SPR	admitted with acute illness from	Injuries
Prospective	prospectively in	Intervention: 2	hospital	any ward. Number of wards not	 Hip fractures
	patients with dementia	months		reported.	 Mortality
	treated in SPR	Control: 2 months	Control: Older 100% MBR hospital		(inpatient, 30 day)
	compared with MBR.		from the same health board.		
Young (2017) ⁽¹⁰⁵⁾	To profile and compare	3 months (May to	Hospital comparison	50 older patients per hospital with	Adverse events:
UK	the clinical outcomes of	July 2016)		diagnosed dementia admitted for	Falls
	acutely unwell patients		Intervention: New 100% SPR local	acute illness.	 Mortality
Prospective	with dementia	Intervention: 3	general hospital		Fractures
	admitted to 2 different	months			
	hospital environments	Control: 3 months	Control: Older 100% MBR district		
	(SPR versus MBR).		general hospital from the same		
			health board.		

Key: *C. difficile - Clostridioides difficile*; ITS - interrupted time series; MBR - multi-bed room; MRSA - methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*; SPR - single patient room; VRE - vancomycin-resistant *enterococcus*.

4.2.2 Clinical evidence: Primary outcome – reduction in HCAI

Three studies investigated the impact of SPRs on the incidence rate of HCAIs.^(98, 101, 102) These can be seen in Table 4-2.

Three studies reported results from analysis on methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) infections in SPRs compared to MBRs. Two found no significant difference in the number of infections (SPR versus MBR: 0 of out 750 patients versus 3 out of 819 patients; p=0.25)⁽⁹⁸⁾ or in the incidence rate ratio (IRR 0.89, 95% CI: 0.34 to 2.29) when SPR was compared to MBR settings.⁽¹⁰²⁾ The third study reported just one MRSA case over the 36 months, which was insufficient for analysis.⁽¹⁰¹⁾

Two of the studies reported on *C. difficile* infections.^(101, 102) The first study found a significant increase in one SPR ward (older persons ward) and no significant change in the other two SPR wards, when compared to the MRB wards in the old hospital before the hospital move.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ However, the authors reported the length of stay decreased from 37 to 20 days and the mean Charlson index of diagnoses score decreased significantly in the older person's ward, which suggested a substantial change in case-mix. This was reported as problematic when attributing the changes in *C. difficile* infections to the intervention. Changes in infection rates in two non-equivalent control hospitals were also investigated with no significant change detected in *C. difficile* infections over the study period. While at a national level, there was a 56% reduction in *C. difficile* infection rates (IRR 0.95, 95% CI: 0.51 to 1.76) between SPR and MRB design.⁽¹⁰²⁾

One study investigated the number of vancomycin-resistant *Enterococcus* (VRE) infections, reporting an immediate reduction in infections after the move to a 100% SPR hospital design (IRR 0.30, 95% CI: 0.12 to 0.75) which did not significantly change again for the 36 months following the move (IRR 0.95, 95% CI: 0.88 to 1.00).⁽¹⁰²⁾

 Table 4-2 Clinical evidence for question two: Primary outcome results relating to reduction in HCAI rates

Author (year) Study design	Analysis	Outcome(s)
Davis (2019) ⁽⁹⁸⁾ Before-after	Unadjusted analysis.	Primary outcome (SPR versus MBR) MRSA infections: 0 cases out of 750 patients versus 3 cases out of 819 patients; p=0.25

Clinical and cost-effectiveness of healthcare-associated infection interventions: a systematic review Health Research Board – Collaboration in Ireland for Clinical Effectiveness Reviews

Author (year)	Analysis	Outcome(s)
Study design		
study		
Orthopaedic ward move to new hospital		
Maben (2015) ⁽¹⁰¹⁾ ITS study Move to a new hospital	36 monthly data collection points (20 before and 16 after). Five study groups in total: intervention hospital, new build control hospital, steady state control, national level data from the NHS, and trust level data from local NHS Trust. Interrupted time-series analysis augmented by statistical process control charts using	Primary outcomes (intervention hospital) MRSA infections: Insufficient data - 1 case documented for the entire study period. C. difficile infections: Increase in older persons ward only (1 of 3 study wards). Demonstrated by a special-cause variation in the time series analysed. Primary outcomes (new build control hospital) MRSA infections: Insufficient events for analysis C. difficile infections: No increase in any ward (0 of 3 study wards). No special-cause variation in time series analysed was demonstrated. Primary outcomes (steady state control hospital) MRSA infections: Insufficient events for analysis. C. difficile infections: No increase in any ward (0 of 3 study wards). No special-cause variation in time series analysed was demonstrated. Primary outcomes (steady state control hospital) MRSA infections: No increase in any ward (0 of 3 study wards). No special-cause variation in time series analysed was demonstrated. Primary outcomes (NHS Trust - trust level data) MRSA infections: Not reported
	volume-standardised rates to identify special-cause variations = 1) 1 data point outside the confidence limits or 2) 8 or more data points above the centre line. Wards were matched for age, length of stay and the percentage of diagnosis included in	MRSA infections: Not reported. C. difficile infections: Not reported. Primary outcomes (NHS England - national level data) MRSA infections: Decrease from 279 cases (before move) to 92 cases (after move). C. difficile infections: Decreased from 3,489 (before move) to 1,525 (after move), which represents a 56% reduction over the entire study period.
McDonald	Comorbidity Index.	Primary outcomes (SPR versus MRR)
(2019) ⁽¹⁰²⁾ ITS study Move to a new	62 data collection points (26 before and 36 after). Poisson regression models with volume-	MRSA infections: 1.2 per 10,000 patient-days (0.8 to 1.6) versus 1.2 per 10,000 patient-days (0.8 to 1.8) Trend over 26 months before move: IRR 0.98 (95% CI: 0.94 to 1.03) – not statistically significant Immediate level change following move: IRR 0.89 (95% CI:
nospital	standardised rates per 10,000 patient-days. Results are reported as	0.34 to 2.29) – not statistically significant Trend over 36 months after move: IRR 1.02 (95% CI: 0.97 to 1.07) – not statistically significant
	IRRs comparing consecutive times with 95% CIs.	<i>C. difficile</i> infections: 7.0 per 10,000 patient-days (6.1 to 8.0) versus 10.8 per 10,000 patient-days (9.5 to 12.2) Trend over 26 months before move: IRR 0.99 (95% CI: 0.97 to 1.01) – not statistically significant
	were used to control	0.51 to 1.76) – not statistically significant

Clinical and cost-effectiveness of healthcare-associated infection interventions: a systematic review Health Research Board – Collaboration in Ireland for Clinical Effectiveness Reviews

Author (year)	Analysis	Outcome(s)
Study design		
	for the underlying regional temporal trends for <i>C. difficile</i>	Trend over 36 months after move: IRR 1.00 (95% CI: 0.98 to 1.02) – not statistically significant
	and VRE. For MRSA, community acquired infection data was used.	VRE infections: 0.4 per 10,000 patient-days (0.2 to 0.7) versus 2.5 per 10,000 patient-days (1.9 to 3.3) Trend over 26 months before move: IRR 1.01 (95% CI: 0.98 to 1.04) – not statistically significant Immediate level change following move: IRR 0.30 (95% CI: 0.12 to 0.75) – statistically significant Trend over 36 months after move: IRR 0.95 (95% CI: 0.88 to 1.00) – not statistically significant

Key: *C. difficile* - *Clostridioides difficile*; IRR - incidence rate ratio; ITS – interrupted time series; MRSA - methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*; VRE - vancomycin-resistant enterococci.

4.2.3 Clinical evidence: Primary outcome – adverse events

Six studies investigated the impact of SPRs compared with MBRs on adverse events.^(96, 98, 99, 101, 104, 105) Most studies included multiple adverse events and these varied between studies. Outcomes reported were falls (n=5),^(98, 99, 101, 104, 105) fractures (n=3),^(99, 104, 105) mortality (n=3),^(99, 104, 105) pressure injuries (n=2),^(98, 101) delirium (n=1),⁽⁹⁶⁾ medical deterioration calls (n=1)⁽⁹⁸⁾ and medical errors (n=1).⁽¹⁰¹⁾ See Table 4-3 for all results.

Five studies reported analysis relating to hospital-associated falls, (98, 99, 101, 104, 105) with three of these studies including results relating to fractures.^(99, 104, 105) Maben et al.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ conducted a time series analysis and found an immediate increase in reported falls following the move to SPRs in two of the three study wards (older persons ward and acute assessment unit) when compared with the period before the move. However, this was not sustained with fall rates decreasing to the previous levels after seven to nine months. As noted previously, the older person's ward recorded a decrease in length of stay as well an increase in the proportion of orthopaedic trauma patients (orthopaedics/trauma HRG subgroup) from 4.6% to 24.8%, suggesting a substantial change in the ward case-mix. Additionally, of the two non-equivalent control hospitals, one experienced a decrease, and the other remained the same. While the hospital group-level data showed an increase of 65% during the same time period which was reported to coincide with overall increase in patients at risk of falls accessing services during that period. Singh et al.⁽¹⁰⁴⁾ conducted an adjusted analysis, controlling for age and sex, and reported 10.32 additional falls per 1,000 patient-bed days in the SPR unit compared with the MBR unit (p<0.01). A statistically significant increase in number of falls per faller (2.33 versus 1.66; p<0.001) and hip fractures (0.04 versus 0.15;

p<0.01) were also reported in the SPR unit compared to the MBR unit. Three studies^(98, 99, 105) conducted unadjusted analyses, with two of the studies reporting no significant increase in rate of falls,^(98, 105) unwitnessed falls,⁽⁹⁸⁾ patients that fell⁽¹⁰⁵⁾ or number of fractures⁽¹⁰⁵⁾ when the SPR groups were compared with MBR groups. The remaining study reported the number of patients who sustained an inpatient fall at the two sites was similar (p=0.83), however, there was a significantly higher number of falls per person, 3.4 (± 2.75) in SPR compared with 1.5 (± 0.83) in MBR, p=0.03.⁽⁹⁹⁾ Number of days until first fall was not significantly different (p=0.89). The authors also measured the impact of falls, reporting there was no significant difference between the two designs in the number of minor injuries (p=0.65), major injuries (p>0.95) or hip fractures (p>0.95).

Three studies investigated mortality.^(99, 104, 105) All three conducted unadjusted analysis and all reported no significant increase in inpatient mortality,⁽¹⁰⁵⁾ 30-day^(99, 104) and one-year mortality^(99, 104) when SPRs were compared with MBRs.

Two studies reported findings relating to hospital associated pressure injuries.^(98, 101) Maben et al.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ conducted a time series analysis and reported no increase in pressure ulcers in any of the SPR wards compared to MBR wards. While Davis et al.⁽⁹⁸⁾ conducted an unadjusted analysis and demonstrated a higher number of pressure injuries in SPR compared to MBR, however this was not statistically significant (2.5% versus 1.6%; p=0.24).

One study by Blandford et al.⁽⁹⁶⁾ investigated the risk of delirium among older patients admitted to a geriatric department following a move to SPRs with data collection consisting of six months in MBRs before the move and nine months in SPRs after the move.⁽⁹⁶⁾ After adjusting for age, comorbidity, housing conditions, prior diagnosis of dementia, systemic inflammatory response syndrome criteria and main diagnosis, the risk of developing delirium was lower in the SPR wards when compared with MBR wards (HR 0.66, 95% CI: 0.48 to 0.93; p=0.02) while the time to the first instance of delirium was not significantly different (HR 1.06, 95% CI: 0.86 to 1.32; p=0.57).

One study investigated medical errors using time series analysis in three wards.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ Maben et al. reported an increase in medical errors in one of the study wards in the intervention hospital immediately following the move. However, this increase was temporary and

returned to before move levels after 7 to 9 months. No change in trends of medical errors were demonstrated in any of the control hospitals.

One study reported results from an unadjusted analysis which demonstrated a higher number of medical deterioration calls in the SPR ward when compared with the MBR ward (77 calls from 750 patients versus 178 calls from 819 patients; test for statistical significance not performed).⁽⁹⁸⁾

Author (year)	Analysis	Outcome(s)
Blandford (2019) ⁽⁹⁶⁾ Prospective cohort study Geriatric department moved to a new hospital	Cox regression model - adjusted for age, comorbidity, housing conditions, prior diagnosis of dementia, systemic inflammatory response syndrome criteria and main diagnosis.	SPR versus MBR Developing delirium (adjusted): aHR = 0.66 (95% CI: 0.48 to 0.93; p=0.02) Time to first instance of delirium (adjusted): aHR = 1.06 (95% CI: 0.86 to 1.32; p=0.57) Cumulative incidence of delirium in the first 14 days: 16% versus 29%
Davis (2019) ⁽⁹⁸⁾	Unadjusted	SPR versus MBR
Before-after study	statistical	patients; $p=0.60$
,	significance were	Unwitnessed falls: 9/14 (64%) falls versus 16/19 (84%)
Orthopaedic ward	conducted for most	falls; p=0.49
move to new hospital	of the outcomes.	Pressure injuries: 19/750 (2.5%) patients versus 13/819
		(1.0%) patients; p=0.24 Medical deterioration calls: 77/750 (10%) versus
		178/819 (22%): test for statistical significance not
		performed.
Knight (2016) ⁽⁹⁹⁾	Unadjusted	SPR versus MBR
Prospective cohort	analysis. Test of statistical	Total falls: 53 versus 23; test for statistical significance not performed
study	significance were	Proportion of patients who fell: 32% versus 30%;
	conducted for most	p=0.83
New general hospital	of the outcomes.	Number of falls per faller: 3.4 (± 2.75) versus 1.5 (±
compared to an older		0.83); p=0.04
existing hospital		Proportion of falls with no injury: 62.2% versus 65.2%
		(SD 12 4): n=0.89
		Minor injury per fall: 19/53 (35.8%) versus 7/23
		(30.4%); p=0.65
		Major injury per fall: 0 versus 0; p>0.95
		Hip fracture per fall: 1/53 versus 1/23; p>0.95
		Mortality (inpatient): 0 versus 0; p>0.95
		n=0.33
Maben (2015) ⁽¹⁰¹⁾	36 monthly data	SPR versus MBR (Intervention hospital)
	collection points	Falls: Increase in older persons ward and acute
ITS study	(20 before and 16	assessment unit (2 of 3 study wards). Demonstrated by
	after).	a special-cause variation in the time series analysed.

 Table 4-3 Clinical evidence for question two: Primary outcome - adverse events

Analysis	Outcome(s)
Interrupted time- series analysis augmented by statistical process control charts using volume- standardised rates to identify special- cause variations = 1) one data point outside the confidence limits or 2) 8 or more data points above the centre line. Wards were matched for age, length of stay and the percentage of diagnosis included	This increase was temporary and returned to before move levels after 7 to 9 months. Medical errors: Increase in acute assessment unit (1 of 3 study wards). Demonstrated by a special-cause variation in the time series analysed. This increase was temporary and returned to before move levels after 7 to 9 months. Pressure ulcers: Increase in older persons ward only (1 of 3 study wards). Demonstrated by a special-cause variation in the time series analysed. <u>Trend over study period (new build control hospital)</u> Falls: No increase in any ward (0 of 3 study wards). No special-cause variation demonstrated in time series analysis. Medical errors: No increase in any ward (0 of 3 study wards). No special-cause variation demonstrated in time series analysis. Pressure ulcers: No increase in any ward (0 of 3 study wards). No special-cause variation demonstrated in time series analysis. Pressure ulcers: No increase in any ward (0 of 3 study wards). No special-cause variation demonstrated in time series analysis. Pressure ulcers: No increase in any ward (0 of 3 study wards). No special-cause variation demonstrated in time series analysis. Trend over study period (steady state control hospital) Falls: Decrease in older persons ward and acute
diagnosis included in the Charlson Comorbidity Index.	Falls: Decrease in older persons ward and acuteassessment unit (2 of 3 study wards). Demonstrated bya special-cause variation in the time series analysisMedical errors: No increase in any ward (0 of 3 studywards). No special-cause variation demonstrated intime series analysis.Pressure ulcers: No increase in any ward (0 of 3 studywards). No special-cause variation demonstrated intime series analysis.Trend over time (NHS Trust - hospital group level data)Falls (per 1,000 bed-days): increased by 65% from 4.74in Apr 2011 (MBR) to 7.84 falls in Sept 2013 (SPR),which coincides with overall increase of patients at riskof falls at Trust-level (correlation = 0.68)Medical errors: Not reportedPressure ulcers: Not reportedPressure ulcers: Not reportedTrend over study period (NHS England - national leveldata)Ealls: Not reported
	Medical errors: Not reported Pressure ulcers: Not reported
Age and sex adjusted mean falls per 1,000 patient- bed days. Other analyses unadjusted. Test of statistical significance were conducted for most of the outcomes.	SPR versus MBR Falls per 1,000 patient-bed days (adjusted): 15.83 (95% CI: 14.43 to 17.4) versus 5.51 (95% CI 3.34 to 7.68); p<0.01
	Analysis Interrupted time- series analysis augmented by statistical process control charts using volume- standardised rates to identify special- cause variations = 1) one data point outside the confidence limits or 2) 8 or more data points above the centre line. Wards were matched for age, length of stay and the percentage of diagnosis included in the Charlson Comorbidity Index. Age and sex adjusted mean falls per 1,000 patient- bed days. Other analyses unadjusted. Test of statistical significance were conducted for most of the outcomes.

Author (year)	Analysis	Outcome(s)
		Mortality (1 year): 41.1% versus 47.1%; p=0.12
Young (2017) ⁽¹⁰⁵⁾	Unadjusted	SPR versus MBR
	analysis. Test of	Falls: 12 versus 8; p=0.18
Prospective cohort	statistical	Patients who fell: 6/43 (14%) versus 6/46 (13%); p=0.57
study	significance were	Fractures: No fractures occurred in either group
	conducted for most	Inpatient mortality: 4/43 (9%) versus 9/46 (20%);
	of the outcomes.	p=0.13

Key: aHR – adjusted hazard ratio; MBR – multi-bed room; NHS – National Health Service UK; SPR – single patient room

4.2.4 Clinical evidence: Secondary outcome – reduction in AMRO colonisation

One study investigated the impact of SPRs on colonisation rates by MRSA and VRE.⁽¹⁰²⁾ Statistically significant reductions were demonstrated for MRSA (IRR 0.57, 95% CI: 0.33 to 0.96) and for VRE (IRR 0.25, 95% CI: 0.19 to 0.34) colonisation rates immediately following the move to a new hospital. The rates did not significantly change from the lower level during the 36 months following the move for both MRSA (IRR 1.01, 95% CI: 0.98 to 1.04) and VRE (IRR 1.01, 95% CI: 1.00 to 1.03). See Table 4-4.

Author (year)	Analysis	Outcome(s)
Study design		
McDonald	62 data collection points (26	SPR versus MBR
(2019) ⁽¹⁰²⁾	before and 36 after)	Mean MRSA colonisations per 10,000 patient-days:
		3.5 (95% CI: 2.9 to 4.2) versus 5.9 (95% CI: 4.9 to 7.0)
ITS study	Poisson regression models with	Township then do of MDCA colonization even three
Movo to a pow	10 000 patient days	time periods:
hospital	10,000 patient-days.	Trend over 26 months before the move: IRR 1 01
nospital	Results are reported as IRRs	(95% CI: 1.00 to 1.03)
	comparing consecutive times with	Trend immediately following the move: IRR 0.57
	95% Cls.	(95% CI: 0.33 to 0.96)
		Trend over 36 month period after the move: IRR
	Regional trend data were used to	1.01 (95% CI: 0.98 to 1.04)
	control for the underlying regional	
	rates For MPSA community	<u>SPR versus MBR</u> Mean VPE colonication per 10,000 patient days:
	acquired infection data was used	$6.6.(95\% \text{ Cl} \cdot 5.7 \text{ to } 7.5)$ versus 35.0.(95% Cl · 32.6 to
		37.6)
		Temporal trends over three time periods:
		Trend over 26 months before the move (26 months):
		IRR 0.99 (95% CI: 0.98 to 1.0)
		Trend immediately following the move: IRR 0.25
		(95% CI: U.19 TO U.34) Trend over 26 month pariod after the moves IPP
		1.01 (95% CI: 1.00 to 1.03)

Table 4-4 Clinical evidence for question two: Secondary outcomes - HCAI colonisation

aureus; VRE - vancomycin-resistant enterococci.

4.2.5 Methodological quality of included studies

The Cochrane EPOC risk of bias tool⁽²⁵⁾ was used to appraise the methodological quality of the included ITS studies and the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale⁽²⁹⁾ was used for the before-after and cohort studies.

4.2.5.1 Interrupted time series studies

Following the guidelines of the Cochrane EPOC risk of bias tool the two included ITS studies were rated across seven domains (see Figure 9 and Figure 10).^(101, 102)





Intervention independent of other changes

Both studies^(101, 102) were at a high risk of bias. There were changes in case mix, caseload, ward sizes and staffing levels which could have impacted rates of HCAI and adverse events and these were not controlled for in the analysis. In addition to ongoing quality improvement efforts in the study hospital, such as improving hand hygiene and increasing the number of alcohol rinse dispensers, one of these studies⁽¹⁰²⁾ reported introducing new infection prevention policies following the move. This included using hydrogen peroxide vapour during room discharge in local outbreaks of *C. difficile* infection or VRE infection, and contact isolation in SPRs.

Shape of the intervention pre-specified

The two studies were at a low risk of bias as the periods before and after the move were clearly defined.

Intervention unlikely to affect data collection

One study⁽¹⁰²⁾ was at a low risk of bias while the other⁽¹⁰¹⁾ was at an unclear risk of bias due

to a lack of a standard approach to gather incidence data across the four included hospitals and regional surveillance data.

Knowledge of the allocated interventions adequately prevented during the study

Both studies were at a low risk of bias due to the nature of the intervention; knowledge was unlikely to bias the outcome measures.

Incomplete outcome data

One study⁽¹⁰¹⁾ was at a low risk of bias as the methods used for managing missing data were reported and were deemed appropriate. While for the other study the risk of bias was unclear due to not reporting necessary details to allow an assessment.⁽¹⁰²⁾

Selective outcome reporting

Both studies were at a low risk of bias for selective outcome reporting.

Other bias

No other risks of bias were identified in either study.





4.2.5.2 Cohort and before-after studies

Following the guidelines of the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale quality appraisal tool,⁽²⁹⁾ we assessed the quality of three cohort studies^(96, 99, 105) and two uncontrolled before-after studies^(98, 104) across three domains (see Table 4-5 for a summary of risks of bias). Overall, three studies^(96, 99, 104) were classified as good quality, one study⁽⁹⁸⁾ as fair quality and one study⁽¹⁰⁵⁾ as poor quality.

Selection

There were concerns about four of the five studies relating to the generalisability of the study populations to adult patients based in hospital inpatient wards in acute settings.^(96, 98, 99, 105) This was due to the narrow inclusion criteria aimed at targeting elderly patients,^(96, 105) patients with dementia^(99, 105) or orthopaedic patients.⁽⁹⁸⁾ In addition, two studies^(98, 104) which evaluated inpatient falls did not measure for prior history of falls which may have introduced selection bias.

Comparability

There were concerns about three studies relating to comparability of the intervention and control groups.^(98, 99, 105) One of the studies did not control for comparability at design stage and significant differences existed relating to the place of original residency which may have resulted in selection bias.⁽¹⁰⁵⁾ While three studies did not control for age and either case mix or comorbidity in their analysis.^(98, 99, 105)

Outcome

There were concerns about three studies relating to outcome measurement.^(96, 98, 99) The first study⁽⁹⁸⁾ relied on data collection, which although prospectively gathered, was unblinded. The second study⁽⁹⁹⁾ reported a lack of rigorous collection of falls data in the control hospital compared to the intervention hospital. In comparison, the third study⁽⁹⁸⁾ did not make any statement or reference to allow assessment of the completeness of data.

Health Research Board – Collaboration in Ireland for Clinical Effectiveness Reviews

Table 4-5 Clinical evidence for review question two: Summary of the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale risk of bias scores for cohort and before-after studies

Study		Select	ion		Comp	arability		Outcome		Overall
	Exposed cohort representative	Selection of non- exposed cohort	Ascertainment of exposure	Outcome not present at beginning	Comparability of cohorts in design phase	Comparability of cohorts in analysis phase^	Assessment of outcome	Follow-up sufficient for outcome to occur	Adequate follow-up	Total stars (Quality)
Blandfort (2019) ⁽⁹⁶⁾	Over 75 years	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	Prospective and not blinded.	\$	\$	7 stars (Good)
Davis (2019) ⁽⁹⁸⁾	Orthopaedic patients.	☆	☆	History of falls on admission was not measured.	\$	Did not adjust for age, case mix or comorbidity.	☆	☆	No statement.	5 stars (Fair)
Knight (2016) ⁽⁹⁹⁾	Patients with known dementia.	\$	☆	\$	\$	Did not adjust for age, case mix or comorbidity.	Reported a lack of rigorous collection of falls data in MBR group.	☆	¢	6 stars (Good)
Singh (2015) ⁽¹⁰⁴⁾	*	☆	☆	History of falls on admission was not measured.	*	\$	☆	☆	☆	8 stars (Good)
Young (2017) ⁽¹⁰⁵⁾	Older patients with diagnosed dementia.	☆	☆	\$	Significant difference at baseline for place of original residence.	Did not adjust for age, case mix or comorbidity.	Å	Å	Å	6 stars (Poor)

^Star given if study controlled for or adjusted for at least age, case mix or comorbidity.

Note: When no star allocated rationale is presented.

Good quality: 3 or 4 stars in selection, 1 or 2 stars in comparability, and 2 or 3 stars in outcomes.

Fair quality: 2 stars in selection, 1 or 2 stars in comparability, and 2 or 3 stars in outcomes.

Poor quality: 0 or 1 star(s) in selection, or 0 stars in comparability, or 0 or 1 star(s) in outcomes.

4.2.6 Certainty of the evidence

We assessed the overall certainty of the evidence for question two of the review (*Does the use of all SPR accommodation for acute hospital inpatients compared with use of MBRs or mixed SPRs and MBRs result in reduced incidence of HCAIs?*). A narrative summary of findings table was created for the following primary outcomes: HCAI infection rates (Table 4-6) and adverse events (Table 4-7). According to the GRADE approach, observational studies should initially be graded as low-quality evidence due to the inherent limitations in their study design, while RCTs should be graded as high quality.⁽¹⁰⁶⁾ Both study designs can then be adjusted up or down according to other factors, including risk of bias and imprecision.

Overall the certainty of the evidence is 'very low' owing to a high risk of bias in the various study designs, a high risk of confounding in the observational studies and lack of adjustment and or control at the design and or analysis phase, as well as a high risk of bias due to the intervention not being independent of changes and imprecision.

Table 4-6 Clinical evidence for review question two: Grade summary of findings table for reduction of HCAI in single patient rooms compared with multi-bed rooms

wards

Patient or population: adult patients based in inpatient Comparison: multi-bed room accommodation or a mix of multi-bed and single patient room accommodation Outcome: healthcare-associated infection

Setting: acute settings (hospitals) Intervention: single patient room accommodation with

Outcome	Impact	№ of participants (studies) Setting	Certainty of the evidence (GRADE)
Methicillin- resistant <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> (MRSA) infections	 2 studies - no difference: 0/750 patients vs 3/819 patients; p=0.25 IRR 0.89, 95% CI: 0.34 to 2.29 1 study lacked sufficient data for analysis with only 1 case documented during study period. 	118,771 2 ITS, 1 B-A 5 hospitals	⊕○○○ VERY LOW a, b, c
<i>Clostridioides</i> <i>difficile</i> infections	1 study - an increase in 1 out of 3 wards (older persons ward) compared with no increase in 2 control hospitals. While hospital Trust data for the region demonstrated a reduction of 56% over study period. 1 study - no difference (IRR 0.95, 95% CI: 0.51 to 1.76).	117,202 2 ITS 4 hospitals	⊕○○○ VERY LOW b, c
Vancomycin- resistant <i>Enterococcus</i> (VRE) infections	1 study - a decrease (IRR 0.30, 95% CI: 0.12 to 0.75)	49,944 1 ITS 1 hospital	⊕○○○ VERY LOW b

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High certainty: We are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect

Moderate certainty: We are moderately confident in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different

Low certainty: Our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: The true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect

Very low certainty: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect

a. Downgraded once for serious risk of bias due to lack of adjustment and or control at design and or analysis phase for age and either case mix or comorbidity, b. Downgraded once for serious risk of bias due to intervention not being independent of changes, c. Downgraded once for imprecision

Key: C. difficile - Clostridioides difficile; B-A - Before-after study; IRR - incidence rate ratio; ITS interrupted time series; MRSA - methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus; VRE - vancomycinresistant enterococci.

Table 4-7 Clinical evidence for review question two: Grade summary of findings table for reduction of adverse events for single patient rooms compared with multi-bed rooms

Patient or population: adult patients based in inpatient wards

Comparison: multi-bed room accommodation or a mix of multi-bed and single patient accommodation **Outcome:** adverse events (psychological and physical harm)

Intervention: single patient room accommodation with en suite facilities

Setting: acute settings

Outcome	Impact	№ of participants (studies) Setting	Certainty of the evidence (GRADE)
Falls	2 studies - no statistically significant difference in falls. 1 study – an increase in 2 of 3 study wards, which was temporary and returned to before-move levels after 7 to 9 months. 1 study - an increase in (adjusting for age and sex) number of falls (15.83 vs. 5.51 per 1,000 patient-days; p<0.01), number of falls in the patients who fell (2.33 vs. 1.66 per 1,000 patient-days; p<0.001), number of hip fractures (0.15 vs. 0.04 per 1,000 patient-days; p<0.01). 1 study – the number of patients who sustained an inpatient fall at the 2 sites was similar (p=0.83), however, there was a significantly higher number of falls per person, 3.4 (± 2.75) in SPR compared with 1.5 (± 0.83) in MBR, p=0.03. Number of days to first fall was not significantly different (12 ± 18.6 days vs 11.4 ± 12.4 days; p=0.89).	69,775 1 ITS, 2 B-A, 2 Cohort 9 hospitals	⊕○○○ VERY LOW a, b, c
Mortality	3 studies - no difference; inpatient mortality (3 studies), 30- day morality (2 studies) or 1-year mortality (1 study).	948 1 B-A, 2 Cohort 5 hospitals	⊕○○○ VERY LOW a
Delirium	1 study - reduction in risk of developing delirium (HR = 0.66, 95% CI: 0.48 to 0.93; p=0.02) with no difference time to 1^{st} instance of delirium (HR=1.06, 95% CI: 0.86 to 1.32; p=0.57).	1,014 1 B-A 1 hospital	⊕○○○ VERY LOW a
Pressure injuries	1 study - an increase in pressure ulcers in 1 of 3 wards. 1 study - no significant difference (19 out of 750 vs. 13 out of 819 patients; p=0.243).	68,827 1 ITS, 1 B-A 4 hospitals	⊕○○○ VERY LOW a, b, c
Medical errors	1 study - an increase in 1 of 3 study wards which was temporary and returned to before-move levels after 7 to 9 months.	67,258 1 ITS 3 hospitals	⊕○○○ VERY LOW a, b, c

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High certainty: We are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect

Moderate certainty: We are moderately confident in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different

Low certainty: Our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: The true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect

Very low certainty: We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect

a. Downgraded once for serious risk of bias due to lack of adjustment and or control at design and or analysis phase for case mix, comorbidity or age, b. Downgraded once for inconsistency, c. Downgraded once for serious risk of bias due to intervention not being independent of changes.

Key: *C. difficile - Clostridioides difficile*; B-A - Before-after study; IRR - incidence rate ratio; ITS – interrupted time series; MRSA - methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*; VRE - vancomycin-resistant *enterococci*.

4.3 Economic evidence for review question two: Results

4.3.1 Characteristics of included studies

Two studies were identified that investigated the health economic impact of SPRs compared with MBRs. The first study by Boardman et al. was published in 2011,⁽⁹⁷⁾ the second by Maben et al. was first published as a comprehensive report in 2015 (index publication)⁽¹⁰¹⁾ and later as a journal article in 2016.⁽¹⁰⁰⁾ Boardman et al. conducted a cost-benefit analysis (CBA) over 50 years of a life course of a hospital in Canada, including clinical benefits (adverse events) and hospital level benefits (a patient's willingness to pay for a SPR and shorter waiting times -as a direct result of fewer transfers and reduced noise). The CBA was developed as part of a business case for a proposed new hospital. Maben et al.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ conducted a cost impact analysis as part of a larger evaluation following a hospital move. The cost impact analysis was informed by available real cost data from a UK before-after study, reported in 4.2, also conducted as part of the evaluation. This cost impact analysis included a model, which extrapolated the costs over a 60-year life cycle of a hospital, but did not include any benefits in the analysis. A summary of the characteristics, methods and results of the included studies is presented in Table 4-8.

Both studies investigated the costs associated with similar-sized 100% SPRs hospitals (approximately 500-bed). Boardman et al.⁽⁹⁷⁾ compared this design with a hospital comprising 100% double occupancy rooms. While Maben et al.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ used two comparators, 50% SPRs and 50% MBRs design for their model-based analysis and 100% MBRs design for the before-after study.

Study (year), country	Population	Intervention	Comparator
Boardman (2011), ⁽⁹⁷⁾	Patients from 537-bed	100% SPR	100% semi-private
Canada	acute care hospital in		(double occupancy)
Cost-benefit analysis	Vancouver		rooms
Maben (2015), ⁽¹⁰¹⁾ UK	1) Patients in AAU, older	1)100% SPR (30 bed	1) 100% MBR
1) B-A study analysis	person and surgical ward in a general 500-bed UK	wards)	2) 50% MBR
2) Model analysis (cost	hospital	2) 100% SPR (28	
extrapolation over life		bed wards)	
cycle of the hospital)			

Table 4-8 Economic evidence for review question two: Interventions and comparato	rs
included in economic studies	

2) Patients in a general	
500-bed UK hospital	

Key: AAU- Acute assessment unit; SPR – single-patient room, MBR – multi-bed room, B-A – before and after

4.3.2 Economic evidence

Following the methods outlined in Section 2.5.4, all costs are presented as they were in the original studies with the adjusted 2018 Irish euro equivalent presented in parentheses. Mabel et al. did not report the cost year so it was assumed that the unit costs were from three years prior to study publication.⁽¹⁰¹⁾

The economic evidence is summarised under the following headings; capital costs (land, construction and maintenance), operational costs (care staff, housekeeping and food service), and cost savings for HCAIs and adverse events prevented. Results are discussed narratively and presented in Table 4-9.

4.3.2.1 Economic evidence: Capital costs

Capital costs, including land, construction and estate-related maintenance costs relating to SPR design, were estimated by both studies to be higher than costs for MBR design. These estimates ranged from 5% for Mabel et al.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ to 52% for Boardman et al.⁽⁹⁷⁾

Boardman et al.⁽⁹⁷⁾ estimated that construction and land costs would be higher for a 100% SPR designed hospital compared to a hospital designed with all double-occupancy rooms. In addition to more space for en suite facilities in the patient bedroom, it was assumed that SPRs also require more corridor space, larger nursing areas and more janitorial facilities per patient bed. To estimate how much higher this would be over a service life of 50 years, the authors assumed that the new hospital design would follow best practices in Canada which recommends about 265 square feet (25 square metres) per patient bed in an SPR. After considering the space requirements of other areas in the hospital, it was estimated that an SPR would require 52% more space than a double-occupancy room (436 vs. 287 square feet (41 vs 27 square metres) per bed). To calculate the associated capital costs associated with an SPR designed hospital, the authors increased all land, construction and maintenance costs of a double occupancy room hospital by 52%.

For Maben et al,⁽¹⁰¹⁾ the initial capital costs and facilities management costs associated with a 100% SPR hospital compared with a mixed accommodation hospital (50% SPR and 50%

MBR) were assumed to be 5% and 10% higher, respectively, based on data from the original business case made in 2004. This was modelled over an assumed hospital service life of 60 years and was estimated to result in a 0.7% and 1.4% increase in the full life-cycle costs of a hospital.

4.3.2.2 Economic evidence: Operational costs

Operational costs, including staff and cleaning costs, were reported by both studies. Boardman et al.⁽⁹⁷⁾ assumed, based on a 52% increase in floor space, the proportion of time spent visiting each patient or patient room by staff would also increase by 52%. This was used to extrapolate costs associated with additional nursing and physician resources and housekeeping (see Table 4-9 for all estimates).

Maben et al.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ considered the operational costs associated with nurses, midwives and support staff and housekeeping costs. Based on data from the before-after study, staff costs increased in the SPR design by 2.7%. However, due to a planned increase in staff numbers, change in number of beds, the cost of staff time and change in the skills mix of staff, the authors deemed it impossible to attribute this to SPR design alone. Additionally, data from the before-after study demonstrated a 19.6% increase in the number of steps performed per hour by staff following the move to 100% SPR design from a 50% MBR design hospital. Based on administrative data from the relevant hospital Trust, which included data on the bed area, bathrooms and common areas, the total annual costs for cleaning a 500-bed all SPR hospital were estimated to be 18% higher (SPR: \pm 7.88 (\pm 10.41) per bed per day; MBR: \pm 5.44 (\pm 7.18)) when compared to a mixed accommodation hospital (50% SPR and 50% MBR). Based on interviews, it was estimated that it takes around 25 minutes to clean a bed space for an SPR design compared to around 10 minutes in a MBR design.

4.3.2.3 Economic evidence: Cost savings relating to HCAI

Neither study incorporated cost savings related to the effect of the intervention on HCAI rates into their analysis. Boardman et al.⁽⁹⁷⁾ conducted a literature review to inform their CBA and concluded there was insufficient evidence to include any impact of HCAIs in their final analysis. Costs associated with reduced *C. difficile*. infection rates were initially considered by Mabel et al.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ for analysis, but estimates were not considered reliable due to confounding. Costs associated with falls were considered by Mabel et al.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ but due to insufficient data on

these events, it was not possible to perform a full analysis.

4.3.2.4 Economic evidence: Cost savings relating to adverse events

Boardman et al.⁽⁹⁷⁾ did not include any adverse events in their primary analysis. However, adverse events were considered in an additional analysis. This analysis relied heavily on a number of assumptions. Based on a 2002 review,⁽¹⁰⁷⁾ which concluded that a good work environment may reduce medication errors, Boardman et al. calculated that SPRs may reduce the incidence of preventable adverse events by 1%. Additionally, using Canadian national hospital data on adverse events,⁽¹⁰⁸⁾ Boardman et al.⁽⁹⁷⁾ estimated that SPRs would avoid 0.002 deaths and 0.008 serious illnesses per bed per year compared to a double-occupancy room. Based on a selection of non-healthcare related articles, the value of a statistical life was valued as CA\$4.54 million (€33,867,438) and a value of serious injury avoided was CA\$300,000 (€223,794). Using these estimates, Boardman et al. calculated a SPR, in comparison to a double-occupancy room, might save CA\$269,146 (€200,777) per bed over the full life cycle of the hospital which would result in a net benefit of \$23,340 (€17,411) per bed over the full life cycle. Sensitivity analyses demonstrated that this finding was highly uncertain and may result in either a net cost or a net saving if their assumption on the probability of an adverse event deviated by plus or minus 0.5%. Additional hospital-level benefits were considered by Boardman et al. which related to a patient's willingness to pay extra for an SPR as a result of privacy and noise reduction, and also reduced patient transfers and waiting time (see Table 4-9 for all estimates).

Maben et al.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ reported an annual cost of £3,483 (€4,600) for three wards (acute assessment unit, older person's ward and surgical ward) associated with additional falls for the SPR design hospital compared with the MBR design hospital, based on their B-A study. However, they reported that due to a number of confounders (such as changes in ward sizes and case-mixes) and insufficient data, there was no clear evidence that this change in cost was directly related to the SPR design.

4.3.2.5 Economic evidence: Overall findings

None of the included studies reported economic results relating to HCAI outcomes. Boardman et al.⁽⁹⁷⁾ reported that SPRs when compared with a bed in a double occupancy room, would result in a net benefit of \$23,340 (€17,411) per bed over the full hospital life cycle based on

adverse events avoided. Sensitivity analyses reported by the authors demonstrated that this finding was highly uncertain and may result in either a net cost or net saving if their assumption on the probability of an adverse event deviated by plus or minus 0.5%. The second study⁽¹⁰¹⁾ set out to assess the impact of SPR design following a move from a traditional NHS Trust hospital with 50% MBRs to a new 100% SPR design hospital. However, due to a number of confounders (such as staffing levels, approaches to catering which was centralised in the old hospital and decentralised in the new hospital, changes in ward sizes and case-mix) or insufficient data, the authors reported were unable to attribute any observed differences to the SPR design.

Author (year),	Population &	Analysis			
country	Interventions	details	Costs and clinical outcomes	Results	Analysis of uncertainty
Boardman	Population:	Analysis type:	Cost year & currency:	Costs over the full life cycle:	Probability of an adverse
(2011), ⁽⁹⁷⁾	Patients from	СВА	2008 Canadian \$	Land: extra \$10,714 per bed	event is 0.5% lower:
Canada	537-bed acute			Construction: extra \$65,858 per bed	Saving of \$134,573 over
	care hospital	Perspective:	Cost components:	Maintenance: extra \$15,447 per bed	the full life cycle.
		Societal	SPR require additional 52%	Housekeeping and operating: extra \$57,736 per	Compared to the baseline
	Intervention:		space compared with MBR (436	bed	(net benefit \$23,340 per
	100% SPR	Time horizon:	vs. 287 sq. ft. per bed).	Nurses: extra \$92,181 per bed	bed), this would be less
		50 years	Land (extra \$86.23 per	Doctors: extra \$3,870 per bed	cost effective with a net
	Comparator:		buildable sq. ft.), construction	Total additional cost per bed over the full life	cost of \$111,233 per bed
	100% double	Discount rate:	(extra \$442 per sq. ft.),	cycle was \$245,806	over the full life cycle.
	occupancy rooms	3.5%	maintenance (extra 1% of		
			construction costs per year),	Clinical outcomes:	Probability of an adverse
			housekeeping and operating	<u>HCAI</u>	event is 0.5% higher:
			(extra \$2,461 per bed per year),	Not included.	Saving of \$403,719 over
			staffing: nurses (extra \$3,726	Adverse events	the full life cycle.
			per bed year), doctors (extra	The number of adverse events avoided per bed	Compared to the baseline
			\$165 per bed year).	per year was assumed to be 0.002 deaths and	(net benefit \$23,340 per
				0.008 serious illnesses. This was estimated to	bed), this would be more
			Clinical outcomes:	result in a saving of approximately \$11,475 per	cost-effective with a net
			HCAIs (considered, but not	bed per year or \$269,146 per bed over the full	saving of \$157,913 per
			included).	life cycle.	bed over the full life
			Adverse events including		cycle.
			deaths (valued at \$4.54 million	Net benefit in relation to clinical outcomes:	
			per life) and serious illness	Saving \$23,340 per bed over the full life cycle.	Scenario analysis for
			avoided (valued at \$300,000		other hospital level
			per serious illness).	Additional hospital-level benefits:	benefits:
				Patients' willingness to pay for a SPR: \$308,207	Increased construction
			Other hospital level outcomes:	Reduced patient transfers: \$6,314	costs by 20%: \$53,602
			Patient willingness to pay for a	Reduced waiting time: \$1,011	Increased floor space for
			SPR versus double-occupancy	Total hospital level benefits per bed: \$315,532	SPR: \$30,000
			room (extra \$45 per day),		

Table 4-9 Economic evidence for review question two: Results relating to capital costs, operational costs and cost savings

			reduced transfers (saving \$269	Net benefit in relation to hospital level benefits:	
			per bed per year; 8.68 fewer	Saving \$69,726 per bed over the full life cycle	
			transfers per bed per year),		
			reduced waiting times (saving	Value for patient:	
			\$43 per bed per year; 0.16 days	Decreasing noise: \$17,570 per bed over the full	
			per bed per year), noise,	life cycle	
			privacy.		
Maben	Population:	Analysis type:	Cost year & currency:	Annual difference in operational costs per bed	None.
(2015) ⁽¹⁰¹⁾	All patients	Cost impact	£ (no year reported)	(nursing staff only):	
	in 3 wards (acute	study		Acute assessment unit: cost £2,712 more	
UK	assessment unit,		Costs:	Older person's ward: cost £7,248 more	
	older person's	Perspective:	Staffing: additional nursing	Surgical ward: cost £792 more	
Before-after	ward and surgical	Payer (NHS)	WTE, walking time (considered,	Total difference per bed per year: £5,328 more	
study	ward) in a general		but not included)		
	500-bed hospital	Time horizon:		Annual difference in costs per bed as a result of	
		19 months	Clinical outcomes:	Acute assessment unit: cost £2 108 more	
	Intervention:	before and	HCAIs and falls	Older person's word: cost £275 388 more	
	100% SPR (30 bed	after move		Surgical ward: save £802 644	
	wards)			Total difference per bed per year: £530 364	
	,	Discount rate:		savings	
	Comparator:	None			
	100% MBR			Annual difference in costs per bed as a result of	
				adverse outcomes (falls only):	
				Acute assessment unit: cost £835 more	
				Older person's ward: cost £6,736 more	
				Surgical ward: save £4,088	
				Total annual difference as a result of falls for the	
				3 study wards: £3,483 more	
Maben	Population:	Time horizon:	Costs:	Capital costs	None
(2015) ⁽¹⁰¹⁾	All patients in a	60 years	Building and maintenance costs	Building: increase of 0.7% of the full life-cycle	
	general 500-bed		(assumed 5% to 10% more),	costs of the site	
UK	hospital	Discount rate:	cleaning (SPR: £7.88 per bed	Maintenance: increase of 1.4% of the full life-	
		3.5% for first	per day; MBR: £5.44), catering	cycle costs of the site	
Life cycle	Intervention:	30 years; 3%	(considered, but not included)	Cleaning:	
			· · ·	Increase of 18% for annual costs (£222,650)*	

analysis	100% SPR	for next 30		Clinical outcomes:	
		years	Clinical outcomes:	<u>HCAI</u>	
	Comparator:		None	Not included.	
	50% SPR 50%			Adverse events	
	MBR			Not included.	

Key: HCAI – healthcare-associated infection; MBR – multi-bed room; NHS – National Health Service; SPR – single patient room; WTE - whole time equivalent; WTP - willingness to pay threshold

* Annual costs relating to cleaning was incorrectly calculated in the article and reported as 53% higher in Maben et al.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ study (Table 59 in Maben report). This was recalculated for this review.

4.3.3 Methodological quality

A quality assessment of each study included in the systematic review was undertaken using the Consensus Health Economic Criteria (CHEC) list⁽⁸⁷⁾ and the outcomes are presented in Table 4-10. Based on the evaluation of the methodological quality of the two studies, Boardman et al.⁽⁹⁷⁾ was considered to be of moderate quality and Maben et al.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ of low quality.

Limitations common to both included:

- Costs not being valued appropriately. Specifically in one study,⁽⁹⁷⁾ costs were based on questionable assumptions (particularly relating to how construction and land costs, maintenance and operational costs, including housekeeping, nursing and physician costs, which were estimated to be 52% higher for a SPR hospital when compared to a double occupancy room hospital, as 52% additional floor space was estimated to be required). Reduced waiting times, transfers and adverse events results were shown to be highly sensitive to assumptions made. Additionally, all assumptions were based on sources predating 2004. The other study⁽¹⁰¹⁾ also used sources from varying years including construction costs from a 2004 business case for a new hospital and did not report the cost year or adequate details of costs for assessment, such as construction, maintenance and refurbishment costs.
- Not conducting adequate sensitivity analyses.^(97, 101)
- Not discussing ethical and distributional issues.^(97, 101)

In addition to these limitations, Boardman et al.⁽⁹⁷⁾ received funding from the hospital group for their study but did not outline any steps taken to address this potential conflict of interest. Maben et al.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ did not clearly describe the population, appropriately measure costs, use a sufficient time horizon, or discount future costs or outcomes, in one of their analyses, or use a suitable economic design, include all relevant costs, perform an incremental analysis of all costs and outcomes, appropriately discuss the generalizability of their findings, or make conclusions consistent with all the findings of their report, for both analyses.

Item	Boardman (2011) ⁽⁹⁷⁾	Maben (2015) ⁽¹⁰¹⁾
Is the study population clearly described?	+	•
Are competing alternatives clearly described?	+	÷
Is a well-defined research question posed in answerable form?	+	+
Is the economic study design appropriate to the stated objective?	+	•
Is the chosen time horizon appropriate to include relevant costs and consequences?	+	-
Is the actual perspective chosen appropriate?	+	÷
Are all important and relevant costs for each alternative identified?	+	•
Are all costs measured appropriately in physical units?	+	•
Are costs valued appropriately?	-	•
Are all important and relevant outcomes for each alternative identified?	+	+
Are all outcomes measured appropriately?	+	÷
Are outcomes valued appropriately?	+	+
Is an incremental analysis of costs and outcomes of alternatives performed?	+	•
Are all future costs and outcomes discounted appropriately?	+	-
Are all important variables, whose values are uncertain, appropriately subjected to sensitivity analysis?	•	•
Do the conclusions follow from the data reported?	+	•
Does the study discuss the generalizability of the results to other settings and patient/ client groups?	+	•
Does the article indicate that there is no potential conflict of interest of study researcher(s) and funder(s)?	•	+
Are ethical and distributional issues discussed appropriately?	-	-

|--|

4.3.4 Applicability

Applicability (based on relevance and credibility) was assessed using the ISPOR Questionnaire to Assess Relevance and Credibility of Modelling Studies,⁽⁸⁸⁾ the outcomes of this assessment are presented in Table 4-11. No Irish studies were identified. Following assessment using the ISPOR questionnaire the two included studies were deemed not applicable to the Irish context.^(97, 101) In addition to the methodological limitations mentioned in Section 4.3.3, Boardman et al.⁽⁹⁷⁾ only assessed double occupancy rooms as a comparator. Maben et al.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ did not perform or report adequately on their analyses (to allow the cost impact for all variables to be determined), and reported results in a potentially biased manner.

Item	Boardman (2011) ⁽⁹⁷⁾	Maben (2015)
Is the population relevant?	Yes	Yes
Are any critical interventions missing?	Yes	No
Are any relevant outcomes missing?	No	No
Is the context applicable?	No	Yes
Is external validation of the model sufficient?	N/A	N/A
Is internal verification of the model sufficient?	N/A	N/A
Does the model have sufficient face validity?	Yes	Yes
Is the design of the model adequate?	Yes	Yes
Are the data used in populating the model suitable?	No	Yes
Were the analyses adequate?	Yes	No
Was there adequate assessment of uncertainty?	No	No
Was the reporting adequate?	Yes	No
Was interpretation fair and balanced?	Yes	No
Were there any potential conflicts of interest?	Yes	No
Were steps taken to address conflicts?	No	N/A

Table 4-11 Applicability of included health economic studies assessed using ISPOR guestionnaire

4.4 Discussion and conclusion

4.4.1 Discussion

Single patient room (SPR) have been suggested as an approach to reduce transmission of healthcare-associated infections (HCAIs), based on the principles of isolation and ventilation.⁽¹⁶⁾ By isolating patients in separate en suite rooms, it can eliminate the direct contact between infected and susceptible patients, thereby reducing the spread and development of new infections. A review published in 2004 by Chaudhury al.⁽¹⁶⁾ underpinned recommendations made by the American Institute of Architects published by the Facility Guidelines Institute including a maximum limit of one patient per room for new hospital builds unless there is a demonstrable need for a two-bed design by the licensing authority.⁽¹⁰⁹⁾ Since then a number of national guidelines have been published including the 2008 Infection Prevention and Control Building Guideline for Acute Hospitals in Ireland which recommended SPRs for all newly built acute hospitals.⁽¹⁷⁾ There is strong consensus and a supporting evidence base in favour of isolating infected patients in SPRs as an infection prevention control (IPC) measure and mostly favourable evidence for SPR accommodation in high acuity settings compared to multi-bed room (MBR) design.^(110, 111) But for other acute settings, it is unclear how effective 100% SPR accommodation at ward or hospital level is compared with 100% MBR accommodation in reducing HCAI rates. This review aimed to review the existing literature on the effectiveness of SPR at reducing HCAI and adverse events.

We identified eight studies relevant for inclusion in this systematic review of effectiveness of SPRs in reducing the incidence of healthcare-associated infection. Findings relevant to clinicaleffectiveness were reported in seven of the studies.^(96, 98, 99, 101, 102, 104, 105) While findings relevant to cost impact were reported in two studies.^(97, 101)

The GRADE approach was used to assess the certainty of the evidence for all primary outcomes of interest. For the totality of evidence, there is very low certainty of evidence that SPR design reduces or increases infection rates for methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) or *Clostridioides difficile* (*C. difficile*) but may decrease the infection rates for vancomycin-resistant *Enterococci* (VRE). There is very low certainty of evidence that SPR design, when compared to MBR design, reduces or increases mortality rates, may possibly increase the risk of falls, may reduce the risk of delirium and has no significant impact on all
other adverse events investigated (such as pressure ulcers, medical errors, or time to first fall).

Specifically, three studies investigated HCAIs and colonisation rates of antimicrobial resistant organisms (AMROs). Two ^(98, 102) found no significant change in MRSA rates after moving from a MBR design to a SPR design while a third study⁽¹⁰¹⁾ reported only one MRSA case over the entire study period of 36 months, which was insufficient for analysis. Two studies investigated *C. difficile* infections, with one study⁽¹⁰¹⁾ reporting an increase in one of the three SPR wards compared with MBR design wards. However, it is unclear whether this increase can be attributed to the design of the ward due to substantial differences associated with the case mix. The second study⁽¹⁰²⁾ found no significant difference in *C. difficile* infection rates following a move to a new 100% SPR hospital. An immediate decrease in VRE infections after the move was demonstrated with no temporal trend for the remainder of the study period (36 months). Additionally, the study⁽¹⁰²⁾ investigated changes in AMRO colonisation rates and reported an immediate decrease for VRE and MRSA following the move. These rates did not significantly change from this lower level during the 36 months following the move. It should be noted that the infection, prevention and control policy changed shortly after the move, with hydrogen peroxide vapour for discharge cleaning during local outbreaks of C. difficile or VRE infection introduced as standard practice. Although not considered within this review, the effectiveness of this method of discharge cleaning is currently uncertain.⁽¹¹²⁾ It may be that SPR accommodation makes it easier to for vapour cleaning to be scheduled without the consideration of other inpatients, and should be assessed within future reviews on SPR design. Another concern, unrelated to SPR design, is a more sterile environment as a result of the new hospital, which could have also contributed to the maintenance of lower AMRO colonisation rates. These studies further highlight the difficulties in conducting robust research on the effect of all SPR design in reducing HCAI.

Five studies^(98, 99, 101, 104, 105) reporting results relating to in-hospital falls. Two of these studies^(101, 104) reported an increase in falls in the SPR design group compared with MBR design group. However, one of these studies⁽¹⁰¹⁾ reported the increase was temporary and after six to nine months rates returned to previous levels. The authors speculated that the increase in falls may have more to do with the initial disruption caused by relocating to a new facility than the SPR design itself. The remaining three studies^(98, 99, 105) reported no significant

difference.

Six studies considered additional adverse events.^(96, 98, 99, 101, 104, 105) Three studies^(99, 104, 105) investigated mortality and all reported no significant difference in mortality. However mortality is very rare. Two studies^(98, 101) reported no significant change in hospital acquired pressure injuries. One study⁽⁹⁶⁾ investigated delirium and found a significant decrease in risk of developing delirium in patients in the SPR design compared to MBR design while there was no significant difference between the days to first instance of delirium in the patients that did develop delirium in either ward. One study⁽¹⁰¹⁾ investigated medical errors and reported a temporary increase in one of the three SPR study wards when compared with the MBR wards. Finally, one study⁽⁹⁸⁾ collected data relating to medical deterioration calls and reported over double the number of medical deterioration calls registered in the SPR design compared with the MBR design, however, no test for significance was conducted.

As the review was initially completed in April 2020, searches were rerun on 13 February 2022 and again on 30 May 2022 to identify studies that may have been published in the interim. Two relevant articles^(18, 19) were identified in the February searches, both of these describe further analyses on a dataset first featured in the Blandfort et al.⁽⁹⁶⁾ study, already included in this review.

The first article⁽¹⁸⁾ examined whether relocation to a new ward in a new hospital with all SPR accommodation had affected the incidence of falls. The authors concluded that the risk of falls was not significantly different in MRBs compared to SPRs (HR 0.81, 95% CI 0.46 to 1.42). However, in SPRs, but not in MBRs, there was a higher risk of falls among in-patients that developed delirium than among patients who did not develop delirium (these results were published as a graph only and reported by the authors as statistically significant). This further highlights the complexity of room design and effect on patient safety more generally. The second article⁽¹⁹⁾ reported on a subset of the original dataset⁽⁹⁶⁾ which focused on the incidence of HCAIs. After controlling for a range of confounders, as per the original study,⁽⁹⁶⁾ the time to first HCAI (composite of all infections grouped together, pneumonia, *C. difficile*, sepsis, and other infections - UTI, wound infection, nephritis and erysipelas) was lower for SPR when compared to the MRB group (HR 0.65, 95% CI 0.45 to 0.95; p = 0.03); this was largely driven by the prevalence of UTIs. It should be noted that the analysis did not control for infection as the cause for admission, which was significantly higher in the SPR group. As

reported by the authors, ongoing infections were likely to be treated with antibiotics which may have acted as a prophylaxis for further infection. Overall, these two additional analyses are consistent with the findings of this review.

Two health economic studies were identified and included in this review.^(97, 101) Following appraisal using Consensus on Health Economic Criteria quality assessment tool,⁽⁸⁷⁾ one study was considered moderate quality⁽⁹⁷⁾ and the other low quality.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ Both were assessed as not applicable to the Irish context using the ISPOR Questionnaire to Assess Relevance and Credibility of Modelling Studies.⁽⁸⁸⁾ Neither study incorporated cost savings related the effect of SPRs on HCAI rates. The first study⁽⁹⁷⁾ assumed that SPRs would avoid 0.002 deaths and 0.008 serious illnesses per bed per year. After considering the increased costs associated with a SPR design, it was estimated the net benefit over a 50 year life cycle of a hospital of a SPR compared with a double-occupancy room would be \$23,340 (€17,411) per bed. However, due to absence of directly relevant data many assumptions were not considered to be robust. For example, if the assumed probability of an adverse event occurring was 0.5% lower or higher SPRs may result in a net cost or net saving, respectively, over the life cycle of a hospital. The second study⁽¹⁰¹⁾ set out to assess the impact of SPR design following a move from a traditional NHS Trust hospital with 50% MBRs to a new 100% SPR design hospital. Data collection included a number of costs relating to construction, operating costs including staffing and housekeeping and catering costs as well as HCAI and falls. Although estimates were reported, the authors reported it was impossible to attribute any observed differences to the SPR design due to a number of confounders (such as staffing levels, approaches to catering, changes in ward sizes and case-mix) or insufficient data.

Overall, based on the totality of the evidence, it is not possible to conclude whether SPRs are effective in reducing HCAI rates or reducing the incidence of colonisation rates by AMROs compared to MBR accommodation. It is also not possible to say whether the use of SPRs leads to an increase in adverse events, including physical and or psychological harm. The lack of high-quality evidence to evaluate the impact of SPR design on patient and healthcare outcomes is due to a number of factors. Apart from two study,^(101, 102) study designs were limited and consisted of uncontrolled and unadjusted studies to sufficiently account for known confounders, as listed above, as well as being of relatively short in duration to capture these rare events. As a result, the economic evidence is insufficient to evaluate the costs and

benefits associated with SPR designed hospitals compared to hospitals consisting of MBR or a mix of room types.

In terms of generalisability, this review included evidence from a range of countries, settings and patient populations which increases the generalisability. It is important to note that four of the studies^(96, 98, 99, 105) employed a restrictive inclusion criteria to target populations who were considered at a higher risk of adverse events, such as older patients,⁽⁹⁶⁾ patients with delirium^(99, 105) and an orthopaedic ward,⁽⁹⁸⁾ which may limit the generalisability to wider patient groups. Also worth noting when assessing the generalisability of these findings to the Irish acute sector is that three of the studies^(99, 104, 105) collected data from the same health board in Wales. In addition to the close proximity of Wales to Ireland both countries have a large publicly funded acute service, with a similar proportion of people aged 65 years and over 21% in Wales in 2020⁽¹¹³⁾ compared with 17% in Ireland.⁽¹¹⁴⁾ This age group makes up 67% of the acute hospital inpatients in Wales, as compared with Ireland where this age group accounts for 54% of the total acute bed days.^(115, 116) As a result, the data analysis provided from these studies might be considered generalisable to Ireland.

Ireland is transitioning rapidly from a young population to a population that is more evenly distributed in terms of age. Alongside this transition are global upward trends in AMRO rates.⁽¹¹⁷⁾ These present both challenges and opportunities for hospitals of the future. Furthermore, since the WHO declared COVID-19 a pandemic of international concern, many hospital systems have been forced to implement innovative approaches to delivering care. This also provides researchers with an opportunity to revisit the question of the impact of SPRs on HCAI. Until evidence from high-quality studies is made available, decisions will continue to be made in the context of high uncertainty.⁽¹¹⁸⁾

Previous systematic reviews^(111, 119) considered the impact SPR designs have on HCAI rates but mainly included high acuity settings such as ICUs rather than general acute settings. Stiller et al.⁽¹¹¹⁾ found reduced HCAI rates, but combined infections with colonisations, which did not account for known confounders and was heavily driven by one ICU based study from 1994. The meta-analysis used crude HCAI rates and included only one non-ICU setting making the findings problematic and impossible to generalise to Irish acute settings. Taylor et al.⁽¹¹⁹⁾ included 13 studies that looked at HCAI rates, and the findings were mixed. Most of the included studies concentrated on isolation as a precaution, instead of the pros and cons of

admitting all patients in single rooms. For example, one of the included studies explored the effects of isolating patients who screened MRSA-positive only, instead of the effects of isolating all patients on the ward to prevent cross-contamination. Their overall conclusion was that results depend on the hospital design and management as the use of 100% SPRs needs to be reviewed alongside necessary modifications and adjustments to workflows and consideration of specific patient populations. The organisational policies, procedures, and models of care also need to be considered.

The COVID-19 pandemic has put extraordinary pressures on healthcare systems, including the need to separate infected patients identified at admission. In a 2018 study, Darley et al.⁽¹²⁰⁾ suggested the main value of SPR accommodation outside of ICU settings, in terms of infection prevention and control (IPC), may potentially lie with the ability to quickly isolate patients infected with norovirus at admission during the winter peak months. In the study, the authors investigated the impact of moving from an older hospital with MRB designed accommodation to a new 75% SPR hospital and found no change in C. difficile, MRSA bacteraemia and E. coli bacteraemia infection rates (there was insufficient number of MRSA cases for analysis) but did observe a reduction in bed-days lost due to norovirus outbreaks. The increased availability of SPRs allowed for the prompt isolation of admitted patients, effectively limiting the extent of viral dissemination, keeping an acute ward open, with individual room closures within the ward, without resultant cross-infection. Currently, in MRB hospitals the ward is likely to remain closed until the last infected patient is discharged from it. A recent publication by Graves et al.⁽¹²¹⁾ (2021), identified after completion of this review, looked at the cost effectiveness of constructing temporary, single-patient, isolation rooms that can be deployed in a patient care area or ward in the context of COVID-19. The authors reported that the mean expected cost of implementing a temporary isolation room per 100,000 ordinary bed days in an NHS hospital was £1,545,949. The mean expected incremental cost per life-year gained was £5,829. The probability that adoption was cost-effective against a £20,000 threshold per additional life-year gained was 93%, and for a £13,000 threshold the probability was 87%. Multiple scenario analyses were performed and showed that in most scenarios the adoption of temporary isolation rooms is more likely to be cost-effective than not.

It is important to consider SPRs in wider context of IPC programmes which include interventions that have been widely studied and have demonstrated effectiveness in reducing

transmission of HCAI and AMRO in acute settings.⁽¹²²⁾ In 2017, WHO evidence-based recommendations on the core components of effective IPC programmes, hand hygiene is the corner stone. Other core components include IPC guidelines, education and training, surveillance, monitoring and auditing of IPC practices, hygiene and cleaning practices, and the workload, staffing and bed occupancy. While SPRs may potentially bring some benefit, in terms of IPC if adherence to the core principles of IPC are not optimal then any potential benefit may not translate to lower cross-infection.

Although outside the scope of this review, two of the included studies^(98, 101) conducted qualitative research, which included surveys and interviews with patients and staff on the merits and experiences of SPR design compared with MBR. The results showed mixed feelings and preferences for both staff and patients. For staff, there were concerns around the loss of panoptic surveillance of patients, social interaction with colleagues as well as an increase in walking distances and challenges to team communication. The move to SPR also required adapting their working practices significantly, including setting up peripheral nurse workstations to improve the visible monitoring of patients and introducing an acuity system tool to allocate higher risk patients to more visible rooms. In favour of SPRs, staff felt it could be better for patient outcomes as SPRs reduced interruptions and distractions allowing nurses to perform their tasks with more focus. Some patients were supportive of SPRs due to increased privacy, more opportunity to personalise their environment, improved sleep patterns and general comfort especially in relation to having an en suite bathroom. However, the potential for loneliness, boredom, loss of shared experience and absence of distraction and social interaction was highlighted. One study observed a notable decline in the use of dayrooms.⁽¹⁰¹⁾ These observations were consistent with findings from a recently published review on the patient and nurse experiences of SPR accommodation.⁽¹²³⁾

4.4.2 Strengths and limitations of this review

This systematic review was conducted according to the PRISMA reporting guidelines.⁽²⁰⁾ It is based on a protocol which was registered on PROSPERO in advance of conducting the review to ensure transparency and minimise bias in the review process. Specific review questions were formulated based on the PICO approach and a priori-defined primary and secondary outcomes. In addition, an extensive search of the published and unpublished (grey literature including databases specific to architectural and design publications and organisations) was conducted using a detailed search strategy and according to the principles of Boolean logic. Nine electronic databases and five grey literature databases were searched. Two reviewers were involved in all stages of the review (screening, data extraction, quality appraisal and assessing the certainty of the evidence using the GRADE approach), reducing bias.

However, the review has some limitations which include the eligibility of English language only studies and the application of a date restriction. However, choosing to search for literature published since 2004 could be considered a strength as internationally guidelines only began recommending SPR design from that date onwards and as a result focused this review on the most opportune time period for high quality studies in this area.⁽¹⁶⁾ Furthermore, as with any systematic review, it is limited by the quality of the studies included, which were poor overall leading a very low overall certainty of the evidence for the review's primary outcomes. The scope of the clinical systematic review was limited to quantitative data only, however, the systematic inclusion of qualitative data could give a better understanding of the patient experience of SPRs. However, we did identify some evidence on patient and staff preferences in the included studies highlighting the importance of these perspectives. Additionally, the economic evidence identified was not informative or applicable to the Irish context. This highlights how difficult this research area is and how making recommendations on SPRs is based on large uncertainty. Given this uncertainty potential benefits, harms and opportunity costs need to be considered in policy and decision making.

4.4.3 Future research

There is a clear lack of high-quality studies assessing the effectiveness of SPR hospital design compared to MBR design. In addition, studies that evaluate the cost-effectiveness are currently absent. To address this lack of evidence, researchers and policymakers need to identify potential new hospital upgrades and construct robust studies that include sufficiently long data collection periods while also monitoring the characteristics of both patients and staff, to adequately account for the inherent dynamic reality of this complex intervention. Analysis needs to be able to account for external and internal underlying trends in infection incidence, and the impact of ongoing infection prevention control interventions. As this research was conducted before the COVID-19 pandemic, there is a need to understand how our experience with COVID-19 impacts the current understanding of patient accommodation, especially in populations with a high proportion of older patients who are more vulnerable to severe illness if infected while receiving care in hospital.

4.4.4 Conclusion

Based on the overall assessment, there is a lack of evidence to determine the net benefit or risk of SPRs as an intervention to reduce HCAI and adverse events. There may possibly be some benefits in reducing HCAI and protecting against delirium though it is of very low certainty. There also may possibly be some harms in relation to increased falls but the evidence is of very low certainty. Overall, the evidence is limited, inconsistent and of poor quality and hence the balance of benefits and harms cannot be determined and does not permit a firm conclusion. Large scale whole-hospital interventions are challenging to evaluate due to multiple confounding factors including ongoing infection protection and control efforts which are constantly being updated. In addition, due to relatively low incidence rates of HCAIs and adverse events, studies require long duration for data collection, which only compounds the difficulties in isolating the effect SPR design has on clinical outcomes. No cost-

References

- 1. Health Protection Surveillance Centre. Infection Control and Healthcare-Associated Infection: HPSC; 2021 [Available from: <u>https://www.hpsc.ie/a-</u> z/microbiologyantimicrobialresistance/infectioncontrolandhai/]. Accessed: 2021
- 2. Health Protection Surveillance Centre. Point Prevalence Survey of Hospital Acquired Infections & Antimicrobial Use in European Acute Care Hospitals: National Report Ireland. Dublin: 2017.Available from: <u>https://www.hpsc.ie/a-</u> z/microbiologyantimicrobialresistance/infectioncontrolandhai/surveillance/hospitalp ointprevalencesurveys/2017/nationalppsreports/PPS%202017%20National%20Repo rt FINAL 191218.pdf.
- 3. Health Protection Surveillance Centre. Point Prevalence Survey of Hospital Acquired Infections & Antimicrobial Use in European Acute Care Hospitals: May 2012 – Republic of Ireland National Report. Dublin: 2012.Available from: <u>http://www.hpsc.ie/a-</u> z/microbiologyantimicrobialresistance/infectioncontrolandhai/surveillance/hospitalp ointprevalencesurveys/2012/pps2012reportsforireland/File,13788,en.pdf.
- 4. Cotter M, Donlon S, Roche F, Byrne H, Fitzpatrick F. Healthcare-associated infection in Irish long-term care facilities: results from the First National Prevalence Study. The Journal of hospital infection. 2012;80(3):212-6.
- 5. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Annual Epidemiological Report On Communicable Diseases In Europe 2008. Stockholm: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2008. Available from: <u>https://ecdc.europa.eu/sites/portal/files/media/en/publications/Publications/0812</u> <u>SUR Annual Epidemiological Report 2008.pdf</u>.
- 6. National Clinical Effectiveness Committee. National Clinical Guideline 'Prevention and Control Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA)'. Dublin: Department of Health, 2013.Available from: <u>https://health.gov.ie/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/MRSA_Full-Report.pdf.</u>
- 7. Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA). National Standards for the prevention and control of healthcare-associated infections in acute healthcare services. Dublin: 2017 05/2017.Available from: https://www.hiqa.ie/sites/default/files/2017-05/2017-HIQA-National-Standards-Healthcare-Association-Infections.pdf.
- 8. Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA). National Standards for infection prevention and control in community services. Dublin: 2018 09/2018.Available from: <u>https://www.hiqa.ie/sites/default/files/2018-09/National-Standards-for-IPC-in-Community-services.pdf</u>.
- 9. Allegranzi B, Pittet D. Role of hand hygiene in healthcare-associated infection prevention. The Journal of hospital infection. 2009;73(4):305-15.
- 10. Pittet D, Allegranzi B, Sax H, Dharan S, Pessoa-Silva CL, Donaldson L, et al. Evidencebased model for hand transmission during patient care and the role of improved practices. The Lancet Infectious diseases. 2006;6(10):641-52.
- 11. Effective Practice and Organisation of Care (EPOC). EPOC Taxonomy. Online: Cochrane, 2015.Available from: <u>https://epoc.cochrane.org/epoc-taxonomy</u>.
- 12. WHO Patient Safety. A guide to the implementation of the WHO multimodal hand hygiene improvement strategy. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2009.
- 13. WHO. WHO multimodal improvement strategy visual Unknown.Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/infection-prevention/publications/ipc-cc-mis.pdf?ua=1</u>.

- 14. Sax H, Allegranzi B, Chraïti M-N, Boyce J, Larson E, Pittet D. The World Health Organization hand hygiene observation method. American Journal of Infection Control. 2009;37(10):827-34. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0196655309007512.
- 15. RCPI Clinical Advisory Group on Healthcare Associated Infections. Guidelines for hand hygiene in Irish health care settings. 2015. Available from: <u>https://www.hpsc.ie/a-z/microbiologyantimicrobialresistance/infectioncontrolandhai/guidelines/File,15060, en.pdf</u>.
- 16. Chaudhury H, Mahmood A, Valente M. Advantages and disadvantages of single-versus multiple-occupancy rooms in acute care environments: a review and analysis of the literature. Environment and Behavior. 2005;37(6):760-86.
- Health Protection Surveillance Centre. Infection Prevention And Control Building Guidelines For Acute Hospitals In Ireland (SARI). Dublin: 2008.Available from: <u>https://www.hpsc.ie/a-</u> z/microbiologyantimicrobialresistance/infectioncontrolandhai/guidelines/File,3439,e n.pdf.
- 18. Blandfort S, Gregersen M, Rahbek K, Juul S, Damsgaard EM. Analgesic and psychoactive medications and the risk of falls in relation to delirium in single-bed rooms compared to multiple-bed rooms in geriatric inpatients. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2020;32(8):1493-9.
- 19. Gregersen M, Mellemkjær A, Foss CH, Blandfort S. Use of single-bed rooms may decrease the incidence of hospital-acquired infections in geriatric patients: A retrospective cohort study in Central Denmark region. Journal of health services research & policy. 2021;26(4):282-8.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2009;151(4):264-9. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-151-4-200908180-00135</u>.
- 21. Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA). Guidelines for the Retrieval and Interpretation of Economic Evaluations of Health Technologies in Ireland. Dublin: HIQA, 2014.Available from: <u>https://www.hiqa.ie/reports-and-publications/health-technology-assessments/guidelines-interpretation-economic</u>.
- 22. Booth A, Clarke M, Dooley G, Ghersi D, Moher D, Petticrew M, et al. The nuts and bolts of PROSPERO: an international prospective register of systematic reviews. Systematic Reviews. 2012;1(1):2. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/2046-4053-1-2</u>.
- 23. Schardt C, Adams MB, Owens T, Keitz S, Fontelo P. Utilization of the PICO framework to improve searching PubMed for clinical questions. BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making. 2007;7(1):16. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6947-7-16.
- Gould DJ, Moralejo D, Drey N, Chudleigh JH, Taljaard M. Interventions to improve hand hygiene compliance in patient care. Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2017 (9).
- 25. Effective Practice and Organisation of Care (EPOC). What study designs should be included in an EPOC review? EPOC Resources for review authors. Oslo2017 [Available from: epoc.cochrane.org/epoc-resources-review-authors (Accessed 18 June 2019)]. Accessed: 18 June 2019
- 26. Facilities Guidelines Institute and AIA. Guidelines for Design and Construction of Health Care Facilities. Washington, DC: American Institute of Architects Academy of

Architecture for Health; 2006.

- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. Search filters: Health Improvement Network; 2019 [Available from: <u>https://www.sign.ac.uk/search-filters.html</u>]. Accessed: 19 June 2019 2019
- 28. Cochrane Effective Practice Organisation of Care Group. Suggested risk of bias criteria for EPOC reviews. Population health. 2013;8:12. Available from: <u>https://epoc.cochrane.org/sites/epoc.cochrane.org/files/public/uploads/Resources-</u> <u>for-authors2017/suggested risk of bias criteria for epoc reviews.pdf</u>.
- 29. Wells G, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, et al. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in metaanalyses: Ottawa Hospital Research Institute; 2019 [Available from: http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical epidemiology/oxford.asp]. Accessed:
- Evers S, Goossens M, De Vet H, Van Tulder M, Ament A. Criteria list for assessment of methodological quality of economic evaluations: Consensus on Health Economic Criteria. International journal of technology assessment in health care. 2005;21(2):240-5.
- 31. Caro JJ, Eddy DM, Kan H, Kaltz C, Patel B, Eldessouki R, et al. Questionnaire to assess relevance and credibility of modeling studies for informing health care decision making: an ISPOR-AMCP-NPC Good Practice Task Force report. Value in health. 2014;17(2):174-82.
- 32. Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA). Guidelines for Evaluating the Clinical Effectiveness of Health Technologies in Ireland. Dublin: HIQA, 2019.Available from: <u>https://www.hiqa.ie/reports-and-publications/health-technology-assessment/guidelines-evaluating-clinical-effectiveness.</u>
- 33. Turner HC, Lauer JA, Tran BX, Teerawattananon Y, Jit M. Adjusting for Inflation and Currency Changes Within Health Economic Studies. Value in Health. 2019;22(9):1026-32. Available from:
 - http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1098301519321497.
- 34. Higgins J, Thomas J, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.0 (updated July 2019). Online: Wiley-Blackwell; 2019.
- 35. McKenzie J, Ryan R, Di Tanna G. Cochrane Consumers and Communication Review Group: cluster randomised controlled trials. Cochrane Consumers and Communication Review Group, 2016 December.Available from: <u>https://cccrg.cochrane.org/sites/cccrg.cochrane.org/files/public/uploads/clusterrcts</u> <u>revising december 1st.pdf</u>.
- 36. Rodriguez V, Giuffre C, Villa S, Almada G, Prasopa-Plaizier N, Gogna M, et al. A multimodal intervention to improve hand hygiene in ICUs in Buenos Aires, Argentina: a stepped wedge trial. International journal for quality in health care : journal of the International Society for Quality in Health Care. 2015;27(5):405-11.
- 37. van der Kooi T, Sax H, Pittet D, van Dissel J, van Benthem B, Walder B, et al. Prevention of hospital infections by intervention and training (PROHIBIT): results of a pan-European cluster-randomized multicentre study to reduce central venous catheterrelated bloodstream infections. Intensive Care Medicine. 2018;44(1):48-60. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00134-017-5007-6.
- 38. Ho ML, Seto WH, Wong LC, Wong TY. Effectiveness of multifaceted hand hygiene interventions in long-term care facilities in Hong Kong: a cluster-randomized controlled trial. Infection control and hospital epidemiology. 2012;33(8):761-7.
- 39. Santosaningsih D, Erikawati D, Santoso S, Noorhamdani N, Ratridewi I,

Candradikusuma D, et al. Intervening with healthcare workers' hand hygiene compliance, knowledge, and perception in a limited-resource hospital in Indonesia: a randomized controlled trial study. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6:23.

- 40. Stewardson AJ, Sax H, Gayet-Ageron A, Touveneau S, Longtin Y, Zingg W, et al. Enhanced performance feedback and patient participation to improve hand hygiene compliance of health-care workers in the setting of established multimodal promotion: a single-centre, cluster randomised controlled trial. The Lancet Infectious diseases. 2016;16(12):1345-55.
- 41. Higgins JP, Green S. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions: John Wiley & Sons; 2011.
- 42. HIQA. Guidelines for the Retrieval and Interpretation of Economic Evaluations of Health Technologies in Ireland. 2014. Available from: <u>https://www.hiqa.ie/system/files/Guidelines-Retrieval-and-Interpretation-of-EconLit.pdf</u>.
- 43. Schünemann H BJ, Guyatt G, Oxman A, editors. GRADE handbook for grading quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. The GRADE Working Group, 2013 Available at: guidelinedevelopmentorg/handbook. 2013.
- 44. Armellino D, Hussain E, Schilling ME, Senicola W, Eichorn A, Dlugacz Y, et al. Using high-technology to enforce low-technology safety measures: the use of third-party remote video auditing and real-time feedback in healthcare. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2012;54(1):1-7.
- 45. Derde LPG, Cooper BS, Goossens H, Malhotra-Kumar S, Willems RJL, Gniadkowski M, et al. Interventions to reduce colonisation and transmission of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria in intensive care units: an interrupted time series study and cluster randomised trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2014;14(1):31-9. Available from: https://pdf.sciencedirectassets.com/272254/1-s2.0-S1473309913X7063X/1-s2.0-S1473309913702950/main.pdf.
- 46. Diegel-Vacek L, Ryan C. Promoting Hand Hygiene With a Lighting Prompt. Herd. 2016;10(1):65-75.
- 47. Fisher DA, Seetoh T, Oh May-Lin H, Viswanathan S, Toh Y, Yin WC, et al. Automated measures of hand hygiene compliance among healthcare workers using ultrasound: validation and a randomized controlled trial. Infection control and hospital epidemiology. 2013;34(9):919-28.
- Fuller C, Michie S, Savage J, McAteer J, Besser S, Charlett A, et al. The Feedback Intervention Trial (FIT) — Improving Hand-Hygiene Compliance in UK Healthcare Workers: A Stepped Wedge Cluster Randomised Controlled Trial. PLOS ONE. 2012;7(10):e41617. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0041617</u>.
- 49. Grant AM, Hofmann DA. It's not all about me: motivating hand hygiene among health care professionals by focusing on patients. Psychological science. 2011;22(12):1494-9.
- 50. Higgins A, Hannan MM. Improved hand hygiene technique and compliance in healthcare workers using gaming technology. The Journal of hospital infection. 2013;84(1):32-7. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195670113000558.
- 51. Huang J, Jiang D, Wang X, Liu Y, Fennie K, Burgess J, et al. Changing knowledge, behavior, and practice related to universal precautions among hospital nurses in China. Journal of continuing education in nursing. 2002;33(5):217-24.

- 52. Huis A, Schoonhoven L, Grol R, Donders R, Hulscher M, van Achterberg T. Impact of a team and leaders-directed strategy to improve nurses' adherence to hand hygiene guidelines: a cluster randomised trial. International journal of nursing studies. 2013;50(4):464-74.
- 53. King D, Vlaev I, Everett-Thomas R, Fitzpatrick M, Darzi A, Birnbach DJ. "Priming" hand hygiene compliance in clinical environments. Health psychology : official journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association. 2016;35(1):96-101.
- 54. Lee AS, Cooper BS, Malhotra-Kumar S, Chalfine A, Daikos GL, Fankhauser C, et al. Comparison of strategies to reduce meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus rates in surgical patients: a controlled multicentre intervention trial. BMJ Open. 2013;3(9):e003126. Available from: http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/3/9/e003126.abstract

http://diposit.ub.edu/dspace/bitstream/2445/98890/1/640352.pdf.

- 55. Martín-Madrazo C, Soto-Díaz S, Cañada-Dorado A, Salinero-Fort MA, Medina-Fernández M, de Santa Pau EC, et al. Cluster Randomized Trial to Evaluate the Effect of a Multimodal Hand Hygiene Improvement Strategy in Primary Care. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2015;33(7):681-8. Available from: <u>https://www.cambridge.org/core/article/cluster-randomized-trial-to-evaluate-theeffect-of-a-multimodal-hand-hygiene-improvement-strategy-in-primarycare/A2F38073840461640E0D82F86C6E313B.</u>
- 56. Mertz D, Dafoe N, Walter SD, Brazil K, Loeb M. Effect of a multifaceted intervention on adherence to hand hygiene among healthcare workers: a cluster-randomized trial. Infection control and hospital epidemiology. 2010;31(11):1170-6.
- 57. Midturi JK, Narasimhan A, Barnett T, Sodek J, Schreier W, Barnett J, et al. A successful multifaceted strategy to improve hand hygiene compliance rates. Am J Infect Control. 2015;43(5):533-6.
- 58. Moghnieh R, Soboh R, Abdallah D, El-Helou M, Al Hassan S, Ajjour L, et al. Health care workers' compliance to the My 5 Moments for Hand Hygiene: Comparison of 2 interventional methods. Am J Infect Control. 2017;45(1):89-91.
- 59. Munoz-Price LS, Patel Z, Banks S, Arheart K, Eber S, Lubarsky DA, et al. Randomized crossover study evaluating the effect of a hand sanitizer dispenser on the frequency of hand hygiene among anesthesiology staff in the operating room. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2014;35(6):717-20. Available from: <a href="https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/infection-control-and-hospital-epidemiology/article/randomized-crossover-study-evaluating-the-effect-of-a-hand-sanitizer-dispenser-on-the-frequency-of-hand-hygiene-among-anesthesiology-staff-in-the-operating-room/8FFE4E4D2D14E449EEBB877471440BC2.
- 60. Perlin JB, Hickok JD, Septimus EJ, Moody JA, Englebright JD, Bracken RM. A bundled approach to reduce methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infections in a system of community hospitals. Journal for healthcare quality : official publication of the National Association for Healthcare Quality. 2013;35(3):57-68; quiz
- 61. Rosenbluth G, Garritson S, Green AL, Milev D, Vidyarthi AR, Auerbach AD, et al. Achieving Hand Hygiene Success With a Partnership Between Graduate Medical Education, Hospital Leadership, and Physicians. Am J Med Qual. 2016;31(6):577-83.
- 62. Stevenson KB, Searle K, Curry G, Boyce JM, Harbarth S, Stoddard GJ, et al. Infection control interventions in small rural hospitals with limited resources: results of a

cluster-randomized feasibility trial. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2014;3(1):10-. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24678604</u>.

- 63. Talbot TR, Johnson JG, Fergus C, Domenico JH, Schaffner W, Daniels TL, et al. Sustained improvement in hand hygiene adherence: utilizing shared accountability and financial incentives. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2013;34(11):1129-36. Available from: <u>https://www.cambridge.org/core/services/aop-cambridge-</u> <u>core/content/view/5A94BD9A2057D2D6C20AEBA93F550BF2/S0195941700034135a.</u> <u>pdf/div-class-title-sustained-improvement-in-hand-hygiene-adherence-utilizing-</u> <u>shared-accountability-and-financial-incentives-div.pdf</u>.
- 64. Vernaz N, Sax H, Pittet D, Bonnabry P, Schrenzel J, Harbarth S. Temporal effects of antibiotic use and hand rub consumption on the incidence of MRSA and Clostridium difficile. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2008;62(3):601-7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18468995/.
- 65. Whitby M, McLaws ML, Slater K, Tong E, Johnson B. Three successful interventions in health care workers that improve compliance with hand hygiene: is sustained replication possible? Am J Infect Control. 2008;36(5):349-55.
- 66. Yeung WK, Tam WS, Wong TW. Clustered randomized controlled trial of a hand hygiene intervention involving pocket-sized containers of alcohol-based hand rub for the control of infections in long-term care facilities. Infection control and hospital epidemiology. 2011;32(1):67-76.
- 67. von Lengerke T, Ebadi E, Schock B, Krauth C, Lange K, Stahmeyer JT, et al. Impact of psychologically tailored hand hygiene interventions on nosocomial infections with multidrug-resistant organisms: results of the cluster-randomized controlled trial PSYGIENE. Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control. 2019;8(1):56. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13756-019-0507-5.
- 68. von Lengerke T, Lutze B, Krauth C, Lange K, Stahmeyer JT, Chaberny IF. Promoting Hand Hygiene Compliance. Deutsches Arzteblatt international. 2017;114(3):29-36.
- 69. Anderson O, Hanna GB. Effectiveness of the CareCentre((R)) at improving contact precautions: randomized simulation and clinical evaluations. The Journal of hospital infection. 2016;92(4):332-6.
- 70. Gilmartin H, Saint S, Rogers M, Winter S, Snyder A, Quinn M, et al. Pilot randomised controlled trial to improve hand hygiene through mindful moments. BMJ Qual Saf. 2018;27(10):799-806.
- 71. Chen JK, Wu KS, Lee SS, Lin HS, Tsai HC, Li CH, et al. Impact of implementation of the World Health Organization multimodal hand hygiene improvement strategy in a teaching hospital in Taiwan. Am J Infect Control. 2016;44(2):222-7.
- 72. Chen YC, Sheng WH, Wang JT, Chang SC, Lin HC, Tien KL, et al. Effectiveness and limitations of hand hygiene promotion on decreasing healthcare-associated infections. PLoS One. 2011;6(11):e27163.
- 73. Chun JY, Seo HK, Kim MK, Shin MJ, Kim SY, Kim M, et al. Impact of a hand hygiene campaign in a tertiary hospital in South Korea on the rate of hospital-onset methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia and economic evaluation of the campaign. Am J Infect Control. 2016;44(12):1486-91.
- 74. Graves N, Page K, Martin E, Brain D, Hall L, Campbell M, et al. Cost-Effectiveness of a National Initiative to Improve Hand Hygiene Compliance Using the Outcome of Healthcare Associated Staphylococcus aureus Bacteraemia. PLoS One. 2016;11(2):e0148190.
- 75. Huis A, Hulscher M, Adang E, Grol R, van Achterberg T, Schoonhoven L. Cost-

effectiveness of a team and leaders-directed strategy to improve nurses' adherence to hand hygiene guidelines: a cluster randomised trial. International journal of nursing studies. 2013;50(4):518-26.

- 76. Luangasanatip N, Hongsuwan M, Lubell Y, Limmathurotsakul D, Srisamang P, Day NPJ, et al. Cost-effectiveness of interventions to improve hand hygiene in healthcare workers in middle-income hospital settings: a model-based analysis. The Journal of hospital infection. 2018;100(2):165-75.
- 77. Le TAT, Vo THT, Dang TVT, Nguyen PT, Dang TV, Le TKA, et al. Cost-effectiveness of a hand hygiene program on health care-associated infections in intensive care patients at a tertiary care hospital in Vietnam. Am J Infect Control. 2015;43(12):e93-9.
- 78. World Health Organisation. WHO guidelines on hand hygiene in health care. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO, 2009.
- 79. Boyce JM, Pittet D. Guideline for Hand Hygiene in Health-Care Settings. Recommendations of the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee and the HICPAC/SHEA/APIC/IDSA Hand Hygiene Task Force. Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America/Association for Professionals in Infection Control/Infectious Diseases Society of America. MMWR Recommendations and reports : Morbidity and mortality weekly report Recommendations and reports. 2002;51(Rr-16):1-45, quiz CE1-4.
- 80. Centers for Disease Control (CDC). Recommendations for prevention of HIV transmission in health-care settings. MMWR supplements. 1987;36(2):1s-18s.
- 81. Centers for Disease Control (CDC). Guidelines for prevention of transmission of human immunodeficiency virus and hepatitis B virus to health-care and public-safety workers. MMWR supplements. 1989;38(6):1-37.
- 82. Centers for Disease Control (CDC). Updated U.S. Public Health Service Guidelines for the Management of Occupational Exposures to HBV, HCV, and HIV and Recommendations for Postexposure Prophylaxis. MMWR Recommendations and reports : Morbidity and mortality weekly report Recommendations and reports. 2001;50(Rr-11):1-52.
- 83. Schwarzer R, Lippke S, Luszczynska A. Mechanisms of health behavior change in persons with chronic illness or disability: the Health Action Process Approach (HAPA). Rehabilitation psychology. 2011;56(3):161-70.
- 84. Ryan K, Havers S, Olsen K, Grayson L. Hand Hygiene Australia: 5 Moments for Hand Hygiene 2019.Available from: https://www.hha.org.au/component/jdownloads/send/5-implementation/191-hhamanual.
- 85. Page K, Barnett AG, Campbell M, Brain D, Martin E, Fulop N, et al. Costing the Australian National Hand Hygiene Initiative. Journal of hospital infection. 2014;88(3):141-8. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>d10&AN=25092619</u>.
- Pittet D, Hugonnet S, Harbarth S, Mourouga P, Sauvan V, Touveneau S, et al. Effectiveness of a hospital-wide programme to improve compliance with hand hygiene. Infection Control Programme. Lancet (London, England). 2000;356(9238):1307-12.
- 87. Evers S, Goossens M, de Vet H, van Tulder M, Ament A. Criteria list for assessment of methodological quality of economic evaluations: Consensus on Health Economic Criteria. International journal of technology assessment in health care.

2005;21(2):240-5.

- 88. Jaime Caro J, Eddy DM, Kan H, Kaltz C, Patel B, Eldessouki R, et al. Questionnaire to assess relevance and credibility of modeling studies for informing health care decision making: an ISPOR-AMCP-NPC Good Practice Task Force report. Value in health : the journal of the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research. 2014;17(2):174-82.
- Luangasanatip N, Hongsuwan M, Limmathurotsakul D, Lubell Y, Lee AS, Harbarth S, et al. Comparative efficacy of interventions to promote hand hygiene in hospital: systematic review and network meta-analysis. BMJ : British Medical Journal. 2015;351:h3728. Available from: https://www.bmj.com/content/bmj/351/bmj.h3728.full.pdf.
- 90. Price L, MacDonald J, Gozdzielewska L, Howe T, Flowers P, Shepherd L, et al. Interventions to improve healthcare workers' hand hygiene compliance: A systematic review of systematic reviews. Infection control and hospital epidemiology. 2018;39(12):1449-56.
- 91. Valim MD, Rocha ILdS, Souza TPM, Cruz YAd, Bezerra TB, Baggio É, et al. Efficacy of the multimodal strategy for Hand Hygiene compliance: an integrative review. Revista Brasileira de Enfermagem. 2019;72:552-65.
- 92. Vander Weg MW, Perencevich EN, O'Shea AMJ, Jones MP, Vaughan Sarrazin MS, Franciscus CL, et al. Effect of Frequency of Changing Point-of-Use Reminder Signs on Health Care Worker Hand Hygiene Adherence: A Cluster Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Network Open. 2019;2(10):e1913823-e. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.13823.
- 93. Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA). Overview of HIQA unannounced infection prevention and control inspections in 2015. Dublin: HIQA, 2016.Available from: https://www.hiqa.ie/sites/default/files/2017-02/Infection-Control-Overview-2015.pdf.
- 94. Huis A, Holleman G, van Achterberg T, Grol R, Schoonhoven L, Hulscher M. Explaining the effects of two different strategies for promoting hand hygiene in hospital nurses: a process evaluation alongside a cluster randomised controlled trial. Implementation Science. 2013;8(1):41. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-8-41.
- 95. HSE-Health Protection Surveillance Centre (HPSC). Period 19 (Oct/Dec) Hand Hygiene Compliance Results. Dublin: HPSC, 2019.Available from: <u>https://www.hpsc.ie/a-</u> z/microbiologyantimicrobialresistance/europeansurveillanceofantimicrobialconsump tionesac/PublicMicroB/HHA/HHA_Current.pdf.
- 96. Blandfort S, Gregersen M, Rahbek K, Juul S, Damsgaard EM. Single-bed rooms in a geriatric ward prevent delirium in older patients. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2019.
- 97. Boardman AE, Forbes D. A Benefit-Cost Analysis of Private and Semi-Private Hospital Rooms. Journal of Benefit-Cost Analysis. 2011;2(1):1-27. Available from: <u>https://www.cambridge.org/core/article/benefitcost-analysis-of-private-and-</u> <u>semiprivate-hospital-rooms/EF0C7AD48839CA7D49EBE19B36DF67AA.</u>
- 98. Davis M, Elliott R, Hills R, Fry M. Single-Room Ward Design and Its Impact on Service and Patient Outcomes: An Evaluation Study. Orthopaedic Nursing. 2019;38(5):317-25. Available <u>http://elib.tcd.ie/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db</u> =ccm&AN=138723950&site=ehost-live.
- 99. Knight S, Singh I. Profile of inpatient falls in patients with dementia: A prospective comparative study between 100% single rooms and traditional multibedded wards.

Journal of Clinical Gerontology and Geriatrics. 2016;7(3):87-92. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> 610213904.

- 100. Maben J, Griffiths P, Penfold C, Simon M, Anderson JE, Robert G, et al. One size fits all? Mixed methods evaluation of the impact of 100% single-room accommodation on staff and patient experience, safety and costs. BMJ Quality and Safety. 2016;25(4):241-56. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L609233525.
- 101. Maben J, Griffiths P, Penfold C, Simon M, Pizzo E, Anderson J, et al. Evaluating a major innovation in hospital design: workforce implications and impact on patient and staff experiences of all single room hospital accommodation. NIHR Journals Library Health Services and Delivery Research. 2015;02:02. Available from: <u>http://www.tcd.ie/Library/resources/restrict.cgi?http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cg</u> <u>i?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=medp&AN=25719188</u>.
- 102. McDonald EG, Dendukuri N, Frenette C, Lee TC. Time-Series Analysis of Health Care-Associated Infections in a New Hospital with All Private Rooms. JAMA Internal Medicine. 2019. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>628982383</u>.
- 103. Simon M, Maben J, Murrells T, Griffiths P. Is single room hospital accommodation associated with differences in healthcareassociated infection, falls, pressure ulcers or medication errors? A natural experiment with non-equivalent controls. Journal of Health Services Research and Policy. 2016;21(3):147-55. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>611337754</u>.
- 104. Singh I, Okeke J, Edwards C. Outcome of in-patient falls in hospitals with 100% single rooms and multi-bedded wards. Age and Ageing. 2015;44(6):1032-5. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>607009476</u>.
- 105.
 Young C, Edwards C, Singh I. Impact of Hospital Design on Acutely Unwell Patients with Dementia.

 Geriatrics.
 2017;2(1):12.

 Available
 from: http://www.tcd.ie/Library/resources/restrict.cgi?http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cg

 i?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=prem&AN=31011015.
- 106. Handbook G, Schünemann H, Brożek J, Guyatt G, Oxman A. Handbook for grading the quality of evidence and the strength of recommendations using the GRADE approach (updated October 2013). GRADE Working Group. 2013.
- Lundstrom T, Pugliese G, Bartley J, Cox J, Guither C. Organizational and environmental factors that affect worker health and safety and patient outcomes. Am J Infect Control. 2002;30(2):93-106.
- 108. Baker GR, Norton PG, Flintoft V, Blais R, Brown A, Cox J, et al. The Canadian Adverse Events Study: the incidence of adverse events among hospital patients in Canada. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 2004;170(11):1678-86. Available from: <u>https://www.cmaj.ca/content/cmaj/170/11/1678.full.pdf</u>.
- 109. Facility Guidelines Institute. Guidelines for Design and Construction of Health Care Facilities. Washington DC: 2006.Available from: <u>https://www.fgiguidelines.org/wpcontent/uploads/2016/07/2006guidelines.pdf</u>.
- 110. Verderber S, Gray S, Suresh-Kumar S, Kercz D, Parshuram C. Intensive Care Unit Built

Environments: A Comprehensive Literature Review (2005-2020). Herd. 2021;14(4):368-415.

111. Stiller A, Salm F, Bischoff P, Gastmeier P. Relationship between hospital ward design and healthcare-associated infection rates: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2016;5:51-. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27957323</u>

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5129243/.

- 112. ARHAI Scotland Infection Control team. Literature Review and Practice Recommendations: Existing and emerging technologies for decontamination of the health and care environment: Airborne Hydrogen Peroxide. 2022 7 February 2022.Available from: <u>https://www.nss.nhs.scot/media/2200/2022-02-07-airborne-hydrogen-peroxide-v20.pdf</u>.
- 113. StatWales. Population estimates by local authority and age 2020 [updated Mid year 2020. Available from: <u>https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority/populationestimates-by-localauthority-age</u>]. Accessed: 30 September 2021
- 114. Central Statistics Office. Census 2016 Summary Results Part 1. Cork: 2017.Available from: <u>https://www.cso.ie/en/media/csoie/newsevents/documents/census2016summaryre sultspart1/Census2016SummaryPart1.pdf</u>.
- 115. Public Health Wales. National Point Prevalence Survey of Healthcare Associated Infection, Device Usage and Antimicrobial Prescribing 2017: Wales Cardiff: 2018.Available from: <u>https://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/888/Wales%202017%20PPS%20Re</u> port%20Final%28b%29.pdf.
- 116. Department of Health. Health in Ireland: Key Trends 2019. Dublin: 2019. Available from: https://assets.gov.ie/45117/6a4f970018d6477bac38f4539f80e927.pdf.
- 117. OECD. Stemming the Superbug Tide2018.
- 118. Ramsay AI, Fulop NJ. Why evaluate 'common sense' quality and safety interventions? BMJ Quality & amp; Safety. 2016;25(4):224-5. Available from: https://qualitysafety.bmj.com/content/qhc/25/4/224.full.pdf.
- 119. Taylor E, Card AJ, Piatkowski M. Single-Occupancy Patient Rooms: A Systematic Review of the Literature Since 2006. Herd. 2018;11(1):85-100.
- 120. Darley ESR, Vasant J, Leeming J, Hammond F, Matthews S, Albur M, et al. Impact of moving to a new hospital build, with a high proportion of single rooms, on healthcare-associated infections and outbreaks. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2018;98(2):191-3. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results2subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=1

http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 618030138.

- 121. Graves N, Mitchell BG, Otter JA, Kiernan M. The cost-effectiveness of temporary single-patient rooms to reduce risks of healthcare-associated infection. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2021;116:21-8. Available from: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195670121002644</u>.
- 122. Storr J, Twyman A, Zingg W, Damani N, Kilpatrick C, Reilly J, et al. Core components for effective infection prevention and control programmes: new WHO evidence-based recommendations. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6:6-. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28078082

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5223492/.

- 123. Søndergaard SF, Beedholm K, Kolbæk R, Frederiksen K. Patients' and Nurses' Experiences of All Single-Room Hospital Accommodation: A Scoping Review. HERD: Health Environments Research & Design Journal. 2021;15(1):292-314. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/19375867211047548.
- 124. Abuihmoud A, Koehn C, Patel SB, Wright D, Lomma M, Fujiu K, et al. Unit-based justin-time coaching significantly improves hand hygiene compliance. American journal of infection control. 2018;46(6):S77. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>622943147</u>.
- 125. Ara L, Tamal EH, Hossain F, Alam NH, Sarker SA. Comparative Analysis of HCWs' IPC Competency at Different Hospitals in Bangladesh: Success of a Multimodal Intervention for a Healthier Tomorrow. American journal of infection control. 2019;47(6):S7-S8. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> 2002003840.
- 126. Ara L, Tamal EH, Hossain F, Alam NH, Sarker SA. Comparative Analysis of HCWs' IPC Competency at Different Hospitals in Bangladesh: Success of a Multimodal Intervention for a Healthier Tomorrow...46th Annual Conference, APIC 2019, Philadelphia, PA. American journal of infection control. 2019;47:S7-S8. Available from: <u>https://ucc.idm.oclc.org/login?URL=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=</u> <u>true&db=rzh&AN=136691016&site=ehost-live</u>.
- 127. Ara L, Vashkar SMK, Mowla SMN, Hossain D. Role of education in improving competencies of nurses to infection control, delivering healthcare and decreasing occupational hazards in bangladesh. American journal of infection control. 2015;43(6):S4. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L614159558.
- 128. Aughey H, Duffin W, Kyaw T, Zar NT. Goal-setting and performance feedback are effective tools for improving hand hygiene in a low resource paediatric health facility. Archives of disease in childhood. 2017;102:A124-A5. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>616986998</u>.
- 129. Bailey C. The effects of executive involvement, goal setting, targeted education and caregiver recognition on hand hygiene performance. American journal of infection control. 2013;41(6):S128. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L71086381.
- 130. Bartlomé-Wyss N, Laffer EB, Erlanger T, Limacher A, Conen A, Mohr-Edokpolo C, et al. Can we interpret hand hygiene compliance data over time? Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619544891</u>.
- 131. Benudis A, Stone S, Sait AS, Mahoney I, Price LL, Moreno-Koehler A, et al. Pitfalls and Unexpected Benefits of an Electronic Hand Hygiene Monitoring System. American journal of infection control. 2019;17:17. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>dp&AN=31005345</u>.

- 132. Blumstein S. Improving hand-hygiene compliance and reducing healthcare associated infections with automated hand-hygiene compliance monitoring. American journal of infection control. 2014;42(6):S117-S8. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> 71490792.
- 133. Bouk M, Mutterer M, Schore M, Alper P. Use of an electronic hand hygiene compliance system to improve hand hygiene, reduce MRSA, and improve financial performance. American journal of infection control. 2016;44(6):S100-S1. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>72334456</u>.
- 134. Brazzell BD. Improving high hand-hygiene compliance and reducing healthcareassociated infection in eight nursing units. American journal of infection control. 2014;42(6):S25-S6. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 71490623.
- 135. Bren V, Anderson J, Gillett K, Grassel K, Swendseid L, Hansen S. Use of positive deviance and electronic data collection in a hospital hand hygiene program. American journal of infection control. 2015;43(6):S63. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>614159663</u>.
- 136. Cabrera Tejada GG, Mora Muriel JG, Lopez-Bajoz Mesa MDC, Azevedo ASL, Perez MF, Benito Miralles CM, et al. Influence of pocket size alcohol-based hand-rub solutions in the degree of compliance of hand hygiene recommendations. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619544850</u>.
- 137. Cape A. Automated hand hygiene monitoring and nosocomial infection marker reduction. American journal of infection control. 2013;41(6):S58-S9. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>71086259</u>.
- 138. Choe PG, Shin MJ, Lee KH, Kwon EJ, Hong MH, Jeon IY, et al. lintervention strategy consisting of education, bundle checklist, and feedback was insufficient to reduce central line-associated blood stream infection (CLABSI) rates in Korea: 2-year experience in 26 hospitals. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L619544941.
- 139. Cole M, Nair N, Cook J, Van Dyke M, Cagle S, Robinson R, et al. Escalation and deescalation plan for carbapenem-resistant gram negative organisms in critical care. American journal of infection control. 2012;40(5):e33. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> 70811521.
- 140. Collins A, Moore T, Davenport P. Targeting the competitive spirit to diminish nosocomial infection markers. American journal of infection control. 2013;41(6):S51-S2. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L71086247.
- 141. Cornistein W, Novau A, Paulovsky L, Fabbro L, Kremer G, Pereyra ML, et al. Multimodal strategy to reduce the incidence of carbapenemresistant Klebsiella pneumoniae.

Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> 619544652.

- 142. Creel PM. Does automated hand hygiene monitoring help reduce HAI? A comparison of trends for monitored and non-monitored units. American journal of infection control. 2015;43(6):S57. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L614159613.
- 143. De La Rosa D, Xicoténcatl-Cortés J, Cervantes-Castillo A, Ochoa-Pérez SA, Cruz-Cordoba A, López-Martínez B, et al. Hand hygiene program: "Go for 100*". Whole impact (hospital cost, MRSA attack, Nosocomial infections and device related infections). International Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2016;45:346-7. Available from:

http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 72245700.

- 144. Denny N, Martinez-Cibrian N, Shorten RJ, Tholouli E, Dignan F, Dodgson A, et al. Impact of a multi-faceted intervention bundle on the colonization rates of multidrug resistant bacteria in haemato-oncology patients. HemaSphere. 2018;2:1075-6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>625922204</u>.
- 145. Fernandez C. Hand hygiene pilot test at the Mexican social security institute. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619544725</u>.
- 146. Flor JP, Añonuevo NA, Bautista M, Vergara J, De Roxas VJ, Kwek M. Increasing hand hygiene compliance through an evidenced-based strategy. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619524655</u>.
- 147. Flor JP, Bautista M, Vergara J, De Roxas VJ, Añonuevo NA, Kwek M. Implementing multiple interventions through the use of an electronic monitoring system in increasing the hand hygiene compliance in medical surgical ICU. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L619524681.
- 148. Fredj SB, Ghali H, Rejeb MB, Khefacha S, Latiri HS. Evaluating the effectiveness of an intervention program to improve hand hygiene compliance in a tunisian university hospital. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L619544655.
- 149. Ghaiaty S. Role of effective communication in improvement of hand hygiene compliance in emergency department. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2018;7. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L622822882.
- Hang PT, Hang TTT, Hanh TTM, Gordon C. Effectiveness of education, observation and feedback to hand hygiene compliance in healthcare workers. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control.
 2017;6.
 Available

http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 619524847.

- 151. Hoffmann M, Gombotz V, Pregartner G, Brunner G, Sendlhofer G. Hand hygiene compliance at intensive care units: A prospective observational study. Intensive care medicine experimental. 2018;6. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L624865370.
- 152. Holmes M, Simmons S, Passey D, Hare D, Green S. The Impact of an Enhanced Infection Prevention Bundle on Gram-Negative Infection Rates. American journal of infection control. 2019;47(6):S18-S9. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> 2002003899.
- 153. Husin SA, Lee YF, Rashid NAA, Azizan A, Fajariah P, Bakhtiar NF, et al. Effect of the world health organization multimodal hand hygiene improvement strategies on healthcare associated infections prevalence in 14 tertiary hospitals in Malaysia. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619545110</u>.
- 154. John JS, Baumgarten K, Schmucker D, Austin K. 15 seconds to save a life: Increasing hand hygiene adherence. Ochsner Journal. 2017;17(3):e47. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>621353215</u>.
- 155. Khatoon A, Punjwani R, Bana S, Rafiq R. A cost-effective and care-efficient behavioral change strategy: Health care workers hand hygiene compliance in pediatric oncology center in low middle income country. Pediatric Blood and Cancer. 2015;62:S201. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L613189615.
- 156. Knepper B, Miller A, Reese S, Kurtz J, Stella S, Young H. Electronic hand hygiene monitoring: A tool to drive improvement and measure impact. Open forum infectious diseases. 2017;4:S408-S9. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>628003514</u>.
- 157. Knepper B, Miller A, Ruf K, Winks TV, Zoetewey J, Douglas I, et al. Impact of electronic hand hygiene monitoring on hospital-acquired clostridium difficile infection rates. Open forum infectious diseases. 2017;4:S407-S8. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L628120222.
- 158. Landon E, Pacholek G, Runjo D, Garcia-Houchins S, Ridgway JP, Weber SG, et al. Sustained improvement in hand hygiene compliance using a decentralized, technology-based approach. Open forum infectious diseases. 2017;4:S408. Available from:

http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 628120239.

159. Lengerke T, Krauth C, Stahmeyer J, Lutze B, Lange K, Chaberny I. Cost-effectiveness of psychologically tailored hand hygiene interventions: results of the psygiene-trial. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;Conference: International Conference on Prevention and Infection Control, ICPIC 2017. Switzerland. 6(Supplement 3). Available

from: <u>https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-</u>01622921/full.

- 160. Lim J, Song JS, Oh B, Song HJ, Lee MH, Kang DK, et al. The implementation of intervention program based on who multi-modal hand hygiene improvement strategy in a tertiary care university hospital. American journal of infection control. 2015;43(6):S61-S2. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>614159648</u>.
- 161. Littau C, White B. Immediate feedback yields immediate impact: Results of an individual-based electronic hand hygiene compliance monitoring system on healthcare worker behavior. American journal of infection control. 2018;46(6):S63. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L

http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 622943042.

- 162. Lohr SR, Karakula T. 200%: Hardwiring a hand hygiene Campaign. American journal of infection control. 2016;44(6):S86. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> 72334418.
- 163. Luangasanatip N, Hongsuwan M, Lubell Y, Limmathurotsakul D, Srisamang P, Day NPJ, et al. Cost-effectiveness of hand hygiene promotion for MRSA blood stream infection in ICU settings. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2015;4. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> 72038934.
- 164. MacFadden D, Moore C, So J, Cohen A, Wayment L, Yirenkyi A, et al. Use of wireles hand rub dispenser monitoring (eMonitoring) to improve hand hygiene adherence: A pilot study. Canadian Journal of Infectious Diseases and Medical Microbiology. 2015;26(2):e25. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>615291919</u>.
- 165. Melbarde-Kelmere A. Hand hygiene and catheter related blood stream infection control in intensive care unit, University Hospital in Latvia. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619544780</u>.
- 166. Moghnieh R, Abdallah D, Soboh R, Abyad A, Al-Helou M. Healthcare workers' compliance to the "five moments of hand hygiene": Comparison of two interventional methods. Open forum infectious diseases. 2016;3. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L627805305.
- 167. Molina-Jaimes A, Del Cueto FG, Roman-Lopez C, Sandoval-Hernández S, Garcia-Pineda B, Compte DV. Patients' family empowering to increase hand hygiene (HH) compliance in health-care workers (HCW) from a hematology-oncology ward in Mexico City. Open forum infectious diseases. 2017;4:S412. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L628090458.
- Moore LH. Impact of an automated hand hygiene monitoring technology on hand hygiene compliance and infection rates. American journal of infection control. 2013;41(6):S132.
 Available

http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 71086389.

- 169. Muller MP, Wallace E, Junaid S. A cluster randomized trial of immediate hand hygiene compliance feedback. Open forum infectious diseases. 2016;3. Available from: https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-01934015/full.
- 170. Nakamura I, Fujita H, Tsukimori A, Kobayashi T, Sato A, Fukushima S, et al. Scenariobased simulation healthcare education for hand hygiene. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619524639</u>.
- 171. Parada J, Boldyga A, Wawrzyniak M, Fujiu K, Trulis E, Pua H, et al. Significant improvement in hand hygiene practices with just-in-time coaching and targeted solutions. American journal of infection control. 2015;43(6):S62. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>614159654</u>.
- 172. Raghuwanshi K, Sarma S, Sengupta S, Mehta Y, Sahni P. Effectiveness of regular feedback in improving hand hygiene compliance among doctors and nurses in a tertiary care hospital in India. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619545186</u>.
- 173. Raglio A, Averara F, Aristolao R, Caglioni G, Cacciabue E, Cesa S, et al. Hand hygiene and the use of information and communication technologies (ICT) for education, who selfassessment framework and direct observation of compliance. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619544951</u>.
- 174. Rastogi N, Mathur P, Karoung A, Gunjiyal J. Impact of automated surveillance, hand hygiene and preventive interventions on device associated infections at a tertiary care Indian Hospital. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619544812</u>.
- 175. Richards AM, Prasek D, Mamon Jr R. Increased hand hygiene performance decreases nosocomial infection markers and cost after the implementation of an automated hand hygiene monitoring system. American journal of infection control. 2014;42(6):S138. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L71490830.
- 176. Roberts S, Freeman J, Jowitt D. Hand hygiene New Zealand: The value of a national program in achieving and sustaining hand hygiene performance. Open forum infectious diseases. 2016;3. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L627805243.
- 177. Ross J. Improving hand hygiene:Anonymously validated data driven approach producing sustainable culture change utilizing "one and up" accountability agents across a healthcare system-a cost-effective national best practice. Open forum infectious diseases. 2017;4:S409. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L628003547.

- 178. Saito H, Inoue K, Ditai J, Wanume B, Abeso J, Weeks A. Alcohol-based hand rub and incidence of healthcare associated infections in a rural regional referral and teaching hospital in Uganda. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619545086</u>.
- 179. Sanders CS, Cole M, Scarborough T, Brown R. Improving patient safety by increasing hand-hygiene compliance and decreasing healthcare-associated infections. American journal of infection control. 2014;42(6):S135-S6. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L71490825.
- 180. Schönfeld A, Getachew M, Beyene T, Pfäfflin F, Schmidt N, Feldt T, et al. Who multimodal hand hygiene improvement strategy and its effect on hand hygiene adherence in the asella teaching hospital, central Ethiopia. Open forum infectious diseases. 2016;3. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L627805291.
- 181. Seeto J, Low YC, Lim J, Miao YL, Soong M. Effectiveness of patient zone (PZ) in improving hand hygiene (HH) compliance. Pediatric Critical Care Medicine. 2018;19(6):117. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>623816214</u>.
- 182. Shih TP, Chen CY, Chen SJ, Wu MC, Yang WJ, Chou ML, et al. Educational programs increase the compliance of bundle care: Experience in a regional hospital in taiwan. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619525164</u>.
- 183. Simmonds B, Granado-Villar D. Cost effectiveness of an electronic hand hygiene monitoring system (EHHMS) in the prevention of healthcare-associated infections. American journal of infection control. 2012;40(5):e117-e8. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>70811664</u>.
- 184. So J, Moore C, McCreight L, Willcocks D, McGeer A. Impact of introducing group emonitoring on hand hygiene adherence and MRSA acquisition at an acute care teaching hospital. Open forum infectious diseases. 2016;3. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>627805322</u>.
- 185. Stevens RP, Philp J, Kelly S, Krstevska B. Results of a multiresistant organism (MRO) reduction initiative in Critical Care Medicine (CCM). Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L619544828.
- 186. Ulloa K, Seguel A, Vargas C, Muñoz V, Febré N. Utility of the multimodal strategy in hand hygiene: The experience of a public hospital in Chile. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619545172</u>.
- 187. Von Lengerke T, Krauth C, Stahmeyer JT, Lutze B, Lange K, Chaberny IF. Costeffectiveness of psychologically tailored hand hygiene interventions: Results of the

psygiene-trial. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> 619545226.

- 188. Von Lengerke T, Lutze B, Krauth C, Lange K, Stahmeyer JT, Chaberny IF. Sustainability takes time: effects of the psychologically tailored interventions on hand hygiene compliance in the PSYGIENE cluster-randomized controlled trial after two years of follow-up. International journal of medical microbiology. 2016;306(8):16 . Available from: https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-01303868/full.
- 189. Von Lengerke T, Lutze B, Krauth C, Lange K, Stahmeyer JT, Chaberny IF. "Money makes money"-effects in hand hygiene promotion: Earlier adopter wards benefit stronger from tailored interventions than later adopters. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> 619545006.
- 190. Wofford JE. Success with technology to increase hand hygiene compliance. American journal of infection control. 2013;41(6):S61. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L71086264.
- 191. Wong SC, Tan PY. Strategies to improve hand hygiene practice. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619544836</u>.
- 192. Wundavalli L, Agrawal US, Satpathy S, Arya S, Kumar A, Asanai TA. Infection control in the stem cell transplant unit: A quality improvement initiative. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619544742</u>.
- 193. Zahreddine NK, Tannous J, Kardas T, Ahmadieh R, Kanafani Z, Sharara SK. The impact of surveillance cameras in improving infection control practices and outcomes in an adult medical-surgical ICU in a Lebanese tertiary care center. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>619544925</u>.
- 194. Zivkovic I, Ng M, Ajiko M, Duffy D, Fashola B. Hand hygiene education campaign at soroti regional referral hospital, Uganda. Journal of investigative medicine. 2018;66(1):190. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>620637614</u>.
- 195. Lee BY, Wettstein ZS, McGlone SM, Bailey RR, Umscheid CA, Smith KJ, et al. Economic value of norovirus outbreak control measures in healthcare settings. Clinical Microbiology & Infection. 2011;17(4):640-6. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me d7&AN=20731684</u>.
- 196. Moller-Sorensen H, Korshin A, Mogensen T, Hoiby N. New technology markedly improves hand-hygiene performance among healthcare workers after restroom visits. Journal of hospital infection. 2016;92(4):337-9. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u>

d12&AN=26597634.

197. Musu M, Finco G, Mura P, Landoni G, Piazza MF, Messina M, et al. Controlling catheter-related bloodstream infections through a multi-centre educational programme for intensive care units. Journal of hospital infection. 2017;97(3):275-81. Available https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me

https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me d13&AN=28823548.

- 198. Mutlu EY, Senturan L. Effects of Hickman Catheter Care Training on Practices of Nurses. International Journal of Caring Sciences. 2017;10(3):1633-42. Available from: <u>https://ucc.idm.oclc.org/login?URL=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=</u> <u>true&db=rzh&AN=127731957&site=ehost-live</u>.
- 199. Nelson RE, Jones M, Leecaster M, Samore MH, Ray W, Huttner A, et al. An Economic Analysis of Strategies to Control Clostridium Difficile Transmission and Infection Using an Agent-Based Simulation Model. 2016;11(3):e0152248. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>dc&AN=27031464</u>.
- 200. Phelps ME, Reed WG. Improving hand hygiene compliance by changing safety culture in an academic medical center. Canadian Journal of Infection Control. 2016;31(4):241-8. Available from: https://ucc.idm.oclc.org/login?URL=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=rzh&AN=120397853&site=ehost-live.
- 201. Brain D. Using health economics to improve resource allocation decisions relating to Clostridium difficile. Infection, disease and health. 2016;21 (3):145. Available from: https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-01437444/full.
- 202. Saito H, Inoue K, Ditai J, Wanume B, Abeso J, Balyejussa J, et al. Alcohol-based hand rub and incidence of healthcare associated infections in a rural regional referral and teaching hospital in Uganda ('WardGel' study). Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control. 2017;6:129. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>dc&AN=29299303</u>.
- 203. Tschudin-Sutter S, Sepulcri D, Dangel M, Ulrich A, Frei R, Widmer AF. Simplifying the WHO protocol: Three steps versus six steps for performance of hand hygiene - a cluster-randomized trial. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2018;03:03. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>dp&AN=30395180</u>.
- 204. Barker A, Scaria E, Safdar N, Alagoz O. In4 reducing hospital-onset clostridium difficile infection: An agent-based modeling approach to evaluate intervention cost-effectiveness. Value in Health. 2019;22:S40. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L_2002156805.
- 205. Gomarverdi S, Khatiban M, Bikmoradi A, Soltanian AR. Effects of a multi-component educational intervention on nurses' knowledge and adherence to standard precautions in intensive care units. Journal of Infection Prevention. 2019;20(2):83-90. Available https://ucc.idm.oclc.org/login?URL=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=

true&db=rzh&AN=135588663&site=ehost-live.

206. Harris BD, Hanson C, Christy C, Adams T, Banks A, Willis TS, et al. Strict hand hygiene and other practices shortened stays and cut costs and mortality in a pediatric intensive

care unit. Health Affairs. 2011;30(9):1751-61. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>d7&AN=21900667</u>.

- 207. Radhakrishna K, Waghmare A, Ekstrand M, Raj T, Selvam S, Sreerama S, et al. Real-Time Feedback for Improving Compliance to Hand Sanitization Among Healthcare Workers in an Open Layout ICU Using Radiofrequency Identification. Journal of Medical Systems. 2015;39(6):1-8. Available from: <u>https://ucc.idm.oclc.org/login?URL=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=</u> true&db=rzh&AN=115925117&site=ehost-live.
- 208. Song X, Stockwell DC, Floyd T, Short BL, Singh N. Improving hand hygiene compliance in health care workers: Strategies and impact on patient outcomes. American journal of infection control. 2013;41(10):e101-e5. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>52563382</u>.
- 209. Xiong P, Zhang J, Wang X, Wu TL, Hall BJ. Effects of a mixed media education intervention program on increasing knowledge, attitude, and compliance with standard precautions among nursing students: a randomized controlled trial. American journal of infection control. 2017;45(4):389 95. Available from: https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-01443929/full.
- 210. Ellison RT, Barysauskas CM, Rundensteiner EA, Wang D, Barton B. A prospective controlled trial of an electronic hand hygiene reminder system. Open forum infectious diseases. 2015;2(4):1-8. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L614601035.
- Pong S, Holliday P, Fernie G. Effect of electronic real-time prompting on hand hygiene behaviors in health care workers. American journal of infection control. 2018;46(7):768 74. Available from: https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-01466016/full.
- 212. Pong S, Holliday P, Fernie G. Effect of intermittent deployment of an electronic monitoring system on hand hygiene behaviors in healthcare workers. American journal of infection control. 2019;47(4):376-80. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=prem&AN=30502113.
- 213. Rai H, Knighton S, Zabarsky TF, Donskey CJ. A randomized trial to determine the impact of a 5 moments for patient hand hygiene educational intervention on patient hand hygiene. American journal of infection control. 2017;45(5):551 - 3. Available from: <u>https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-01443699/full</u>.
- 214. Rashidi B, Li A, Patel R, Harmsen IE, Sabri E, Kyeremanteng K, et al. Effectiveness of an extended period of flashing lights and strategic signage to increase the salience of alcohol-gel dispensers for improving hand hygiene compliance. American journal of infection control. 2016;44(7):782-5. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=med12&AN=26922102.
- 215. Temime L, Cohen N, Ait-Bouziad K, Denormandie P, Dab W, Hocine MN. Impact of a multicomponent hand hygiene-related intervention on the infectious risk in nursing homes: a cluster randomized trial. American journal of infection control. 2018;46(2):173 9. Available from:

https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-01422667/full.

- 216. Koff M, Brown J, Marshall E, O'Malley A, Jenson J, Heard S, et al. Frequency of Hand Decontamination of Intraoperative Providers and Reduction of Postoperative Healthcare-Associated Infections: a Randomized Clinical Trial of a Novel Hand Hygiene System. Infection control and hospital epidemiology 37 (8) (pp 888-895), 2016 Date of publication: 01 Aug 2016. 2016. Available from: https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-01197291/full.
- 217. Jansson MM, Syrjala HP, Ohtonen PP, Merilainen MH, Kyngas HA, Ala-Kokko TI. Simulation education as a single intervention does not improve hand hygiene practices: A randomized controlled follow-up study. American journal of infection control. 2016;44(6):625-30. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>d12&AN=26899529</u>.
- 218. Al Kuwaiti A. Impact of a multicomponent hand hygiene intervention strategy in reducing infection rates at a university hospital in Saudi Arabia. Interventional Medicine & Applied Science. 2017;9(3):137-43. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=prem2&AN=29201437.
- 219. Allegranzi B, Gayet-Ageron A, Damani N, Bengaly L, McLaws ML, Moro ML, et al. Global implementation of WHO's multimodal strategy for improvement of hand hygiene: a quasi-experimental study. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2013;13(10):843-51. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=med9&AN=23972825.
- 220. Al-Tawfiq JA, Treble M, Abdrabalnabi R, Okeahialam C, Khazindar S, Myers S. Using targeted solution tools as an initiative to improve hand hygiene: challenges and lessons learned. Epidemiology & Infection. 2018;146(2):276-82. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me d13&AN=29235431</u>.
- 221. Anderson R, Rosenberg A, Garg S, Nahass J, Nenos A, Egorova N, et al. Establishing the Foundation to Support Health System Quality Improvement: Using a Hand Hygiene Initiative to Define the Process. Journal of patient safety. 2019;04:04. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>dp&AN=30844890</u>.
- 222. Anwar MM, Elareed HR. Improvement of hand hygiene compliance among health care workers in intensive care units. Journal of Preventive Medicine & Hygiene. 2019;60(1):E31-E5. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=prem&AN=31041408.
- 223. Apisarnthanarak A, Eiamsitrakoon T, Mundy LM. Behavior-Based Interventions to Improve Hand Hygiene Adherence among Intensive Care Unit Healthcare Workers in Thailand. Infection control and hospital epidemiology. 2015;36(5):517-21. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results2subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=1

http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 612995720.

224. Ara L, Bashar F, Tamal MEH, Siddiquee NKA, Mowla SMN, Sarker SA. Transferring knowledge into practice: a multi-modal, multi-centre intervention for enhancing nurses' infection control competency in Bangladesh. Journal of hospital infection.

2019;102(2):234-40. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre m&AN=30081147.

- 225. Arai A, Tanabe M, Nakamura A, Yamasaki D, Muraki Y, Kaneko T, et al. Utility of electronic hand hygiene counting devices for measuring physicians' hand hygiene adherence applied to outpatient settings. American journal of infection control. 2016;44(12):1481-5. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=med12&AN=27665030.
- 226. Arise K, Nishizaki S, Morita T, Yagi Y, Takeuchi S. Continued direct observation and feedback of hand hygiene adherence can result in long-term improvement. American journal of infection control. 2016;44(11):e211-e4. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=med12&AN=27810069.
- 227. Arntz PR, Hopman J, Nillesen M, Yalcin E, Bleeker-Rovers CP, Voss A, et al. Effectiveness of a multimodal hand hygiene improvement strategy in the emergency department. American journal of infection control. 2016;44(11):1203-7. Available from:

https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me d12&AN=27160981.

- 228. Baccolini V, D'Egidio V, de Soccio P, Migliara G, Massimi A, Alessandri F, et al. Effectiveness over time of a multimodal intervention to improve compliance with standard hygiene precautions in an intensive care unit of a large teaching hospital. Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control. 2019;8:92. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre</u> <u>m&AN=31164981</u>.
- 229. Beyfus TA, Dawson NL, Danner CH, Rawal B, Gruber PE, Petrou SP. The use of passive visual stimuli to enhance compliance with handwashing in a perioperative setting. American journal of infection control. 2016;44(5):496-9. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me d12&AN=26831276.
- 230. Boyce JM, Laughman JA, Ader MH, Wagner PT, Parker AE, Arbogast JW. Impact of an automated hand hygiene monitoring system and additional promotional activities on hand hygiene performance rates and healthcare-associated infections. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(7):741-7. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=prem&AN=31106714.
- 231. Brocket J, Shaban RZ. Characteristics of a successful hospital hand hygiene program: An Australian perspective. Healthcare Infection. 2015;20(4):101-7. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>606837896</u>.
- 232. Caris MG, Labuschagne HA, Dekker M, Kramer MHH, van Agtmael MA, Vandenbroucke-Grauls C. Nudging to improve hand hygiene. Journal of hospital infection. 2018;98(4):352-8. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>d13&AN=28974467</u>.
- 233. Chhapola V, Brar R. Impact of an educational intervention on hand hygiene compliance and infection rate in a developing country neonatal intensive care unit.

International Journal of Nursing Practice. 2015;21(5):486-92. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> d11&AN=24666764.

- 234. Crofton CC, Foley SJ. An investigation of radiographers' mobile phone use and the success of an awareness campaign at reducing the nosocomial infection risks. Radiography (London). 2018;24(1):57-63. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=med13&AN=29306377.
- 235. Cunningham D, Brilli RJ, McClead RE, Davis JT. The Safety Stand-down: A Technique for Improving and Sustaining Hand Hygiene Compliance Among Health Care Personnel. Journal of patient safety. 2018;14(2):107-11. Available from: https://ucc.idm.oclc.org/login?URL=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct= true&db=rzh&AN=129915440&site=ehost-live.
- 236. De la Rosa-Zamboni D, Ochoa SA, Laris-Gonzalez A, Cruz-Cordova A, Escalona-Venegas G, Perez-Avendano G, et al. Everybody hands-on to avoid ESKAPE: effect of sustained hand hygiene compliance on healthcare-associated infections and multidrug resistance in a paediatric hospital. Journal of Medical Microbiology. 2018;67(12):1761-71. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=medl&AN=30372411.
- 237. Demirel A. Improvement of hand hygiene compliance in a private hospital using the Plan-Do-Check-Act (PDCA) method. Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences. 2019;35(3):721-5. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=prem&AN=31258583.
- 238. Diefenbacher S, Fliss PM, Tatzel J, Wenk J, Keller J. A quasi-randomized controlled before–after study using performance feedback and goal setting as elements of hand hygiene promotion. Journal of hospital infection. 2019;101(4):399 407. Available from: https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-01916105/full.
- 239. Doron SI, Kifuji K, Hynes BT, Dunlop D, Lemon T, Hansjosten K, et al. A multifaceted approach to education, observation, and feedback in a successful hand hygiene campaign. Joint Commission Journal on Quality & Patient Safety. 2011;37(1):3-10. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me

<u>d7&AN=21306060</u>.

- 240. Farhoudi F, Dashti AS, Davani MH, Ghalebi N, Sajadi G, Taghizadeh R. Impact of WHO Hand Hygiene Improvement Program Implementation: A Quasi-Experimental Trial. BioMed Research International. 2016;2016. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>613626728</u>.
- 241. Feyissa GT, Gomersall JS, Robertson-Malt S. Compliance to hand hygiene practice among nurses in Jimma University Specialized Hospital in Ethiopia: A best practice implementation project. JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports. 2014;12(1):318-37. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L373181960.
- 242. Flidel-Rimon O, Guri A, Levi D, Ciobotaro P, Oved M, Shinwell ES. Reduction of hospital-

acquired infections in the neonatal intensive care unit: A long-term commitment. American journal of infection control. 2019;05:05. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> dp&AN=30850254.

- 243. Fonguh S, Uwineza A, Catry B, Simon A. Belgian hand hygiene campaigns in ICU, 2005-2015. Archives of Public Health. 2016;74:47. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre</u> <u>m&AN=27826443</u>.
- 244. Fouad H, Halim MMA, Algebaly HF, Elmallakh NA. Influence of Handprint Culture Training on Compliance of Healthcare Workers with Hand Hygiene. Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Infectious Diseases. 2018;2018:3727521. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre</u> <u>m2&AN=29706997</u>.
- 245. Freeman J, Dawson L, Jowitt D, White M, Callard H, Sieczkowski C, et al. The impact of the Hand Hygiene New Zealand programme on hand hygiene practices in New Zealand's public hospitals. New Zealand Medical Journal. 2016;129(1443):67-76. Available <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> d12&AN=27736854.
- 246. Freeman JT, Sieczkowski C, Anderson T, Morris AJ, Keenan A, Roberts SA. Improving hand hygiene compliance in New Zealand hospitals to increase patient safety and reduce costs: Results from the first national hand hygiene compliance audit for 2012. New Zealand Medical Journal. 2012;125(1357). Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L365178787.
- 247. Gaube S, Tsivrikos D, Dollinger D, Lermer E. How a smiley protects health: A pilot intervention to improve hand hygiene in hospitals by activating injunctive norms through emoticons. 2018;13(5):e0197465. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me d13&AN=29782516.
- 248. Geilleit R, Hen ZQ, Chong CY, Loh AP, Pang NL, Peterson GM, et al. Feasibility of a realtime hand hygiene notification machine learning system in outpatient clinics. Journal of hospital infection. 2018;100(2):183-9. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>dl&AN=29649558</u>.
- 249. Gratton T, Gardner M. Using innovative technology to achieve near 100% hand hygiene compliance The Holy Grail of infection prevention. American journal of infection control. 2013;41(6):S10. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 71086168.
- 250. Grayson ML, Stewardson AJ, Russo PL, Ryan KE, Olsen KL, Havers SM, et al. Effects of the Australian National Hand Hygiene Initiative after 8 years on infection control practices, health-care worker education, and clinical outcomes: a longitudinal study. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2018;18(11):1269-77. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> 2001271166.
- 251. Hagel S, Ludewig K, Pletz MW, Frosinski J, Moeser A, Wolkewitz M, et al. Effectiveness of a hospital-wide infection control programme on the incidence of healthcare-

associated infections and associated severe sepsis and septic shock: a prospective interventional study. Clinical Microbiology & Infection. 2019;25(4):462-8. Available from:

https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre m&AN=30036671.

- 252. Hoffmann M, Sendlhofer G, Pregartner G, Gombotz V, Tax C, Zierler R, et al. Interventions to increase hand hygiene compliance in a tertiary university hospital over a period of 5 years: An iterative process of information, training and feedback. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 2019;28(5-6):912-9. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>dl&AN=30357973</u>.
- 253. Johnson L, Grueber S, Schlotzhauer C, Phillips E, Bullock P, Basnett J, et al. A multifactorial action plan improves hand hygiene adherence and significantly reduces central line-associated bloodstream infections. American journal of infection control. 2014;42(11):1146-51. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L603788130.
- 254. Kallam B, Pettitt-Schieber C, Owen M, Agyare Asante R, Darko E, Ramaswamy R. Implementation science in low-resource settings: using the interactive systems framework to improve hand hygiene in a tertiary hospital in Ghana. International Journal for Quality in Health Care. 2018;30(9):724-30. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me dl&AN=29788245.
- 255. Keller J, Wolfensberger A, Clack L, Kuster SP, Dunic M, Eis D, et al. Do wearable alcoholbased handrub dispensers increase hand hygiene compliance? - A mixed-methods study 11 Medical and Health Sciences 1117 Public Health and Health Services. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2018;7(1). Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>625090176</u>.
- 256. Korczak D, Schöffmann C. Medical and health economic evaluation of prevention- and control measures related to MRSA infections or -colonisations at hospitals. GMS Health Technology Assessment. 2010;6:9p-p. Available from: <u>https://ucc.idm.oclc.org/login?URL=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=rzh&AN=104999780&site=ehost-live</u>.
- 257. Kwok YLA, Juergens CP, McLaws M-L. Automated hand hygiene auditing with and without an intervention. American journal of infection control. 2016;44(12):1475-80. Available from: <u>https://ucc.idm.oclc.org/login?URL=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=rzh&AN=119652142&site=ehost-live.</u>
- 258. Lai CC, Lu MC, Tang HJ, Chen YH, Wu YH, Chiang HT, et al. Implementation of a national quality improvement program to enhance hand hygiene in nursing homes in Taiwan. Journal of Microbiology, Immunology and Infection. 2019;52(2):345-51. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L

http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 2001171657.

259. Laskar AM, R D, Bhat P, Pottakkat B, Narayan S, Sastry AS, et al. A multimodal intervention to improve hand hygiene compliance in a tertiary care center. American journal of infection control. 2018;46(7):775-80. Available from:

https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre m&AN=29753498.

- 260. Lee RA, Cutter GR, Pate JL, Boohaker E, Camins BC. Sustained High Level of Healthcare Worker Adherence with Hand Hygiene Practice Recommendations Using the Patientas-Observer Approach in the Ambulatory Setting. Infection control and hospital epidemiology. 2016;37(12):1496-8. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>613537143</u>.
- 261. Linam WM, Honeycutt MD, Gilliam CH, Wisdom CM, Deshpande JK. Impact of a Successful Speaking Up Program on Health-Care Worker Hand Hygiene Behavior. Pediatric Quality & Safety. 2017;2(4):e035. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre</u> <u>m2&AN=30229171</u>.
- 262. Lytsy B, Melbarde-Kelmere A, Hambraeus A, Liubimova A, Aspevall O. A joint, multilateral approach to improve compliance with hand hygiene in 4 countries within the Baltic region using the World Health Organization's SAVE LIVES: Clean Your Hands model. American journal of infection control. 2016;44(11):1208-13. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=med12&AN=27106164.
- 263. McCalla S, Reilly M, Thomas R, McSpedon-Rai D, McMahon LA, Palumbo M. An automated hand hygiene compliance system is associated with decreased rates of health care-associated infections. American journal of infection control. 2018;46(12):1381-6. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=prem2&AN=30509358.
- 264. McLean HS, Carriker C, Bordley WC. Good to Great: Quality-Improvement Initiative Increases and Sustains Pediatric Health Care Worker Hand Hygiene Compliance. Hospital Pediatrics. 2017;7(4):189-96. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>d13&AN=28280120</u>.
- 265. Moro ML, Morsillo F, Nascetti S, Parenti M, Allegranzi B, Pompa MG, et al. Determinants of success and sustainability of the WHO multimodal hand hygiene promotion campaign, Italy, 2007-2008 and 2014. Euro Surveillance: Bulletin Europeen sur les Maladies Transmissibles = European Communicable Disease Bulletin. 2017;22(23):08. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> d13&AN=28661390.
- 266. Mu X, Xu Y, Yang T, Zhang J, Wang C, Liu W, et al. Improving hand hygiene compliance among healthcare workers: an intervention study in a Hospital in Guizhou Province, China. Brazilian Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2016;20(5):413-8. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>d12&AN=27351752</u>.
- 267. Nakamura I, Fujita H, Tsukimori A, Kobayashi T, Sato A, Fukushima S, et al. Scenariobased simulation health care education for performance of hand hygiene. American journal of infection control. 2019;47(2):144-8. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre</u> <u>m&AN=30253903</u>.
- 268. Ndegwa L, Hatfield KM, Sinkowitz-Cochran R, D'Iorio E, Gupta N, Kimotho J, et al.

Evaluation of a program to improve hand hygiene in Kenyan hospitals through production and promotion of alcohol-based Handrub - 2012-2014. Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control. 2019;8:2. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre m&AN=30622703.

269. O'Donoghue M, Ng SH, Suen LK, Boost M. A quasi-experimental study to determine the effects of a multifaceted educational intervention on hand hygiene compliance in a radiography unit. Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control. 2016;5:36. Available from:

https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre m1&AN=27777757.

- 270. Oliveira AC, Gama CS, Paula AO. Multimodal strategy to improve the adherence to hand hygiene and self-assessment of the institution for the promotion and practice of hand hygiene. Journal of Public Health. 2018;40(1):163-8. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=prem2&AN=28369595.
- 271. Patel B, Engelbrecht H, McDonald H, Morris V, Smythe W. A multifaceted hospitalwide intervention increases hand hygiene compliance. South African Medical Journal Suid-Afrikaanse Tydskrif Vir Geneeskunde. 2016;106(4):32-5. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> d12&AN=27032842.
- 272. Pereira EB, Jorge MT, Oliveira EJ, Junior AL, Santos LR, Mendes-Rodrigues C. Evaluation of the Multimodal Strategy for Improvement of Hand Hygiene as Proposed by the World Health Organization. Journal of Nursing Care Quality. 2017;32(2):E11-E9. Available https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me

https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me d13&AN=27270847.

- 273. Pfafflin F, Tufa TB, Getachew M, Nigussie T, Schonfeld A, Haussinger D, et al. Implementation of the WHO multimodal Hand Hygiene Improvement Strategy in a University Hospital in Central Ethiopia. Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control. 2017;6:3. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre</u> <u>m2&AN=28070310</u>.
- 274. Phan HT, Tran HTT, Tran HTM, Dinh APP, Ngo HT, Theorell-Haglow J, et al. An educational intervention to improve hand hygiene compliance in Vietnam. BMC infectious diseases. 2018;18(1):116. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=med13&AN=29514595.
- 275. Reich JA, Goodstein ME, Callahan SE, Callahan KM, Crossley LW, Doron SI, et al. Physician report cards and rankings yield long-lasting hand hygiene compliance exceeding 90%. Critical Care (London, England). 2015;19:292. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>d11&AN=26271619</u>.
- 276. Sakihama T, Honda H, Saint S, Fowler KE, Kamiya T, Sato Y, et al. Improving healthcare worker hand hygiene adherence before patient contact: A multimodal intervention of hand hygiene practice in Three Japanese tertiary care centers. Journal of Hospital Medicine (Online). 2016;11(3):199-205. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me

<u>d12&AN=26427035</u>.

- 277. Sanchez-Carrillo LA, Rodriguez-Lopez JM, Galarza-Delgado DA, Baena-Trejo L, Padilla-Orozco M, Mendoza-Flores L, et al. Enhancement of hand hygiene compliance among health care workers from a hemodialysis unit using video-monitoring feedback. American journal of infection control. 2016;44(8):868-72. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>d12&AN=27068027</u>.
- 278. Shen L, Wang X, An J, An J, Zhou N, Sun L, et al. Implementation of WHO multimodal strategy for improvement of hand hygiene: a quasi-experimental study in a Traditional Chinese Medicine hospital in Xi'an, China. Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control. 2017;6:98. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=prem2&AN=28944053.
- 279. Skuntaniyom S, Malathum K, Tipluy P. The effectiveness of alcohol-based hand rub bottle holder: An assessment with hand hygiene compliance rate and a satisfaction of emergency department personnel. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017;6. Available from:

http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 619524744.

280. Staines A, Amherdt I, Lecureux E, Petignat C, Eggimann P, Schwab M, et al. Hand Hygiene Improvement and Sustainability: Assessing a Breakthrough Collaborative in Western Switzerland. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2017;38(12):1420-7. Available https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me

<u>d13&AN=28899451</u>.

- 281. Staines A, Vanderavero P, Duvillard B, Deriaz P, Erard P, Kundig F, et al. Sustained improvement in hand hygiene compliance using a multi-modal improvement programme at a Swiss multi-site regional hospital. Journal of hospital infection. 2018;100(2):176-82. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=medl&AN=29654810.
- 282. Stock S, Tebest R, Westermann K, Samel C, Strohbucker B, Stosch C, et al. Implementation of an innovative hands-on training to improve adherence to hygiene rules: A feasibility Study. Nurse education today. 2016;36:407-11. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>d12&AN=26526954</u>.
- 283. Su KC, Kou YR, Lin FC, Wu CH, Feng JY, Huang SF, et al. A simplified prevention bundle with dual hand hygiene audit reduces early-onset ventilator-associated pneumonia in cardiovascular surgery units: An interrupted time-series analysis. 2017;12(8):e0182252. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>d13&AN=28767690</u>.
- 284. Tartari E, Pires D, Bellissimo-Rodrigues F, De Kraker M, Borzykowski TH, Allegranzi B, et al. The global hand-sanitizing relay: promoting hand hygiene through innovation. Journal of hospital infection. 2017;95(2):189-93. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me d13&AN=28081910.
- 285. van Dijk MD, Mulder SA, Erasmus V, van Beeck AHE, Vermeeren J, Liu X, et al. A
multimodal regional intervention strategy framed as friendly competition to improve hand hygiene compliance. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(2):187-93. Available from:

https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre m&AN=30698134.

- 286. Visan FA, Zakaria A, Castro J, Alhasanat O, Ismail KA, Ansari NA, et al. SWITCH: Al Wakra Hospital Journey to 90% Hand Hygiene Practice Compliance, 2011 - 2015. BMJ Quality Improvement Reports. 2017;6(1). Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre</u> <u>m2&AN=28469905</u>.
- 287. Wetzker W, Walter J, Bunte-Schonberger K, Schwab F, Behnke M, Gastmeier P, et al. Hand Rub Consumption Has Almost Doubled in 132 German Hospitals Over 9 Years. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2017;38(7):870-2. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>d13&AN=28560930</u>.
- 288. Whitby M, McLaws ML, Slater K, Tong E, Johnson B. Three successful interventions in health care workers that improve compliance with hand hygiene: is sustained replication possible? 2008;36(5):349-55. Available from: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0196655307008048</u>.
- 289. Yanhong L, Liqun Z, Kuan C, Xin S. Application of PDCA cycle in the management of medical staff hand hygiene in community hospitals. Acta Medica Mediterranea. 2016;32(SpecialIssue1):477-80. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L614855293.
- 290. Yin S, Lim PK, Chan YH. Improving hand hygiene compliance with patient zone demarcation: More than just lines on the floor. Journal of Patient Safety & Risk Management. 2019;24(3):100-7. Available from: https://ucc.idm.oclc.org/login?URL=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=rzh&AN=137130509&site=ehost-live.
- 291. Yoo E, Ursua L, Clark R, Seok J, Jeon J, Kim HB. The effect of incorporating covert observation into established overt observation-based hand hygiene promotion programs. American journal of infection control. 2019;47(5):482-6. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=prem&AN=30558992</u>.
- 292. Finco G, Musu M, Landoni G, Campagna M, Lai A, Cabrini L, et al. Healthcareassociated respiratory infections in intensive care unit can be reduced by a hand hygiene program: A multicenter study. Australian Critical Care. 2018;31(6):340-6. Available from:

https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre m&AN=29248313.

293. Midturi JK, Narasimhan A, Barnett T, Sodek J, Schreier W, Barnett J, et al. A successful multifaceted strategy to improve hand hygiene compliance rates. 2015;43(5):533-6. Available from:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0196655315000668.

294. Moghnieh R, Soboh R, Abdallah D, El-Helou M, Al Hassan S, Ajjour L, et al. Health care workers' compliance to the My 5 Moments for Hand Hygiene: Comparison of 2 interventional methods. 2017;45(1):89-91. Available from: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0196655316308227</u>.

- 295. Romero DMP, Reboredo MM, Gomes EP, Coelho CM, Paula MAS, Souza LC, et al. Effects of the implementation of a hand hygiene education program among ICU professionals: an interrupted time-series analysis. Jornal Brasileiro De Pneumologia: Publicacao Oficial Da Sociedade Brasileira De Pneumologia E Tisilogia. 2019;45(5):e20180152. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre</u> <u>m&AN=31188977</u>.
- 296. Scherer AM, Reisinger HS, Goto M, Goedken CC, Clore GS, Marra AR, et al. Testing a novel audit and feedback method for hand hygiene compliance: A multicenter quality improvement study. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(1):89-94. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=prem&AN=30430974.
- 297. Shabot MM, Chassin MR, France AC, Inurria J, Kendrick J, Schmaltz SP. Using the Targeted Solutions Tool to Improve Hand Hygiene Compliance Is Associated with Decreased Health Care-Associated Infections. Joint Commission Journal on Quality & Patient Safety. 2016;42(1):6-17. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me d12&AN=26685929.
- 298. Stella SA, Stace RJ, Knepper BC, Reese SM, Keniston A, Burden M, et al. The effect of eye images and a social norms message on healthcare provider hand hygiene adherence. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(7):748-54. Available from:

https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=pre m&AN=31072412.

- 299. Farinas-Alvarez C, Portal-Maria T, Flor-Morales V, Aja-Herrero A, Fabo-Navarro M, Lanza-Marin S, et al. [A multimodal strategy to improve adherence to hand hygiene in a university hospital]. Revista de Calidad Asistencial. 2017;32(1):50-6. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>d13&AN=27614929</u>.
- 300. Hagel S, Ludewig K, Frosinski J, Porzelius C, Gastmeier P, Harbarth S, et al. Effectiveness of a hospital-wide educational programme for infection control to reduce the rate of health-care associated infections and related sepsis first results. Infection, Supplement. 2013;41(1):S75. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L71194109.
- 301. Hayashi M, Fujiwara H, Koufuku T, Nakai I. [Introduction of a Hand-hygiene Automated Monitoring System: Accuracy in Monitoring Hand Hygiene Compliance and Its Effect in Promoting Hand Hygiene Behaviour]. Kansenshogaku Zasshi - Journal of the Japanese Association for Infectious Diseases. 2016;90(6):803-8. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>dl&AN=30277678</u>.
- 302. Molina-Cabrillana J, Dorta-Hung ME, Otero Sanz L, Henandez Vera JR, Martin-Rodriguez MM, Garcia de Carlos P. [Influence of promotional material on hand hygiene in the safety culture of a tertiary hospital]. Revista de Calidad Asistencial. 2016;31 Suppl 1:55-61. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>d12&AN=27157796</u>.

- 303. Qu RR, Ye CF. [The application of failure mode and effect analysis to improve the hand hygiene compliance of medical staff in eye hospital]. Zhonghua Lao Dong Wei Sheng Zhi Ye Bing Za Zhi/Zhonghua Laodong Weisheng Zhiyebing Zazhi/Chinese Journal of Industrial Hygiene & Occupational Diseases. 2018;36(6):448-51. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>d13&AN=30248744</u>.
- 304. Graves N, Barnett A, White K, Jimmieson N, Page K, Campbell M, et al. Evaluating the economics of the Australian National Hand Hygiene Initiative. Healthcare Infection. 2012;17(1):5-10. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L364621717.
- 305. Huis A, Schoonhoven L, Grol R, Borm G, Adang E, Hulscher M, et al. Helping hands: a cluster randomised trial to evaluate the effectiveness of two different strategies for promoting hand hygiene in hospital nurses. Implementation Science. 2011;6:101. Available from: https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me

 d7&AN=21888660.

 306.
 Gastmeier
 P.
 Together
 for
 infection
 prevention.

 Http://www.hoint/trialsearch/trial2aspx?
 Trialid=drks00010822.
 2016.
 Available

 from:
 https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-01853616/full.

- 307. Erasmus V, Huis A, Oenema A, van Empelen P, Boog MC, van Beeck EH, et al. The ACCOMPLISH study. A cluster randomised trial on the cost-effectiveness of a multicomponent intervention to improve hand hygiene compliance and reduce healthcare associated infections. BMC public health. 2011;11:721. Available from: <u>https://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=me</u> <u>d7&AN=21943482</u>.
- 308. Pittet D. Impact of using a device providing individual feedback on healthcare workers' hand hygiene behaviour. <u>Http://www.hoint/trialsearch/trial2aspx</u>? Trialid=isrctn25430066. 2017. Available from: https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-01891403/full.
- 309. Chaberny I. Psychologically optimised hand hygiene promotion (PSYGIENE): a clusterrandomised trial. <u>Http://www.hoint/trialsearch/trial2aspx</u>? Trialid=drks00010960.
 2016. Available from: <u>https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-01851940/full</u>.
- 310. Tschudin Sutter S. The impact of hand hygiene technique on hand hygiene compliance and microbiological efficacy. <u>Http://www.hoint/trialsearch/trial2aspx</u>? Trialid=isrctn45923734. 2018. Available from: <u>https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-01896669/full</u>.
- 311. Dulny G, Zalewska M, Mlynarczyk G. An analysis of risk factors of Clostridiumdifficile infection in patients hospitalized in the teaching hospital in 2008. Przeglad epidemiologiczny. 2013;67(3):445-50, 547-51.
- 312. Findik UY, Ozbaş A, Cavdar I, Erkan T, Topcu SY. Effects of the contact isolation application on anxiety and depression levels of the patients. International Journal of Nursing Practice. 2012;18(4):340 6. Available from: https://www.cochranelibrary.com/central/doi/10.1002/central/CN-00917187/full.
- 313. Hamel M, Zoutman D, O'Callaghan C. Exposure to hospital roommates as a risk factor for health care-associated infection. Am J Infect Control. 2010;38(3):173-81.

314. Kong F, Paterson DL, Coory M, Clements ACA. A multilevel model of methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus acquisition within the hierarchy of an Australian tertiary hospital. American Journal of Infection Control. 2012;40(9):787-93. Available from:

http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 51858533.

- 315. Lorenz SG, Dreher HM. Hospital Room Design and Health Outcomes of the Aging Adult. Health Environments Research & Design Journal (HERD) (Vendome Group LLC). 2011;4(2):23-35. Available from: <u>http://elib.tcd.ie/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db</u> <u>=ccm&AN=104336979&site=ehost-live</u>.
- 316. Munier-Marion E, Bénet T, Régis C, Lina B, Morfin F, Vanhems P. Hospitalization in double-occupancy rooms and the risk of hospital-acquired influenza: A prospective cohort study. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 2016;22(5):461.e7-.e9. Available from:

http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 608965473.

- 317. O'Neill L, Park SH, Rosinia F. The role of the built environment and private rooms for reducing central line-associated bloodstream infections. PLoS ONE. 2018;13(7). Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L
- 318. West P, McDonagh S, Burke M, Trueman P. Evaluation of Single Room Ward at Hillingdon Hospital. York, UK: York Health Economics Consortium, University of York, 2010.

623228619.

- 319. Holte HH, Vist GE, Straumann GH. [Effect of single room vs contact isolation containment rooms]. Oslo: Norwegian Knowledge Centre for the Health Services (NOKC); 2013.
- 320. Lowsin K, Kelly J, Bending M, Whitehead S, Wright D, Lowson P, et al. Cost-Effectiveness of Hospital Design: Options to Improve Patient Safety and Wellbeing. York, UK: York Health Economics Consortium, University of York, 2011.
- 321. Baillie J. Hospitals single-room design evaluated. Health Estate. 2015;69(1):27-30. Available from: <u>http://www.tcd.ie/Library/resources/restrict.cgi?http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cg</u> <u>i?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=med11&AN=26281415</u>.
- 322. Bloomer M. SINGLE ROOMS ARE 'HOT PROPERTY'. Australian Nursing Journal. 2013;20(10):40-1. Available from: <u>http://elib.tcd.ie/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db</u> <u>=ccm&AN=108014383&site=ehost-live</u>.
- 323. Cadth. Single-bed versus multi-bed rooms for the prevention of hospital acquired infections: clinical effectiveness and guidelines. Ottawa: Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH); 2013.
- 324. Cataldo MA, Cookson B, De Angelis G, Falcone M, Frank U, Rodriguez-Bano J, et al. Multifaceted approaches for reducing the spread of multidrug resistant Gramnegative (MDR-Gn) in hospital setting: Which is the most effective combination of interventions for different epidemiological contexts? Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 2012;18:14. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u>

<u>70822120</u>.

- 325. Heddema ER, van Benthem BH. Decline in incidence of Clostridium difficile infection after relocation to a new hospital building with single rooms. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2011;79(1):93-4. Available from: http://elib.tcd.ie/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db http://elib.tcd.ie/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db http://elib.tcd.ie/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db
- 326. James A. New hospital rooms single and en suite. OpenMind. 2008 (149):4-. Available from: <u>http://elib.tcd.ie/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db</u> =ccm&AN=105870325&site=ehost-live.
- 327. Knight S, Singh I. Incidence and outcome of inpatient falls in older patients with dementia admitted to a newly built 100% single-room hospital environment and existing service model of multi-bedded wards within the same health board: A prospective comparative study. Age and Ageing. 2017;46:i32. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 621569144.
- 328. Nct, University of C, Calgary Health R, Canadian Institutes of Health R, Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research 23/10/ <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/results</u> NCTYFY. Hospital Design and Risk of Nosocomial Infections: A Prospective Controlled Trial. 2007. Available from: <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT00563186</u>.
- 329. Okeke J, Aithal S, Edwards C, Ramakrishna S, Singh I. 15 OUTCOME OF INPATIENT FALLS IN SINGLE BEDDED AND MULTI-BEDDED BAYS. Age & Ageing. 2014;43(suppl_2):ii4-ii. Available from: <u>http://elib.tcd.ie/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db</u> <u>=ccm&AN=103904279&site=ehost-live</u>.
- 330. Okeke J, Daniel J, Naseem A, Ramakrishna S, Singh I. Impact of all single rooms with ensuite facility in an acute care hospital in Wales (UK). 2013;42(Suppl. 3):iii1-ii11.
- 331. Preston JC, Sahota HK, Maskell PM. 110 THE ACUTELY UNWELL PATIENT AND SINGLE ROOMS. Age & Ageing. 2014;43(suppl_1):i30-1. Available from: <u>http://elib.tcd.ie/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db</u> <u>=ccm&AN=103961801&site=ehost-live</u>.
- 332. Püllen R, Laupheimer U, Hermann E. Predictors for falls in elderly hospital patients. European Geriatric Medicine. 2013;4:S65-S6. Available from: <u>http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L</u> <u>71182093</u>.
- 333. Rosbergen I, Tonello I, Clark RA, Horsley SA, Walker KC, Farrow E, et al. Does the physical acute and subacute hospital environment impact on patients activity levels and isolation. International Journal of Stroke. 2019;14(1):14-5. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 629009754.
- 334. Santry C. Single hospital rooms fail to cut infection rate. Nursing Times. 2010;106(41):3-. Available from: <u>http://elib.tcd.ie/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db</u> <u>=ccm&AN=105010648&site=ehost-live</u>.
- 335. Van de Glind I, de Roode S, Goossensen A. Do patients in hospitals benefit from single rooms? A literature review. Health Policy. 2007;84(2-3):153-61.

336. Young C, Edwards C, Singh I. Clinical outcomes of acutely unwell patients with dementia and it relationship to the hospital design. Age and Ageing. 2017;46. Available from:

http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L 619525553.

- 337. Anaker A, von Koch L, Sjostrand C, Bernhardt J, Elf M. A comparative study of patients' activities and interactions in a stroke unit before and after reconstruction-The significance of the built environment. PLoS ONE [Electronic Resource]. 2017;12(7):e0177477. Available from: http://www.tcd.ie/Library/resources/restrict.cgi?http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cg i?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=med13&AN=28727727.
- 338. Anåker A, von Koch L, Sjöstrand C, Heylighen A, Elf M. The physical environment and patients' activities and care: A comparative case study at three newly built stroke units. Journal of Advanced Nursing (John Wiley & Sons, Inc). 2018;74(8):1919-31. Available from: http://elib.tcd.ie/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db =ccm&AN=130749816&site=ehost-live.
- 339. Henriksen K, Isaacson S, Sadler BL, Zimring CM. The role of the physical environment in crossing the quality chasm. Joint Commission Journal on Quality & Patient Safety. 2007;33(11):68-80. Available from: http://elib.tcd.ie/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db
 <u>accm&AN=105930256&site=ehost-live</u>.
- 340. Joseph A. The Impact of the Environment on the Infections in Healthcare Facilities. Concord, USA: The Center for Health Design, 2006.
- 341. Urlich R, Zimring C, Quan X, Joseph A, Choudhary R. The role of the physical environment in the hospital of the 21st century. The Center for Health Design. 2004.

Appendix 1: Deviations from protocol

Review question	Deviation	Reason
Question one- Interventions to improve hand hygiene adherence	Exclusion of non RCTs design from the data extraction and quality appraisal.	As outlined in the protocol if sufficient RCTs were identified then all other study designs would not be considered during the synthesis, but would be included in the data extraction and quality appraisal table. However, due to timeline constraints these studies were not considered for critical appraisal and data extraction and as a result are not presented in the appendix.

Table A1-1 Deviations from protocol

Appendix 2: Example of search terms

The searches for question one were conducted consistent with the search strategy developed for 2017 Cochrane review *Interventions to improve hand hygiene compliance in patient care* by Gould et al..⁽²⁴⁾

Table A2-1	LExample of	a search string	g for o	question one
------------	-------------	-----------------	---------	--------------

Embase	Embase database		
No.	Search terms	Results	
1	doctor*:ti,ab OR physician*:ti,ab OR nurse*:ti,ab OR clinician*:ti,ab OR	2949703	
	consultant*:ti,ab OR (healthcare:ti,ab AND assistant*:ti,ab) OR (health:ti,ab AND		
	care:ti,ab AND assistant*:ti,ab) OR (health:ti,ab AND care:ti,ab AND		
	professional*:ti,ab) OR (healthcare:ti,ab AND professional*:ti,ab) OR team*:ti,ab OR		
	(healthcare:ti,ab AND worker*:ti,ab) OR (health:ti,ab AND care:ti,ab AND		
	worker*:ti,ab) OR ((health* NEAR/2 personnel):ti,ab) OR medical:ti,ab OR		
	nursing:ti,ab OR staff:ti,ab		
2	ward*:ti,ab OR centre:ti,ab OR centres:ti,ab OR center:ti,ab OR centers:ti,ab OR	3480625	
	department*:ti,ab OR unit:ti,ab OR units:ti,ab OR hospital*:ti,ab		
3	'long term care':ti,ab	23623	
4	(residential NEAR/3 (care OR healthcare OR facilit*)):ti,ab	6966	
5	'nursing home':ti,ab	26279	
6	'health care personnel'/exp/mj	493348	
7	'health care facility'/exp/mj	461364	
8	#1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 OR #7	5801194	
9	'hand washing'/exp/mj	4203	
10	handwash*:ti,ab OR ((hand NEAR/1 wash*):ti,ab) OR ((hand NEAR/1 hygiene):ti,ab)	11494	
	OR handrub*:ti,ab OR ((hand NEAR/1 rub*):ti,ab)		
11	(hand* NEAR/2 (clean* OR decontaminat* OR disinfect* OR hygiene OR hygienic*	12394	
	OR saniti* OR sterili* OR wash*)):ti,ab		
12	(hand* NEAR/3 (alcohol* OR propanol* OR ethanol*)):ti,ab	2212	
13	(hand* NEAR/1 scrub*):ti,ab	158	
14	(hand* NEAR/2 (aseps* OR aseptic* OR antisep*)):ti,ab	494	
15	('antisepsis'/de OR 'disinfection'/de) AND 'hand'/de	343	
16	#9 OR #10 OR #11 OR #12 OR #13 OR #14 OR #15	16067	
17	'randomized controlled trial'/de	548734	
18	'controlled clinical trial'/de	426779	
19	'quasi experimental study'/de	5549	
20	'pretest posttest control group design'/de	386	
21	'time series analysis'/de	22964	
22	'experimental design'/de	16877	
23	'multicenter study'/de	214173	
24	randomis*:ti,ab OR randomiz*:ti,ab OR randomly:ti,ab	1149831	
25	groups:ab	2626659	
26	trial:ti OR multicentre:ti OR multicenter:ti OR (multi:ti AND centre:ti) OR (multi:ti	332663	
	AND center:ti)		
27	intervention*:ti,ab OR effect*:ti,ab OR impact*:ti,ab OR controlled:ti,ab OR ((control	12683652	
	NEAR/1 group*):ti,ab) OR ((before NEAR/5 after):ti,ab) OR ((pre NEAR/5 post):ti,ab)		
	OR ((pretest:ti,ab OR ((pre NEAR/1 test):ti,ab)) AND (posttest OR ((post NEAR/1		
	test):ti,ab))) OR quasiexperiment*:ti,ab OR ((quasi NEAR/1 experiment*):ti,ab) OR		
	((pseudo NEAR/1 experiment*):ti,ab) OR pseudoexperiment*:ti,ab OR evaluat*:ti,ab		
	OR ((time NEAR/1 series):ti,ab) OR ((time NEAR/1 point):ti,ab) OR ((repeated NEAR/1		
	measur*):ti,ab)		
28	#17 OR #18 OR #19 OR #20 OR #21 OR #22 OR #23 OR #24 OR #25 OR #26 OR #27	13884322	

Clinical and cost-effectiveness of healthcare-associated infection interventions: a systematic review Health Research Board – Collaboration in Ireland for Clinical Effectiveness Reviews

29	'systematic review':ti OR 'literature review':ti	157942
30	'cochrane database of systematic reviews'/jt	13272
31	'animals'/exp OR 'invertebrate'/exp OR 'animal experiment'/de OR 'animal	27462635
	model'/de OR 'animal tissue'/de OR 'animal cell'/de OR 'nonhuman'/de	
32	'human'/de OR 'normal human'/de OR 'human cell'/de	20759044
33	#31 NOT (#31 AND #32)	6758705
34	#29 OR #30 OR #33	6928415
35	#28 NOT #34	10668241
36	#8 AND #16 AND #35	6207
37	#36 AND [18-10-2016]/sd AND [embase]/lim	1164

Table A2-2 Example of a search string for question two

Embase database			
No.	Search terms	Results	
1	'room design':ab,ti OR 'ward design':ab,ti	358	
2	single occupancy':ab,ti OR 'multi* occupancy':ab,ti	176	
3	'single room*':ab,ti	777	
4	(single NEAR/3 room\$):ab,ti	1441	
5	'single-occupancy':ab,ti	93	
6	(single NEAR/3 bed*):ab,ti	1021	
7	(room NEAR/3 bay*):ab,ti	32	
8	(side NEAR/3 (room* OR bed*)):ab,ti	1841	
9	(privat* OR isolat* OR separat*) NEAR/6 room\$	4850	
10	single-bedded':ab,ti	17	
11	#1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 OR #7 OR #8 OR #9 OR #10	22665	
12	'infection control'/de	83264	
13	(infection NEAR/2 control*):ab,ti	35216	
14	'infection rate':ab,ti	17348	
15	coloni\$ation rate*':ab,ti OR 'microbial colonization'/exp	55900	
16	'hospital infection'/de	41858	
17	(hospital NEAR/2 infect*):ab,ti	15511	
18	(healthcare NEAR/2 infect*):ab,ti	5451	
19	(nosocomial NEAR/2 infect*):ab,ti	20112	
20	(cross NEAR/2 infect*):ti,ab	4091	
21	outbreak*:ti,ab	92075	
22	methicillin resistant staphylococcus aureus'/de	41481	
23	mrsa:ti,ab OR emrsa:ab,ti OR mssa:ab,ti	31128	
24	((methicillin NEAR/2 resistan*):ti,ab) AND ((staphylococc* NEAR/2 (infect*	32017	
	OR aureus)):ti,ab)		
25	'clostridium difficile'/de	14720	
26	'clostridium difficile':ti,ab OR 'c diff*':ti,ab OR 'c. diff':ab,ti	22165	
27	'gastroenteritis':ti,ab OR 'norwalk-like viruses':ti,ab OR 'norwalk like	215153	
	viruses':ti,ab OR norovirus*:ti,ab OR 'norwalk like virus*':ti,ab OR 'small		
	round-structured virus*':ti,ab OR 'round-structured virus*':ti,ab OR 'small		
	round structured virus*':ti,ab OR 'diarrhea':ti,ab OR 'nausea':ti,ab OR		
	'stomach virus':ti,ab OR rotavirus:ti,ab OR 'foodborne diseases':ti,ab		

28	carbapenem-resistant enterobacteriaceae'/exp OR 'carbapenemase-	6645
	producing enterobacteriaceae[text word]' OR 'vancomycin-resistant	
	enterococci'/exp	
29	#12 OR #13 OR #14 OR #15 OR #16 OR #17 OR #18 OR #19 OR #20 OR #21	516869
	OR #22 OR #23 OR #24 OR #25 OR #26 OR #27 OR #28	
30	falls:ti,ab OR fall:ti,ab OR harm:ti,ab OR harms:ti,ab OR ((physical NEAR/2	1250354
	harm*):ti,ab) OR 'adverse event*':ti,ab OR injury:ti,ab	
31	dignity:ti,ab OR privacy:ti,ab OR dignified:ti,ab OR 'consumer satisfaction'/de	2492011
	OR 'consumer satisfaction'/exp OR ((patient*:ti,ab OR consumer*:ti,ab OR	
	parent*:ti,ab OR famil*:ti,ab OR spouse*:ti,ab) AND adj:ti,ab AND	
	(attitude*:ti,ab OR involvement:ti,ab OR desir*:ti,ab OR perspective*:ti,ab	
	OR activation:ti,ab OR view*:ti,ab OR preference*:ti,ab)) OR 'patient	
	preference'/exp OR preferen*:ti,ab OR 'quality of life[majr]' OR 'quality of	
	life':ti,ab OR 'life quality':ti,ab OR 'qol':ab,it OR 'personal satisfaction[majr]'	
	OR 'personal satisfaction':ti,ab OR 'patient satisfaction[majr]' OR 'patient	
	satisfaction':ti,ab OR 'activities of daily living[majr]' OR 'activities of daily	
	living "ti, ab OR "quality-adjusted life years[majr]" OR "quality adjusted life	
	year ":ti,ab OR "personal autonomy[majr]" OR "personal autonomy":ti,ab OR	
	nappiness[majr] OR nappiness:ti,ab OR patient preference [®] :ti,ab OR fear	
	of death :ti,ab OR self-concept[majr:noexp] OR self concept :ti,ab OR	
	religion[mair:neexp] OR religion:ti ab OP 'cocial support':ti ab OP 'cocial	
	support[majr.heekp] OR religion.ti,ab OR social support .ti,ab OR social	
	OR 'nsychological' OR 'nationt satisfaction'/exp OR dissatisfaction OR 'mggl'	
	OR 'mogill quality of life questionnaire' OR 'loneliness' ti ab OR alone ti ab b	
32	medication error'/de	17422
33	'medical error'/de	17967
34	'surgical error'/de	1410
35	((medication OR medical) NEAR/2 (error* OR mistake*)):ti.ab	14644
36	((surgical OR operative) NEAR/2 (error* OR mistake*)):ti.ab	1076
37	((anaesthetic OR anesthetic) NEAR/2 (error* OR mistake*)):ti.ab	49
38	surgical infection'	45050
39	((surgical OR operative) NEAR/2 infect*):ti.ab	22441
40	((postsurgical OR postoperative) NEAR/2 infect*):ti.ab	12789
41	(wrong NEAR/2 site):ti.ab	480
42	#32 OR #33 OR #34 OR #35 OR #36 OR #37 OR #38 OR #39 OR #40 OR #41	103396
43	#29 OR #30 OR #31 OR #42	4167523
44	'randomized controlled trial'/de	548650
45	'controlled clinical trial'/de	426764
46	'quasi experimental study'/de	5543
47	'pretest posttest control group design'/de	386
48	'time series analysis'/de	22950
49	'experimental design'/de	16871
50	'multicenter study'/de	214141
51	randomis*:ti,ab OR randomiz*:ti,ab OR randomly:ti,ab	1149584
52	groups:ab	2626160
53	trial:ti OR multicentre:ti OR multicenter:ti OR (multi:ti AND centre:ti) OR	332603
	(multi:ti AND center:ti)	

54	intervention*:ti,ab OR effect*:ti,ab OR impact*:ti,ab OR controlled:ti,ab OR	12977296
	(control:ti,ab AND group*:ti,ab) OR ((before NEAR/5 after):ti,ab) OR ((pre	
	NEAR/5 post):ti,ab) OR ((pretest:ti,ab OR (pre:ti,ab AND test:ti,ab)) AND	
	(posttest:ti,ab OR (post:ti,ab AND test:ti,ab))) OR quasiexperiment*:ti,ab OR	
	(quasi:ti,ab AND experiment*:ti,ab) OR (pseudo:ti,ab AND experiment*:ti,ab)	
	OR pseudoexperiment*:ti,ab OR evaluat*:ti,ab OR ((time:ti,ab AND	
	series:ti,ab OR time:ti,ab) AND point*:ti,ab) OR (repeated:ti,ab AND	
	measur*:ti,ab)	
55	'cohort analysis'/exp OR 'longitudinal study'/exp OR 'prospective study'/exp	2539501
	OR 'follow up' OR cohort\$.tw.	
56	#44 OR #45 OR #46 OR #47 OR #48 OR #49 OR #50 OR #51 OR #52 OR #53	14922676
	OR #54 OR #55	
57	'child'/exp OR 'neonatal intensive care unit'/exp OR 'infant'/exp OR	2725201
	'pediatric'/exp	
58	#11 AND #43 AND #56	1789
59	#58 NOT #57	1570
60	#59 AND [humans]/lim AND [english]/lim AND [embase]/lim	1019
61	new-build*' OR (new* NEAR/2 hospital) OR ((build* OR construction)	10071643
	NEAR/6 hospital) OR 'hospital design'/mj OR 'design factors' OR physical OR	
	environmental OR ward OR facility OR planning OR design*	
62	#60 AND #61	712

Appendix 3: Excluded studies

Table A3-1 Excluded interrupted time series studies and non-RCTs for question one

1.	Armellino D, Hussain E, Schilling ME, Senicola W, Eichorn A, Dlugacz Y, et al. Using high-technology to enforce
	low-technology safety measures: the use of third-party remote video auditing and real-time feedback in
	healthcare. Clinical infectious diseases: an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America.
	2012;54(1):1-7.
2.	Derde LPG, Cooper BS, Goossens H, Malhotra-Kumar S, Willems RJL, Gniadkowski M, et al. Interventions to
	reduce colonisation and transmission of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria in intensive care units: an interrupted
	time series study and cluster randomised trial. The Lancet Infectious diseases. 2014;14(1):31-9.
3.	Diegel-Vacek L, Ryan C. Promoting Hand Hygiene With a Lighting Prompt. Herd. 2016;10(1):65-75.
4.	Finco G, Musu M, Landoni G, Campagna M, Lai A, Cabrini L, et al. Healthcare-associated respiratory infections
	in intensive care unit can be reduced by a hand hygiene program: A multicenter study. Australian Critical Care.
	2018;31(6):340-6.
5.	Higgins A, Hannan MM. Improved hand hygiene technique and compliance in healthcare workers using
	gaming technology. The Journal of hospital infection. 2013;84(1):32-7.
6.	Lee AS, Cooper BS, Malhotra-Kumar S, Chalfine A, Daikos GL, Fankhauser C, et al. Comparison of strategies to
	reduce meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus rates in surgical patients: a controlled multicentre
	intervention trial. BMJ Open. 2013;3(9):e003126.
7.	Midturi JK, Narasimhan A, Barnett T, Sodek J, Schreier W, Barnett J, et al. A successful multifaceted strategy to
	improve hand hygiene compliance rates. 2015;43(5):533-6.
8.	Moghnieh R, Soboh R, Abdallah D, El-Helou M, Al Hassan S, Ajjour L, et al. Health care workers' compliance to
	the My 5 Moments for Hand Hygiene: Comparison of 2 interventional methods. 2017;45(1):89-91.
9.	Perlin JB, Hickok JD, Septimus EJ, Moody JA, Englebright JD, Bracken RM. A bundled approach to reduce
	methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infections in a system of community hospitals. Journal for
	Healthcare Quality: official publication of the National Association for Healthcare Quality. 2013;35(3):57-68;
	quiz
10.	Romero DMP, Reboredo MM, Gomes EP, Coelho CM, Paula MAS, Souza LC, et al. Effects of the
	implementation of a hand hygiene education program among ICU professionals: an interrupted time-series
	analysis. Jornal Brasileiro De Pneumologia: Publicacao Oficial Da Sociedade Brasileira De Pneumologia E
	Tisilogia. 2019;45(5):e20180152.
11.	Rosenbluth G, Garritson S, Green AL, Milev D, Vidyarthi AR, Auerbach AD, et al. Achieving hand hygiene
	success with a partnership between graduate medical education, hospital leadership, and physicians.
	American Journal of medical Quality : The Official Journal of the American College of Medical Quality.
	2016;31(6):577-83.
12.	Scherer AM, Reisinger HS, Goto M, Goedken CC, Clore GS, Marra AR, et al. Testing a novel audit and feedback
12.	Scherer AM, Reisinger HS, Goto M, Goedken CC, Clore GS, Marra AR, et al. Testing a novel audit and feedback method for hand hygiene compliance: A multicenter quality improvement study. Infection Control & Hospital
12.	Scherer AM, Reisinger HS, Goto M, Goedken CC, Clore GS, Marra AR, et al. Testing a novel audit and feedback method for hand hygiene compliance: A multicenter quality improvement study. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(1):89-94.
12. 13.	Scherer AM, Reisinger HS, Goto M, Goedken CC, Clore GS, Marra AR, et al. Testing a novel audit and feedback method for hand hygiene compliance: A multicenter quality improvement study. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(1):89-94. Shabot MM, Chassin MR, France AC, Inurria J, Kendrick J, Schmaltz SP. Using the targeted solutions tool to
12.	Scherer AM, Reisinger HS, Goto M, Goedken CC, Clore GS, Marra AR, et al. Testing a novel audit and feedback method for hand hygiene compliance: A multicenter quality improvement study. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(1):89-94. Shabot MM, Chassin MR, France AC, Inurria J, Kendrick J, Schmaltz SP. Using the targeted solutions tool to improve hand hygiene compliance is associated with decreased health care-associated infections. Joint
12.	Scherer AM, Reisinger HS, Goto M, Goedken CC, Clore GS, Marra AR, et al. Testing a novel audit and feedback method for hand hygiene compliance: A multicenter quality improvement study. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(1):89-94. Shabot MM, Chassin MR, France AC, Inurria J, Kendrick J, Schmaltz SP. Using the targeted solutions tool to improve hand hygiene compliance is associated with decreased health care-associated infections. Joint Commission Journal on Quality & Patient Safety. 2016;42(1):6-17.
12. 13. 14.	 Scherer AM, Reisinger HS, Goto M, Goedken CC, Clore GS, Marra AR, et al. Testing a novel audit and feedback method for hand hygiene compliance: A multicenter quality improvement study. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(1):89-94. Shabot MM, Chassin MR, France AC, Inurria J, Kendrick J, Schmaltz SP. Using the targeted solutions tool to improve hand hygiene compliance is associated with decreased health care-associated infections. Joint Commission Journal on Quality & Patient Safety. 2016;42(1):6-17. Stella SA, Stace RJ, Knepper BC, Reese SM, Keniston A, Burden M, et al. The effect of eye images and a social
12. 13. 14.	 Scherer AM, Reisinger HS, Goto M, Goedken CC, Clore GS, Marra AR, et al. Testing a novel audit and feedback method for hand hygiene compliance: A multicenter quality improvement study. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(1):89-94. Shabot MM, Chassin MR, France AC, Inurria J, Kendrick J, Schmaltz SP. Using the targeted solutions tool to improve hand hygiene compliance is associated with decreased health care-associated infections. Joint Commission Journal on Quality & Patient Safety. 2016;42(1):6-17. Stella SA, Stace RJ, Knepper BC, Reese SM, Keniston A, Burden M, et al. The effect of eye images and a social norms message on healthcare provider hand hygiene adherence. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology.
12. 13. 14.	 Scherer AM, Reisinger HS, Goto M, Goedken CC, Clore GS, Marra AR, et al. Testing a novel audit and feedback method for hand hygiene compliance: A multicenter quality improvement study. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(1):89-94. Shabot MM, Chassin MR, France AC, Inurria J, Kendrick J, Schmaltz SP. Using the targeted solutions tool to improve hand hygiene compliance is associated with decreased health care-associated infections. Joint Commission Journal on Quality & Patient Safety. 2016;42(1):6-17. Stella SA, Stace RJ, Knepper BC, Reese SM, Keniston A, Burden M, et al. The effect of eye images and a social norms message on healthcare provider hand hygiene adherence. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(7):748-54.
12. 13. 14. 15.	 Scherer AM, Reisinger HS, Goto M, Goedken CC, Clore GS, Marra AR, et al. Testing a novel audit and feedback method for hand hygiene compliance: A multicenter quality improvement study. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(1):89-94. Shabot MM, Chassin MR, France AC, Inurria J, Kendrick J, Schmaltz SP. Using the targeted solutions tool to improve hand hygiene compliance is associated with decreased health care-associated infections. Joint Commission Journal on Quality & Patient Safety. 2016;42(1):6-17. Stella SA, Stace RJ, Knepper BC, Reese SM, Keniston A, Burden M, et al. The effect of eye images and a social norms message on healthcare provider hand hygiene adherence. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(7):748-54. Talbot TR, Johnson JG, Fergus C, Domenico JH, Schaffner W, Daniels TL, et al. Sustained improvement in hand
12. 13. 14. 15.	 Scherer AM, Reisinger HS, Goto M, Goedken CC, Clore GS, Marra AR, et al. Testing a novel audit and feedback method for hand hygiene compliance: A multicenter quality improvement study. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(1):89-94. Shabot MM, Chassin MR, France AC, Inurria J, Kendrick J, Schmaltz SP. Using the targeted solutions tool to improve hand hygiene compliance is associated with decreased health care-associated infections. Joint Commission Journal on Quality & Patient Safety. 2016;42(1):6-17. Stella SA, Stace RJ, Knepper BC, Reese SM, Keniston A, Burden M, et al. The effect of eye images and a social norms message on healthcare provider hand hygiene adherence. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology. 2019;40(7):748-54. Talbot TR, Johnson JG, Fergus C, Domenico JH, Schaffner W, Daniels TL, et al. Sustained improvement in hand hygiene adherence: utilizing shared accountability and financial incentives. Infection control and hospital

Vernaz N, Sax H, Pittet D, Bonnabry P, Schrenzel J, Harbarth S. Temporal effects of antibiotic use and hand rub consumption on the incidence of MRSA and Clostridium difficile. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2008;62(3):601-7.

Table A3-2 Excluded economic studies for question one

1	Lee BY, Wettstein ZS, McGlone SM, Bailey RR, Umscheid CA, Smith KJ, et al. Economic value of norovirus
	outbreak control measures in healthcare settings. Clinical Microbiology & Infection. 2011;17(4):640-6.
2	Nelson RE, Jones M, Leecaster M, Samore MH, Ray W, Huttner A, et al. An economic analysis of strategies to
	control Clostridium difficile transmission and infection using an agent-based simulation model.
	2016;11(3):e0152248.
3	Page K, Barnett AG, Campbell M, Brain D, Martin E, Fulop N, et al. Costing the Australian National Hand
	Hygiene Initiative. Journal of hospital infection. 2014;88(3):141-8.

Table A3-3 Excluded clinical studies for question one

Reason for exclusion	Study reference
Conference abstract (n=71)	(124-194)
Intervention following outbreak (n=1)	(195)
Irrelevant comparator (n=2)	(196, 197)
Irrelevant intervention (n=7)	(195, 198-203)
Irrelevant outcome (n=6)	(204-209)
Irrelevant population (n=7)	(53, 210-215)
Irrelevant setting (n=3)	(59, 216, 217)
Irrelevant study design (n=76)	(85, 195, 218-291)
ITS or nRCT (16)	(44-46, 50, 54, 60, 61, 63, 64, 292-298)
Non-English publication (n=5)	(299-303)
Protocol (n=2)	(304, 305)
Study ongoing or not yet published (3)	(306-308)
Trial Registration (n=2)	(309, 310)

Table A3-4 Excluded clinical studies for question two

Reason for exclusion	Study reference
Irrelevant intervention (n=10)	(120, 311-319)
Irrelevant outcome (n=1)	(320)
Irrelevant publication type (16)	(321-336)
Irrelevant study design (n=6)	(16, 337-341)

Health Research Board – Collaboration in Ireland for Clinical Effectiveness Reviews

Appendix 4: Clinical results for question one: interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations

Author (year)	Intervention and comparator	Outcome(s)	Measures of difference between comparators			
Study design						
WHO Compliant	WHO Compliant strategies					
Fisher (2013) ⁽⁴⁷⁾	Intervention – WHO Compliant	Primary outcome	Primary outcome			
	System change - wireless monitoring system;	Median (IQR) adherence rate	Univariate analysis between intervention and			
Multicentre	Reminders - real-time audible reminders (phase		control group for phase 2 and 3 combined (95%			
C-RCT	2 and 3);	Entering patient zone	CI).			
	Feedback - confidential individual weekly	Intervention: Baseline: 28% (21 to 37%)				
	written feedback reports (phase 3).	Phase 2: 33% (25 to 41%)	Entering patient zone			
		Phase 3: 28% (16 to 40%)	2.9% higher in the intervention group (-0.2 to			
	Control –No intervention	Control: Baseline: 28% (21 to 37%)	5.9%); p=0.067			
		Phase 2: 26% (22 to 32%)				
		Phase 3: 24% (19 to 33%)	Exiting patient zone			
			5.8% higher in the intervention group (0.5 to			
		Exiting patient zone	11.1%); p=0.033			
		Intervention: Baseline: 24% (13 to 38%)				
		Phase 2: 32% (21 to 41%)				
		Phase 3: 29% (16 to 42%)				
		Control: Baseline: 27% (12 to 37%)				
		Phase 2: 25% (15 to 34%)				
		Phase 3: 20% (11 to 34%)				
Ho (2012) ⁽³⁸⁾	Intervention 1 – WHO Compliant	Primary outcome	Primary outcome			
	System change - availability of ABHR for each	Mean HH adherence rate- number of	RR (95% CI) for HH adherence in the			
Multicentre C-	HCW, availability of lightly powdered gloves;	opportunities	intervention group (intervention 1 and 2			
RCT	Education -video clips, hand analysis	Statistical significance tests of the difference in	combined) compared to the control (adjusted			
	demonstration to assure skin safety;	adherence from baseline	for clustering effects).			
	Feedback - individual;					
	Reminders – posters.	Intervention 1: Baseline: 27.0% – 325/1,204	2.55 (2.29 to 2.84); p<0.001			
		4 months: 60.6% – 662/1,093				
	Intervention 2 – WHO Compliant	Overall change: 33.6%; p<0.001	Secondary outcome 1			
	Identical to Intervention 1 but with powderless		IRR (95% CI) of respiratory outbreaks requiring			
	gloves instead of lightly powdered gloves.	Intervention 2: Baseline: 22.2% – 313/1,410	hospitalisation (for both intervention groups)			
		4 months: 48.6% – 454/935	compared to the control.			
	Control – Usual care	Overall change: 26.4%: p<0.001				

Table A4-1 Clinical results for question one: interventions to improve adherence to hand hygiene recommendations

Author (year)	Intervention and comparator	Outcome(s)	Measures of difference between comparators
Study design			
	2-hour general health talk with small focus on	Control Deceline: 10 5% 226/1 671	0.12 (0.01 to 0.93); p=0.04
	HH.	Control: Baseline: 19.5% – 326/1,6/1	Constant of the second se
		4 months: 21.6% – 301/1,3930Verail change:	Secondary outcome 2
	Historical data was used as the control for	2.1%; μ=0.85	IRR (95% CI) OI WIRSA Infections requiring
	secondary outcomes (Mar to Sept of 2007,		compared to the control
	2008 and 2009)		
			0.61 (0.38 to 0.97); p=0.04
Martín-	Intervention – WHO Compliant	Primary outcome	Primary outcome
Madrazo	System change - availability of ABHR;	Mean (95% CI) HH adherence rate	Absolute difference in change from baseline
(2012) ⁽⁵⁵⁾	Educational- interactive workshops;		between intervention and control.
	Reminders - posters in waiting rooms,	Intervention: Baseline: 8.0% (4.5 to 10.2)	
Multicentre	emergency rooms and consultation offices.	Post intervention: 32.7% (NR)	21.16% increase (95% CI 13.83 to 28.48%);
C-RCT			p<0.001
	Control – Usual care	Control: Baseline: 8.3% (6.2 to 11.6)	
		Post intervention: 11.9% (NR)	RR (95% CI) for HH adherence in the
			intervention group compared to the control
			(adjusted for clustering effects).
			2 76 (2 25 to 3 39)· p<0 001
Mertz	Intervention group – WHO Compliant	Primary outcome	Primary outcome
(2010) ⁽⁵⁶⁾	System change – ABHR and sink units;	Mean HH adherence rate – number of	Mean (95% CI) difference in HH between
, ,	Education - small group teaching seminars;	opportunities (calculated using reported data)	intervention and control group.
Multicentre	<i>Reminders</i> – posters and pamphlets;		
C-RCT	Feedback - unit-specific feedback displayed on	Intervention: Baseline: 15.8% – 276/1,749	6.3% (4.3 to 8.4%); p<0.001
	whiteboards and compared to other units,	Intervention: 48.2% – 3,808/7,901	
	biweekly meetings;		RR (95% CI) for HH adherence in the
	Institutional safety climate – collaborative goal	Control: Baseline: 15.9% – 263/1,651	intervention group compared to the control
	setting and campaign design by clinical	Intervention: 42.6% – 3,206/7,526	(adjusted for clustering effects).
	managers and HCWs.		
		Secondary outcome	1.13 (1.09 to 1.17); p<0.001
	Control group – Usual care	Mean incidence rate of hospital-acquired MRSA	
		colonisation per 1,000 patient days	Secondary outcome
			Mean difference in rate of colonisation of MRSA.
		Intervention: 0.73	
		Control: 0.66	0.07 per 1,000 patient-days; p=0.92
Rodriguez	Intervention – WHO Compliant	Primary outcome	Primary outcome
(2015)	System change – ABHR availability was	Niean HH adherence (range per site) – number	UR (95% CI) for HH adherence post intervention

Author (year)	Intervention and comparator	Outcome(s)	Measures of difference between comparators
Study design			
	monitoring;	of opportunities. Number of sites = 11	compared to baseline period.
Multicentre	<i>Reminders</i> – in patient rooms and hallways;		
stepped-wedge	Education - pocket size book on evidence of HH	Control period (Baseline): 66.0% (47.2 to 79.8%)	Unadjusted: 1.17 (1.13 to 1.22); p<0.0001
C-RCT	adherence;	- 2,354/3,565	Adjusted for time: 1.08 (1.03 to 1.14); p=0.0001
	Feedback –group feedback with comparisons to	Intervention period (post intervention): 75.6%	
	other study sites;	(57 to 93.9%) – 5,190/6,864	RR (95% CI) for HH adherence post intervention
	Institution safety climate - signed letter from		compared to the baseline period (adjusted for
	leaders and director walk-rounds.		clustering effects).
	Control – Usual care (Baseline period)		1.03 (1.00 to 1.06); p=0.08
van der Kooi	Intervention – WHO Compliant	Primary outcome	Primary outcome
(2018)(37)	System change – ABHR at bedside;	Mean (95% CI) adherence rate, adjusted for	Mean (95% CI) change in adherence rate
N 4 ulti e e et e e	Education – sessions, small group and bedside	underlying nospital-specific trends including	between baseline and intervention period,
Multicentre	Fraining and presentations;	type of HCW and acuity levels - number of	adjusted for underlying hospital-specific trends
stepped-wedge	Reminders posters:	opportunities	Including HCW and acuity levels.
C-RCT	Institutional safety climate – supported by	Basaline: 26% (24 to 27%) = 1.468/4.0808	18% (15 to 22%): p<0.0001
	hospital and ICII management	Describe: 50% (54 (0 57 %) = 1,408/4,0898	18% (15 to 22%), p<0.0001
			BB (95% CI) for an increase in HH in the
	Control– Usual care (Baseline period)		intervention group compared to the control
			(adjusted for clustering effects)
			(),
			1.50 (1.44 to 1.57); p<0.001
Von Lengerke	Intervention – WHO Compliant	Primary outcome 1	Primary outcome 1
(2017) ^(67, 68)	Same as control with extra emphasis on	Mean adherence rate – number of	Mean difference (95% CI) in adherence rates of
	tailoring components using behaviour change	opportunities	intervention compared to control.
Single centre	techniques – Comprehensive application		
C-RCT	consisting of training sessions and feedback	Intervention: Baseline: 54% – 1,047/1,938	Baseline: -1% (-4.1 to 2.3%); p=0.58
	discussions psychologically tailored using	Year 1: 64% – 1,141/1,783	Year 1: -4% (-7.5 to -1.3%); p=0.006
	"Health Action Process Approach (HAPA)"	Year 2: 70% – 839/1,198	Year 2: 6% (2.4 to 9.5%); p=0.001
	framework. Focus on perceptions of risk, action		
	planning, coping planning and habit building	Control: Baseline: 55% – 984/1,789	RR (95% CI) for HH adherence in the
	through developing self-regulative strategies.	Year 1: 68% – 1,244/1,830	intervention group compared to the control
		Year 2: 64% – 950/1,484	(year 2) (adjusted for clustering effects).
	Control – WHO Compliant	During many surface and 2	
	System change – ABHR availability;	Primary outcome 2	1.09 (1.04 to 1.15); p<0.001
	Eaucation – training sessions, e-learning tool	ABHR volume consumption not reported	Conservation and the server
	and video;		Secondary outcome

Author (year)	Intervention and comparator	Outcome(s)	Measures of difference between comparators
Study design			
	Feedback – not detailed;	Secondary outcome	Mean difference in the incidence densities (95%
	Reminders – WHO posters;	Mean incident density of MDROs per 1,000	CI) of MDROs (per 1,000 inpatient-days)
	Institutional safety climate – facility	inpatient-days	between intervention and control.
	management and administration support.		
	Opportunity for certification.	Intervention: Baseline: 0.845	Baseline: 0.154 (-1.069 to 1.376); p=0.79
		Year 1: 0.585	Year 1: -0.020 (-0.811 to 0.771); p=0.96
		Year 2: 0.348	Year 2: -0.322 (-1.347 to 0.704); p=0.50
		Control: Baseline: 0.691	
		Year 1: 0.605	
		Year 2: 0.669	
Yeung (2011) ⁽⁶⁶⁾	Intervention – WHO Compliant	Primary outcome	Primary outcome
	System change - availability of pocket sized	HH adherence rate – number of opportunities	RR (95% CI) for HH adherence in the
Multicentre	ABHR;		intervention group compared to the control
C-RCT	Education - 2-hour seminar on HH;	Intervention Baseline: 25.8% – 86/333	(adjusted for clustering effects).
	Reminders -posters and ballpoint pens with	Post intervention: 33.3% – 488/1,465	
	messages.		1.11 (0.99 to 1.24); p=0.07
		Control Baseline: 25.8% – 61/236	
	Control – Usual care	Post intervention: 30.0% – 380/1,266	Secondary outcome 1
	Basic life support program which did not		Difference between the intervention group and
	include HH or HCAI advice.	Secondary outcome 1	control in the change of infection rates for all
		Change from baseline in incidence (per 1,000	infections requiring hospitalisation, assessed by
		resident-days) of all infections requiring	Student t test.
		hospitalisation	
		lest of statistical significance of the difference	Between group difference: p=0.004
		from baseline	Socondary outcome 2
		Intervention: -0.77 : $p=0.002$	There were no outbreaks of influenza or
		Control: 0.56 : $p=0.002$	norovirus in either group during the study
		control 0.50, p=0.004	norovirus in either group during the study.
		Secondary outcome 2	
		Numbers of outbreaks	
WHO Plus strates	gies		
Huis (2013) ⁽⁵²⁾	Intervention – WHO Plus	Primary outcome	Primary outcome
	MM strategy same as control but with	Mean adherence rate – number of	OR for HH adherence in intervention group
Multicentre C-	additional emphasis on team and leaders-	opportunities	compared to control (adjusted for ward and
RCT	directed strategies based on social theories,		timing of measurement), from baseline to post
	plus Accountability - Nurses addressing each	Intervention: Baseline: 20% – 312/1,560	intervention.

Author (year)	Intervention and comparator	Outcome(s)	Measures of difference between comparators
Study design			
	other in cases of undesirable HH behaviour.	Post intervention: 53% – 832/1,570	
		Follow up: 53% – 878/1,657	1.64 (95% Cl 1.33 to 2.02); p<0.001
	Control – WHO Compliant	Control Deceline: 22% 456/4 004	
	System change – adequate product availability;	Control: Baseline: 23% – 456/1,981	between the intervention and central group
	Reminders – posters, newsletters articles;	Follow up: 46% – 950/2,065	from baseline to post intervention.
	Feedback – ward level to ward manager with		
	ward comparisons; Institutional safety climate – management		8.91% (95% CI: 0.75 to 17.06%)* from Huis et al 2013 ⁽⁷⁵⁾
	support.		BB (95% CI) for HH adherence in the
			intervention group compared to the control
			(adjusted for clustering effects).
			1 29 (1 21 to 1 39): n<0 001
Stewardson	Intervention 1 – WHO Compliant	Primary outcome	Primary outcome
(2016) ⁽⁴⁰⁾	Same as control with extra emphasis on	Mean (95% CI) HH adherence rate – number of	Absolute difference in HH adherence (95% CI)
()	Enhanced feedback - immediate, individualised	opportunities	intervention compared to control, from baseline
Single centre	and intermittent, aggregated components, with		to the intervention period.
C-RCT	ward-level benchmarking and responsive goal	Intervention 1	
	setting. Reports and posters detailing	Baseline: 65% (62 to 69) –1,040/1,629	Intervention 1: 3% (0 to 7 %) increase; p=0.19
	adherence rates produced every 3 months.	Intervention: 75% (72 to 77) –2,160/2,920 Post intervention: 72% (68 to 75) –1,356/1,956	Intervention 2: 4% (1 to 8 %) increase; p=0.048
	Intervention 2 – WHO Plus		Absolute difference between intervention 1 and
	Same as control with extra emphasis on	Intervention 2	intervention 2 was not significant p=0.46
	Enhanced feedback (as described above) plus	Baseline: 66% (62 to 70) –1,024/1,594	
	Patient participation – welcome pack provided	Intervention: 77% (74 to 80) –2,107/2,767	RR (95% CI) for HH adherence in the
	to patients consisting of a brochure and an	Post intervention: 72% (69 to 76) –1,485/2,100	intervention group compared to the control
	individual pocket-sized bottle of ABHR. Patients		(adjusted for clustering effects).
	were invited to ask HCWs who did not visibly	Control	
	perform hand hygiene before touching them	Baseline: 66% (62 to 70) – 935/1,430	Intervention 1: 1.04 (0.97 to 1.12); p= 0.24
	(WHO Moment 1) to do so.	Intervention: 73% (70 to 77) – 1,631/2,239 Post intervention: 70% (66 to 75) – 631/949	Intervention 2: 1.67 (1.53 to 1.82); p<0.001
	Control – WHO Compliant		Secondary outcomes
	System change - ABHR available at POC and	Secondary outcomes	Results from a mixed-effects regression model,
	pocket sized bottles for HCWs;	IRR (95% CI) for compared to baseline.	testing the null hypothesis that the change in
	Education – VigiGerme, website, VigiBox;		outcome rate from the baseline period to the
	Feedback – individual and to department	Primary blood stream infection of HCAIs	intervention period was the same in all 3 study

Author (year)	Intervention and comparator	Outcome(s)	Measures of difference between comparators
Study design			
	heads; <i>Reminders</i> – posters, video playing in	Intervention 1: 1.02 (0.78 to 1.34)	groups.
	public areas; institutional safety climate – HH	Intervention 2: 0.71 (0.54 to 0.95)	Drimery bland stream infection of UCAIs
	team, support from leadership, HH as a quality	Pariad provalance of LICAIs	Primary blood stream infection of HCAIs
	indicator.	Period prevalence of HCAIs	Difference between groups: p=0.02
		Intervention 1: 1.05 (0.78 to 1.40)	Devied eventslance of UCAIs
		Intervention 2: 0.91 (0.68 to 1.23)	Period prevalence of HCAIs
		Control: 1.33 (0.94 to 1.88)	Difference between groups: p=0.28
		Colonisation with MRSA	Colonisation with MRSA
		Intervention 1: 0.82 (0.67 to 0.99)	Difference between groups: p=0.56
		Intervention 2: 0.79 (0.66 to 0.95)	
		Control: 0.92 (0.75 to 1.13)	Clinical isolates - Clostridioides difficile
			Difference between groups: p=0.01
		Clinical isolates - Clostridioides difficile	
		Intervention 1: 2.14 (1.39 to 3.31)	Acquisition of ESBL-PE (MDRO): p=0.36
		Intervention 2: 2.11 (1.39 to 3.22)	Secondary bloodstream infection (HCAI): p =0.90
		Control: 1.01 (0.71 to 1.45)	Clinical isolates – MRSA: p=0.11
			Clinical isolates - ESBL-PE (E coli): p=0.06
			Clinical isolates - ESBL-PE (non-E coli): p=0.75
Stevenson	Intervention – WHO Plus	Primary outcome	Primary outcome
(2014) ⁽⁶²⁾	System change – availability of ABHR;	Total number of HH opportunities per group for	P values were reported to demonstrate
	Education – sessions on HH;	the entire study period	statistical difference between intervention and
Multicentre	Reminders – posters and written material;		control group.
C-RCT feasibility	Feedback – results of active surveillance	Intervention: 2,654	
study	cultures programme;	Control: 1,873	Complete adherence (HH before and after
	Institutional safety climate - admin support,		patient/environmental contact):
	staff involvement.	Estimated average change from baseline for complete adherence (HH before <i>and</i> after	Difference: p=0.001
	Plus Incentives - recognition and rewards	patient/environmental contact)	Any adherence (HH before <i>or</i> after patient
	programs.	Intervention: 20.1% (7.8 to 35.5%)	environmental contact):
		Control : -3.1% (-6.3 to 5.9%)	Difference: p=0.001
	Control – Usual care		
		Estimated average change from baseline for any	
		adherence (HH before <i>or</i> after patient	
		environmental contact)	
		Intervention: 28.4% (17.8 to 38.2%)	
		Control : 0.7% (-16.7 to 20.7%)	
Multimodal (not	WHO)		

Author (year)	Intervention and comparator	Outcome(s)	Measures of difference between comparators
Study design			
Fuller (2012) ⁽⁴⁸⁾	Intervention – Multimodal Feedback -individual feedback after each	<i>Primary outcome 1</i> Overall HH adherence to WHO 5M	Primary outcome 1 Estimated odds ratio (95% CI) for increase in HH
Multicentre	observation session including plan for		adherence for the intervention group from
stepped-wedge C-RCT	improvement and group feedback at ward meetings;	Absolute percentages or number of complete opportunities not reported.	baseline compared to the control, by ward type.
	Incentives - in the form of praise and		ACE: 1.67 OR (1.08 to 1.80); p=0.01
	certificates; Accountability –at individual and group level.	<i>Primary outcome 2</i> Overall procurement levels of liquid soap.	ICU: 2.09 OR (1.55 to 2.81); p<0.001
			Absolute change in HH adherence according to
	Control – Usual care	Absolute usage or number of complete opportunities not reported	baseline levels, per ward type.
			ACE: 13% increase when baseline was 50%. 10% increase when baseline was 70%.
			ICU: 18% increase when baseline was 50%.
			13% increase when baseline was 70%.
			Primary outcome 2
			Estimated change (95% CI) of liquid soap.
			ACE: 13% (-1 to 30%); p=0.08
			ICU: 31% (11 to 55%); p=0.003
Unimodal compa	red with usual care		
Anderson	Intervention – Unimodal	Primary outcome	Primary outcome
(2016) ⁽⁶⁹⁾		Mean HH adherence rate (95% CI) – number of	An absolute difference of 26% in adherence rate
	<i>System change</i> – introduction of an end-of-	opportunities	between groups.
Single centre	hospital-bed table (CareCentre©) incorporating	$C_{\text{control}} = 1.40\% (0 \pm 0.100\%) = 0.2\% (5.0.4)$	
CROSSOVER	dispensor aprops gloves modications locker	Control: 14% (9 to 18%) $-82/584$	difference between intervention and control
C-RC1	and waste bin.	intervention: 40% (30 to 50%) =165/412	group: p<0.001
	Control – Usual care		Unadjusted BR (95% CI) for HH adherence in the
			intervention group compared to the control.
			2.85 (2.26 to 3.60); p<0.001
Gilmartin ⁽⁷⁰⁾	Intervention – Unimodal	Primary outcome	Primary outcome
(2018)	Education - facilitated, group-based discussion	Mean change in HH adherence from baseline	Liner regression model including an interaction
	and video on mindfulness and mindful hand	(95% CI)	term for time (pre or post period) and
Single centre	hygiene.		intervention (intervention vs. control) was used

Author (year)	Intervention and comparator	Outcome(s)	Measures of difference between comparators
Study design			
pilot RCT		Intervention: Baseline: 72% (for all participants)	to test for statistical significant deference
	Control – Usual care	Attending physicians: 14.1% (-1.1 to 29.5%)	between comparators.
		Senior resident: 24.7% (5.4 to 44%)	
		Intern: 10% (-2.6 to 22.6%)	Attending physicians: p=0.035
		Medical student: 4.7% (-4.4 to 14%)	Senior resident: p=0.064
			Intern: p=0.007
		Control : Baseline: 85% (for all participants)	Medical student: p=0.003
		Attending physicians: - 5.7% (-15.9 to 4.5%)	
		Senior resident: 0.2% (-15.5 to 15.9%)	
		Intern: 4.2% (-6.4 to 14.9%)	
(2002)(51)		Medical student: 7.7% (0.2 to 15.1%)	
Huang (2002)(31)	Intervention – Unimodal	Primary outcome	Primary outcome
Single contro	discussion on universal nursing propositions	Proportion of nurses observed wasning nands –	RR (95% CI) for HH adherence in the
	discussion on universal nursing precautions.	Statistical significance test of the difference in	Intervention group compared to the control.
RCI	Control – Usual care	adherence from baseline	Refore nationt contact
			1.62 (1.21 to 2.15); p=0.01
		Before natient contact	1.02 (1.21 to 2.13), p=0.01
		Intervention: Baseline: 51 0% – 25/49	After natient contact
		Post intervention: 85.7% – 42/49: p<0.001	1.29(1.06 to 1.56); p= 0.012
		Control: Baseline: 53.1% – 26/49	
		Post intervention: 53.1% – 26/49	
		After patient contact	
		Intervention: Baseline: 75.5% – 37/49	
		Post intervention: 91.8% – 45/49; p<0.05	
		Control: Baseline: 75.5% – 37/49	
		Post intervention: 71.4% – 35/49	
Santosaningsih	Intervention 1 – Unimodal	Primary outcome	Primary outcome
(2017) ⁽³⁹⁾	<i>Education</i> – featuring role model training.	Mean HH adherence rate – number of	Estimated OR (95% CI) adjusting for class of
		opportunities	care, room type, nurse to patient ratio, moment
Single centre	Intervention 2 – Unimodal	Statistical significance test of the difference in	of HH and HCW, compared to control group.
pilot C-RCT	Education – featuring active presentation.	adherence from baseline	
	Internetion 2. University	Intervention 1	Intervention 1: 4.08 (1.51 to 11.0); p=0.005
	Intervention 3 – Unimodal	$\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}$	Intervention 2: 1.96 (1.18 to 3.27); p=0.01
Santosaningsih (2017) ⁽³⁹⁾ Single centre pilot C-RCT	Intervention 1 – UnimodalEducation – featuring role model training.Intervention 2 – UnimodalEducation – featuring active presentation.Intervention 3 – UnimodalEducation – Combination of intervention 1 and	 Primary outcome Mean HH adherence rate – number of opportunities Statistical significance test of the difference in adherence from baseline Intervention 1 Baseline: 24.1% – 80/332 	 Primary outcome Estimated OR (95% CI) adjusting for class of care, room type, nurse to patient ratio, moment of HH and HCW, compared to control group. Intervention 1: 4.08 (1.51 to 11.0); p=0.005 Intervention 2: 1.96 (1.18 to 3.27); p=0.01 Intervention 3: p>0.05 (no further details)

Health Research Board – Collaboration in Ireland for Clinical Effectiveness Reviews

Author (year) Study design	Intervention and comparator	Outcome(s)	Measures of difference between comparators
	2.	Post intervention: 43.7% – 107/245; p<0.001	
	Control – Usual care	Intervention 2 Baseline: 18.9% – 83/440 Post intervention 24.9% – 73/293; p=0.05	
		Intervention 3 Baseline: 5.2% – 19/364 Post intervention: 18.5% – 74/399; p<0.001	
		Control Baseline: 10.1% – 40/395 Post intervention: 20.5% – 61/298; p<0.001	
Unimodal compa	red with unimodal		
Grant (2011) ⁽⁴⁹⁾	Intervention 1 – Unimodal	Primary outcome	Primary outcome
	Reminders - signs highlighting patient-	Mean HH adherence rate – number of	P values assessing statistical significant
Single centre	consequences of poor HH.	opportunities	difference between intervention groups and
pair-matched		Statistical significance test of the difference in	control group: p=0.05
C-RCT	Intervention 2 – Unimodal	adherence from baseline	
	Reminders - signs highlighting personal-		Unadjusted RR (95% CI) for HH adherence in the
	consequences of poor HH.	Intervention 1: Baseline: 80.7% – 163/202	intervention group compared to the control.
		Post intervention: 89.2% – 157/176; p=0.02	
			1.12 (0.98 to 1.27); p=0.09
		Intervention 2: Baseline: 80.0% – 96/120	
		Post intervention: 79.7% – 55/69; p=0.85	

Key: ACE – acute care for the elderly; aOR – adjusted odds ratio; CI – confidence; ESBL-PE - extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae; ICU – intensive care unit; IRR – incidence rate ratio; MDRO – multidrug resistant organisms; OR – odds ratio; PP – percentage points; RR – relative risk; WHO Compliant – World Health Organization multimodal strategy (three or more key components); WHO Plus – World Health Organization multimodal strategy plus additional components.

§ additional data provided by study author

Appendix 5: Subgroup and trend analysis for review question one

Figure A5-11 Subgroup analysis grouped by risk of contamination bias



Figure A5-12 Trend analysis ordered by ascending baseline adherence rate



Key: CI – confidence interval; IV – inverse variance; Random – random effects model Figure A5-13 Trend analysis ordered by ascending number of components in strategy

	Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio
Study or Subgroup	IV, Random, 95% Cl	IV, Random, 95% Cl
5.2.1 Three component	its	
Martin-Madrazo 2012	2.96 [1.42, 6.16]	— + — — –
Yeung 2011	1.11 [0.69, 1.78]	
5.2.2 Four components Ho 2012	s 2.55 [1.87, 3.46]	+
5.2.3 Five components	;	
Mertz 2010	1.13 [0.96, 1.32]	+-
Rodriguez 2015	1.03 [1.00, 1.06]	+
van der Kooi 2018	1.50 [1.44, 1.57]	+
		0.1 0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10 Favours usual care Favours WHO MM strategy

Key: CI – confidence interval; IV – inverse variance; Random – random effects model

Appendix 6: Economic evidence for review question one: summary of characteristics, methods and results

Table A6-1 Economic evidence for review question one: summary of characteristics, methods and results of economic evaluation studies

Author (year),	Population &				Analysis of		
country	Interventions	Analysis details	Costs and clinical outcomes	Results (95% Cl – unless stated otherwise)	uncertainty		
WHO Compliant	WHO Compliant versus usual care						
Chen 2016,	Population:	Analysis type:	Cost year & currency:	Clinical outcomes:	None		
Taiwan ⁽⁷¹⁾	All HCWs (n=2,463) in	CBA alongside a B-A	US \$ (no year listed)	HH adherence			
	a teaching hospital	study		HH adherence improved from 62.3% (56.7 to			
			Cost components:	68.3%) to 73.3% (68.3 to 83.1%); p<0.001			
	Intervention:	Perspective:	Costs of intervention: not detailed	HCAI events			
	WHO Compliant	Payer (Hospital		Reduction of 0.6 (3.7 ± 0.4 to 3.1 ± 0.5) HCAIs			
		perspective)	Cost of HCAI: total cost of each	per 1,000 admission days. Reduction of 256.8			
	Comparator:		hospital stay including fees for	episodes of HCAIs per year.			
	Prior IFC	Time horizon:	medications, diagnostics, materials,	Length of stay			
	programmes – no	1 year	services and diet (UTI: \$3,822; RTI:	Reduction in length of stay: 3,799 admission			
	further details		\$3,903; BSI \$3,384).	patient days.			
	provided	Discount rate:					
		Not applicable	Clinical outcomes:	Costs:			
			HH adherence, HCAI incidence rate	Cost of programme: \$250,000			
			(UTI, RTI and BSI) and length of	Savings per year due to intervention:			
			stay.	\$950,000.			
				ICERs:			
				Not reported.			
Graves 2016,	Population:	Analysis type:	Cost year & currency:	Clinical outcomes:	Probability each state		
Australia ⁽⁷⁴⁾	All HCWs in 50 of the	CEA: Decision	2011 AU \$	HH adherence	is cost-effective:		
	largest acute public	analytic model		Improved from 61.8% to 76.9%	ACT: 100% (41% cost		
	hospitals in Australia		Cost components:	Life years gained	saving)		
		Perspective:	Cost of intervention: Annual cost	96 years gained in total	NSW: 81%		
	Intervention:	Payer (Australian	for administering intervention at		QLD: 100%		
	Australian National	State perspective)	both national and hospital level,	Costs:	SA: 26%		
	HH Initiative – based		staff time, and consumables.	Cost of HCAI: \$919 to \$14,273**	TAS: 1%		
	on the WHO	Time horizon:		Total annual cost: \$2,851,475	WA: 1%		

Author (year),	Population &				Analysis of
country	Interventions	Analysis details	Costs and clinical outcomes	Results (95% Cl – unless stated otherwise)	uncertainty
	compliant	Costs: 1 year	Cost of HCAI: Additional LOS (ward:		
		Outcomes: Lifetime	1 to 11.4 days; ICU: 1 to 1.6 days).	ICERs:	
	Comparator:		Cost per extra patient bed day	\$29,700 per life year gained.	
	Varied by state or	Discount rate:	(ward: \$919 to \$1,252; ICU: \$3,503		
	territory	3% (outcomes only)	to \$4,282)	State/Territory specific:	
			Clinical outcomes:	ACT: \$1,030	
			HH adherence, HCAI incidence rate	NSW: \$33,353	
			(Staphylococcus aureus), deaths,	QLD: \$8,988	
			life years gained.	SA: \$64,729	
				TAS: \$10,371,874	
				WA: \$63,332,051	
Le 2015,	Population:	Analysis type:	Cost year & currency:	Clinical outcomes:	Sensitivity analyses
Vietnam ⁽⁷⁷⁾	All HCWS (doctors,	CEA alongside a B-A	2011 US \$	HH adherence	included varying the
	nurses, technicians,	study		Improved from 25.7% to 57.5% (p<0.001)	incidence of HAIs,
	physiotherapists and		Cost components:	HCAI	varying the mean
	medical students) in	Perspective:	Cost of intervention: installing new	Incidence of HCAI decreased by 36% (31.7% to	attributable cost and
	2 ICU and 15 critical	Payer (hospital	sinks, new dispensers, printing	20.3%; p=0.005)	the intervention costs.
	care unit.	perspective)	training materials, pamphlets,		Threshold analysis to
			posters, personnel and ABHR	Costs:	determine when the
	Intervention:	Time horizon:	consumption.	The mean attributable cost of HAI was \$1,131	intervention would
	WHO compliant	10 months		Cost of intervention was \$12,570, with	become cost neutral.
	Comparator:		Cost of HCAI: bed, food,	variable costs of \$5,530 (equating to \$6.5 per	
	No campaign	Discount rate:	medication, equipment, pathology	patient).	The intervention
		Not applicable	and imaging diagnosis charges.		remains cost savings
				ICERs:	up to a HH programme
			Clinical outcomes:	Cost-effectiveness was estimated per 100	cost of \$290 per
			HH adherence, HCAI incidence	patients treated and reported as \$1,074 saved	patient or unless mean
			rates (nosocomial pneumonia,	per HAI prevented.	attributable cost of a
			surgical site infections, UTIs, BSIs,		HAI drops below \$58.
			skin infections and others).		
					Sensitivity analyses
					ascertained that the
					intervention remains
					cost saving until the

Author (year),	Population &				Analysis of
country	Interventions	Analysis details	Costs and clinical outcomes	Results (95% Cl – unless stated otherwise)	uncertainty
					reduction in incidence
					of HAIs is reduced to
					0.6%.
Luangasanatip	Population:	Analysis type:	Cost year & currency:	Costs:	Scenario and PSA
2018	All HCWs in 2 ICUs.	CUA and CEA -	2016 US \$	Cost of HCAI: \$155 to \$280**	(Monte Carlo 10,000
Thailand ⁽⁷⁶⁾	Results of adult ICU	decision analytic			iterations)
	are only presented.	model	Cost components:	Baseline scenario:	
			Cost of intervention: ABHR, staff		Scenario ICERs ranged
	Intervention:	Perspective:	time per bed day.	HH adherence increased from 10% to 40%	from \$335 to \$3,457
	WHO compliant	Payer (hospital	Cost of HCAI: Additional LOS (1.4 to	MRSA-BSI avoided per ward: 0.3243	per QALY gained.
		perspective)	2.2 days; \$5.5 to \$47/day) and	Deaths averted per 10,000 bed-days: 0.389	
	Comparator:	The sheet and	antibiotic treatment (\$143 to	Incremental cost per ward: \$636.25	Factors that tended to
	No campaign	Time norizon:	\$214).	QALY gained: 1.35 per ward	increase the cost-
		Outcomos: Lifotimo	Clinical outcomos:	ICER: \$470.60 per QALY gained	effectiveness of the
		Outcomes. Lifetime	HH adherence and HCAL incidence	Additional scenarios presented:	intervention were low
		Discount rate:	rate (MRSA-BSI) deaths averted	Autional scenarios presenteu.	baseline compliance,
		3% (outcomes only)		HH adherence increased from 10% to 20%	high prevalence of
		Site (Succession Sites Sites)		MRSA-BSI avoided per ward: 0.2326	colonization at
				Deaths averted per 10.000 bed-days: 0.2326	admission and high
				Incremental cost per ward: \$660.46	rates of transmission.
				QALY gained: 0.96 per wards	
				ICER: \$684.77 per QALY gained	PSA results mean (95%
					CI) IMNB between
				HH adherence increased from 10% to 60%	\$1 453 (\$2 919 to
				MRSA-BSI avoided per ward: 0.3503	\$9,586) and \$8,580
				Deaths averted per 10,000 bed-days: 0.4211	(\$2,700 to \$18,321)
				Incremental cost per ward: \$629.30	(\$2,703 (0 \$10,321)
				QALY gained: 1.46 per ward	Cost of intervention
				ICER: \$430.14 per QALY gained	(E fold increase)
					(5-1010 IIICredse)
				HH adherence increased from 40% to 60%	word: \$2,600
				MRSA-BSI avoided per ward: 0.0260	Waiu. 23,000
				Deaths averted per 10,000 bed-days: 0.0313	icer per QALT: \$2,023
				Incremental cost per ward: \$713.93	

Author (year),	Population &				Analysis of
country	Interventions	Analysis details	Costs and clinical outcomes	Results (95% CI – unless stated otherwise)	uncertainty
				QALY gained: 0.11 per ward	
				ICER: \$6431.80 per QALY gained	
				Paediatric ICU results were similar, albeit with	
				a lower infection rate and lower number of	
				infections avoided due to intervention.	
WHO Plus versus	s usual care		•		
Chen (2011),	Population:	Analysis type:	Cost year & currency:	Clinical outcomes:	OWSA: key
Taiwan ⁽⁷²⁾	Doctors, nurses,	CEA and CBA	2007 US \$	<u>HH adherence</u>	parameters - discount
	other HCWs in 1	alongside a B-A study		Improved from 43.3% to 95.6%	rates (0 to 7%), cost of
	teaching hospital		Cost components:	HCAI rate	ABHR, campaign
		Perspective:	Cost of HCAI, intervention (ABHR	8.9% reduction in HCAI	expenses, personnel,
	Intervention:	Payer (Hospital	products, posters, wall displays,		extra cost per HCAI
	WHO Plus	perspective)	rewards and other expenses);	Costs:	episode and number
			Opportunity costs of personnel	Incremental cost: \$233,044	of averted HCAIs.
	Comparator:	Time horizon:	were included in sensitivity		
	Existing IPC	4 years	analysis.	ICERs or other comparisons:	ICERs between \$89.5
	programmes (no			\$163.60 per episode of HCAI prevented	and \$468.3 per HAI
	more details	Discount rate:	Clinical outcomes:	Benefit-cost ratio: 23.7	prevented
	reported)	3%	HH adherence and HCAI rate	Net benefit: \$5,289,364	
			(MRSA, Acinetobacter, and XDRAB)		
Chun 2016,	Population:	Analysis type:	Cost year & currency:	Clinical outcomes:	Not reported
Republic of	Doctors, nurses and	CBA alongside a B-A	2015 US \$	HH adherence	
Korea ⁽⁷³⁾	all other HCWs in a	study		Improved from 33.2% to 92.2%.	
	teaching hospital		Cost components:		
		Perspective:	Cost of intervention: ABHR	HCAI rate	
	Intervention:	Societal	consumption, HH campaign and	Incidence of HA MRSA decreased by 33% (-57	
	WHO Plus		salary of 1 employee added to the	to −7.8%), equating to 5 fewer cases per	
		Time horizon:	infection control office	100,000 patient days.	
	Comparator:	4 years			
	Multiple prior IPC		Cost of MRSA: additional medical	Costs:	
	measures. CLABSI	Discount rate:	costs and caregiver costs	Total hand sanitizer costs: \$21,294	
	intervention was	5% (Cost of MRSA		Campaign costs: \$8,182	
	implemented	only)	Clinical outcomes:	Personnel costs: \$138,019	
	midway post			Total costs: \$167,495	

Health Research Board – Collaboration in Ireland for Clinical Effectiveness Reviews

Author (year),	Population &				Analysis of
country	Interventions	Analysis details	Costs and clinical outcomes	Results (95% CI – unless stated otherwise)	uncertainty
	intervention which		HH adherence and HCAI (MRSA		
	included a HH		only)* incidence rate	Economic burden of 1 case of MRSA: \$13,101	
	component.			Savings from MRSA prevention: \$851,565	
				ICERs or other comparisons:	
				Cost-benefit ratio: 5.08 (0.94 to 8.76)	
WHO Plus versus	WHO Compliant	-			
Huis (2013),	Population:	Analysis type:	Cost year & currency:	Clinical outcomes:	Bootstrap simulation
The	Nurses (n=2,733)	CEA alongside a C-	2009€	HH adherence	(10,000 replications).
Netherlands ⁽⁷⁵⁾	from 67 wards, in	RCT.		Mean difference in improvement in HH	
	three hospitals (2		Cost components:	adherence 8.91% (0.75 to 17.06%)	15% reduction: 70%
	general and 1	Perspective:	Materials costs (website, leaflets,	HCAI events	probability of cost-
	teaching)	Payer (Hospital	posters, newsletters, feedback	2 scenarios used for HCAI outcome: 15% and	effectiveness at WTP
		perspective)	charts and ABHR) and personnel	30% reduction.	of €5,000 per
	Intervention:		costs (observations, delivery of		percentage reduction.
	WHO Plus	Time horizon:	feedback, extra staff time to	Costs: (per ward)	
	Comparator:	1 year	perform HH). Intervention	Intervention: €12,156	30% reduction: 90%
	WHO Compliant		contained additional personnel	Comparator: €6,659	probability of cost-
		Discount rate:	costs (salary for coach, managers	Incremental: €5,497 (1,962 to €9,032).	effectiveness at WTP
		Not applicable	and role models).		of €5,000 per
				ICERs:	percentage reduction.
			Cost of HCAI: Extended hospital	€622 (146 to €1,098) per additional	
			stay, increased medical and nursing	percentage of improvement due to the	
			care, operations and consumables,	intervention.	
			microbiology tests and		
			investigations, antibiotics and	Scenario 1: 15% reduction in HCAI: €4,125	
			other drugs.	(€1,016 to €7,234) for an additional	
				percentage reduction in HCAI rates.	
			Clinical outcomes:		
			HH adherence and HCAI events	Scenario 2: 30% reduction in HCAI: €2,074	
			(based on published studies)	(€487 to €3,661) for an additional percentage	
				reduction in HCAI rates.	

Key: ACT - Australian Capital Territory; B-A - Before-after study; BSI –bloodstream infection; CBA – cost-benefit analysis; CE – cost-effectiveness; CEA – cost-effectiveness analysis; CLABI - central line–associated bloodstream infection; HAI - Hospital-acquired infection; ICER – incremental cost-effectiveness ratio; ICU – intensive care unit; LOS – length of stay; MRSA – methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*; XDRAB – extensively drug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii; NSW - New South Wales; OWSA – one-way sensitivity analysis; QLD – Queensland; RTI – respiratory tract infection; SA - South Australia; TAS – Tasmania; UTI – urinary tract infection; WA - Western Australia; WHO Compliant – World Health Organization multimodal strategy (three or more key

Health Research Board – Collaboration in Ireland for Clinical Effectiveness Reviews

components); WHO Plus – World Health Organization multimodal strategy plus additional components

* Hospital acquired MRSA was defined by a positive blood culture >3 days after admission.

**Not reported. Calculated as multiplying the cost per bed day by the length of stay and adding any additional costs.

Health Research Board-Collaboration in Ireland for Clinical Effectiveness Reviews (HRB-CICER), Health Information and Quality Authority (HIQA), Head Office Unit 1301, City Gate Mahon Cork T12 Y2XT Phone: +353 (21) 240 9300 Web: <u>www.hiqa.ie</u> © Health Information and Quality Authority 2022